

Hawai'i Pacific University

Cytochrome P4501A1 in the Blubber of Free-ranging and Stranded Hawaiian Odontocetes



by: Kerry McDonald Foltz

December 2012

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Masters of Science in Marine Science at Hawaii Pacific University. We the undersigned have examined this document and have found that it is complete and satisfactory in all respects, and all revisions required by the final examining committee have been made.

Author	Kerry Foltz
Committee Chair	Brunda a Jungen Brenda A. Jensen, Ph.D.
Committee Member	Robin W. Baird, Ph.D.
Committee Member	7. David Horgen, Ph.D.
Dean	F. David Horgen, Interim Dean, College of Natural and Computational Sciences

Cover photos:

(Left): stranded false killer whale (*Pseudorca crassidens*), Hawai'i Pacific University Stranding Response Team, NOAA Permit #932-1905.

(Middle): CYP1A1 expression in false killer whale sample, © Kerry Foltz, Hawai'i Pacific University.

(Right): free-ranging false killer whales, $\mathbb O$ Dan McSweeney, Wild Whale Research Foundation.

Thesis © Kerry Foltz, 2012

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Brenda Jensen for providing support for this project and her great research background that helped me to think more like a scientist. Her encouragement was incredibly valuable for the completion of this master's degree. I would also like to thank the NOAA Prescott grant, NOAA Education Grant, NOAA National Sea Grant, and Hawai'i Pacific University's Graduate Trustee's scholarship for providing financial assistance and resources for this project.

I would like to thank Su Fertall White for training me on many aspects of this project. She helped me to troubleshoot through some tough methodological problems in the beginning. I would like to extend my acknowledgements to Dr. Robin Baird and Cascadia Research Collective for their endless hours in the field collecting samples and teaching us new things about the many species of odontocetes surrounding Hawai'i. The 114 dart biopsies we received for this study represent dedication and long hours on the water. I want to give special acknowledgement to Southwest Fisheries Science Center for genetic analysis of samples in this study, and to Gina Ylitalo at Northwest Fisheries Science Center for providing contaminant data for the false killer whale samples.

I also would like to thank all the volunteers in Hawai'i Pacific University's Marine Mammal Stranding Response Team for their on-call willingness to obtain samples that were used in this study. I would like to thank Dr. Kristi West for her help along the way as well, and Dr. Dave Horgen for his advice and support as my committee member. Lastly and most of all, it would not be possible for me to be in Hawai'i for my education without the support of my family, Barbara Foltz and Jeffrey Foltz. Thank you

iii

so much for helping me and encouraging me throughout my endeavors. I love you guys so much, and I hope that you know how much your kindness means to me.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Cytochrome P4501A1 as a biomarker of persistent organic pollutant exposure in cetacean populations

1.1. The Threat of Persistent Organic Pollutants to Cetacean Populations Worldwide	2
1.1.1. Sources of POPs	3
1.1.2. Classes of POPs	5
1.1.3. Factors Affecting the Toxicity of Contaminants in Marine Mammals	10
1.2. CYP1A1 as a Biomarker of Contaminant Exposure	21
1.2.1. CYP proteins	21
1.2.2. CYP1A1	21
1.2.3. Detecting CYP1A1 expression	24
1.2.4. Cellular and Tissue-specific Expression of CYP1A1	25
1.2.5. Assessing CYP1A1 expression in the blubber	26
1.2.6. Trends expected in CYP1A1 expression	30
1.2.7. CYP1A1 expression with age, gender, reproductive state, and trophic level	30
1.2.8. Geographic influence on CYP1A1 expression	33
1.2.9. Conclusions: Threatened Species and Future Work	34
Works Cited	36

Chapter 2: Characterization of the Blubber of Hawaiian Odontocetes: Cellular and CYP1A1 Stratification

Abstract	53
2.1. Introduction	54
2.2. Methods	59

2.2.1. Sample collection	59
2.2.2. Cellular stratification analysis	61
2.2.3. CYP1A1 stratification analysis	67
2.3. Results	72
2.3.1. Is cellular stratification present in Hawaiian odontocetes?	72
2.3.2. Is CYP1A1 stratified throughout the blubber layers?	74
2.3.3. Are CYP1A1 expression levels correlated across layers?	75
2.3.4. Are there significant trends in cellular distribution and CYP1A1 expression for different condition, species, age, or gender classes?	77
2.4. Discussion	84
2.4.1. Cellular and CYP1A1 stratification	84
2.4.2. Utility of biopsy samples for analysis of CYP1A1	88
2.4.3. Analysis of key cell types and CYP1A1 expression based on age, gender, and species	89
2.4.4. Conclusions	91
Works Cited	93

Chapter 3: Cytochrome P4501A1 expression in the blubber of freeranging Hawaiian odontocetes

Abstract	100
3.1. Introduction	101
3.2. Materials and methods	104
3.2.1. Sample collection	104
3.2.2. Age determination	106

	3.2.3. Sex determination	106
	3.2.4. Social cluster determination	107
	3.2.5. Analysis of CYP1A1 by immunohistochemistry	107
	3.2.6. Contaminant analysis of blubber biopsies	109
	3.2.7. Statistical analysis	110
3.3.	Results	113
	3.3.1. Does CYP1A1 differ significantly among species?	113
	<i>3.3.2.</i> Are there significant differences among age class and sex for all species pooled?	114
	<i>3.3.3. Are there significant differences among age and sex within species groups?</i>	116
	3.3.4. Analysis of false killer whale biopsy samples by age, gender, and social cluster	117
	3.3.5. Do contaminant levels and CYP1A1 expression correlate within false killer whale samples?	123
3.4.	Discussion	125
	3.4.1. Differences in CYP1A1 expression among species	125
	3.4.2. CYP1A1 expression in sex and age groups	128
	3.4.3. CYP1A1 as a biomarker of contaminant exposure	129
	3.4.4. Analysis of CYP1A1 expression among false killer whale social cluster	130
	3.4.5. Conclusions	131
	Works Cited	133

Chapter 4: Scientific Contribution of this Study and Future Research Suggestions

4.1. Contribution of this study	141
4.2. Future assessments	144
Works Cited	148

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Representative halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons.	6
Figure 1.2. TCDD, a potent AHR ligand.	6
Figure 1.3. Representative polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons.	8
Figure 1.4. Structure of polybrominated diphenyl ethers.	9
Figure 1.5. Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), an example perfluorinated compound.	10
Figure 1.6. AHR response to a planar HAH (PHAH), resulting in CYP1A1 induction.	18
Figure 1.7. Competitive binding curves of ten HAHs to the AHR in both beluga and mouse species.	20
Figure 1.8. Principal families of compounds able to induce CYP1A1.	23
Figure 1.9. MeO-PBDEs, analogues to PBDEs, isolated from True's beaked whale (<i>M. Mirus</i>).	24
Figure 1.10. Average structural fiber areas (mm ²), adipocyte cell counts, and adipocyte areas (um ²) across the blubber layers of bottlenose dolphins from the southeast coast of United States.	27
Figure 1.11. Average percentage of saturated, monounsaturated, and polyunsaturated fatty acids found in the inner, middle, and outer blubber layer of bottlenose dolphins from the southeast coast of the United States.	28
Figure 2.1. Graphic representation of how lipids are mobilized from the deep blubber layer, leading mobilization of PCBs and induction of CYP1A1.	57
Figure 2.2. Method used to count adipocyte quantities throughout the blubber.	63
Figure 2.3. Method in which adipocyte area was measured throughout the blubber.	63

Figure 2.4. Number of individuals in each condition group (thin or robust) of this study.	65
Figure 2.5. Average endothelial cell quantity throughout the blubber layers.	72
Figure 2.6. Average adipocyte area (μm^2) throughout the blubber layers.	73
Figure 2.7. Average adipocyte quantity throughout the blubber layers.	74
Figure 2.8. Average CYP1A1 expression throughout the blubber layers.	75
Figure 2.9. Correlation between deep and middle blubber layer CYP1A1 expression.	76
Figure 2.10. Correlation between deep and superficial blubber layer CYP1A1 expression.	76
Figure 2.11. Average adipocyte area for animal condition groups in the deep blubber layer.	78
Figure 2.12. Average sum of CYP1A1 expression for condition groups.	78
Figure 2.13. Average sum of CYP1A1 expression across all blubber layers for different odontocetes.	79
Figure 2.14. Average adipocyte quantity in the middle blubber layer by age class.	80
Figure 2.15. Average adipocyte area in the middle blubber layer by age class.	81
Figure 2.16. Average sum of CYP1A1 expression across all blubber layers by age class.	81
Figure 2.17. Average sum of endothelial cells across all blubber layers for individuals of different gender.	82
Figure 2.18. Average adipocyte area across all blubber layers for individuals of different gender.	83
Figure 2.19. Average sum of CYP1A1 expression across all blubber layers for individuals of different gender.	83
Figure 3.1. Location of sample collection and variability of biopsy depth within this study.	105
Figure 3.2. Representative CYP1A1 expression in biopsies.	113

Figure 3.3. Average CYP1A1 expression for Hawaiian odontocetes.	114
Figure 3.4. Average CYP1A1 expression for different age classes.	115
Figure 3.5. Average CYP1A1 expression by sex.	116
Figure 3.6. Average CYP1A1 by age class within male false killer whales.	118
Figure 3.7. Average CYP1A1 expression among false killer whale social clusters.	120
Figure 3.8. Average \sum PCBs (ng/g lipid weight) among false killer whale social clusters.	120
Figure 3.9. Relationship between CYP1A1 expression and \sum PCBs or TEQ (ng/g) in false killer whales.	124

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Selected cetacean species analyzed for \sum PCBs throughout the world.	11
Table 1.2. Reported semi-quantitative CYP1A1 expression (0-15) in the blubber of various species from multiple studies.	32
Table 2.1. Stranded odontocetes studied in cellular stratification analysis.	60
Table 3.1. Sample sizes of Hawaiian odontocetes.	106
Table 3.2. PCBs quantified in false killer whales of this study for comparison to CYP1A1 expression levels.	109
Table 3.3. Analysis of CYP1A1 by age and sex within species groups with large enough sample sizes $(n > 5)$.	117
Table 3.4. CYP1A1 expression trends in false killer whales.	121
Table 3.5. Contaminant level trends in false killer whales.	122

Chapter 1: Cytochrome P4501A1 as a biomarker of persistent organic pollutant exposure in cetacean populations

1.1. The Threat of Persistent Organic Pollutants to Cetacean Populations Worldwide

In the past thirty years, a higher overall incidence of mass mortalities, epizootics, pathologies, and reproductive failures have been reported in marine mammal populations (Colborn & Smolen 1996). This increased incidence has been linked to the presence of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) that include pesticides, industrial chemicals, and industrial by-products of production. POPs are ubiquitous in the world's oceans, highly lipophilic, and not easily metabolized or degraded. These characteristics make them a significant threat to apex predators such as marine mammals, because they bioaccumulate in lipid-rich tissues and biomagnify up the food web. Marine mammals are particularly susceptible because of their high position in food webs, large fatty tissue reserves, and long life spans (Boon et al. 1992).

Exposure to POPs in mammals has been linked to endocrine disruption (O'Hara and O'Shea 2001), developmental abnormalities (Guiney et al. 1997), inflammation (Hennig et al. 2002), and mutagenesis (Shimada and Fujii-Kuriyama 2004). In marine mammals in particular, exposure to POPs has been linked to reproductive impairment (Delong et al. 1973, Subramanian et al. 1987), reduced reproductive success (Wells et al. 2005), and decreased immune function (Lahvis et al. 1995). A class of POPs, the planar halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (PHAHs), has been linked to high incidence of tumors (Martineau et al. 2002) and epizootic outbreaks (Hall et al. 1992, 1Aguilar and Borrell 1994).

1.1.1. Sources of POPs

POPs can originate from many sources, such as sewage outfalls and agricultural/industrial runoff (Friedlander et al. 2005). POPs are of concern because they can be transferred via ocean currents or the atmosphere to distances far from the original source. For example, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), and organic pesticides have been found in the Arctic (MacDonald et al. 2000). However, highly chlorinated biphenyls, such as those in the mixture Aroclor 1268, are less mobile and remain close to sources of contamination (Hansen et al. 2004, Wania and Mackay 1996). Although many POPs, such as DDT and PCBs, have been banned in the United States for decades, they continue to be found in marine mammal tissues because of previous exposure, bioaccumulation, and use in other regions of the world (Fielder 2008, Van den Berg 2009).

The Hawaiian archipelago, like the Arctic, is very distant from continental sources of pollution; however, POPs have been found to be present in wildlife inhabiting the Hawaiian islands. Activities in the main Hawaiian Islands that may be sources of POPs include conversion of agricultural lands to residences and resorts, expansion of harbor facilities (Friedlander et al. 2005), and use of chlorinated insecticides to control agricultural pests (Bevenue et al. 1972, Tanita et al. 1976). One particular study assessed contaminant profiles in fish and sediments located in urban, agricultural, and forested sites of O'ahu. Chlordane compounds were the most frequently observed compounds at urban sites, followed by dieldrin, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), and dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) compounds. PAHs, which will be discussed in detail later, had mixed (urban and agricultural) distributions. Furthermore, PAH

concentrations were highest in watersheds. In agricultural sites, DDT and its degradation products (DDD and DDE) were detected. Forested sites did not contain pesticides or polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) (Brasher and Wolff 2004).

PCBs have been banned from use in the United States since 1979, and they were previously used as heat transfer fluids, hydraulic lubricants, and dielectric fluids. PCBs may have leaked from transformers used in the past (Safe et al. 1994), leading to their current presence in Hawaiian wildlife. In particular, tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*) inhabiting Manoa streams and the Ala Wai canal had PCB profiles resembling Aroclor 1254 (Yang et al. 2008), similar to that found in a study of the French Frigate Shoals (Miao et al. 2000). PCB 118 accounted for more than 55% of total PCBs in the study on O'ahu. Overall, this study indicated that the average levels of PCBs found in these two sites on O'ahu were in the middle range of PCB concentrations detected in fish worldwide (both freshwater and marine) (Yang et al. 2008).

POPs have also been detected in marine mammals from Hawai'i. In the Hawaiian monk seal (*Monachus schauinslandi*), PCBs were found to be highest in seals from Midway Atoll. This is likely related to past military occupation (Lopez 2012). PCBs and PBDEs were found to be significantly higher in animals from O'ahu in comparison to animals from Moloka'i and Kaua'i. DDT was found to be ubiquitous among animals from all islands. In false killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*) from the main Hawaiian Islands, the most abundant POPs were DDTs and PCBs, ranging in concentrations from 1,000 to 83,000 ng/g lipid. Other POPs, including polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), chlordanes, b-HCH, dieldrin, HCB and mirex were also measured, but these were found at much lower concentrations than DDTs and PCBs. POPs such as endosulfan

I and aldrin were below the limit of quantification (LOQ) for all animals included in this study. Mean \sum PCBs and \sum DDTs were lower than concentrations found in a variety of marine mammals from the west coast of the United States that feed primarily in urbanized areas (Ylitalo et al. 2009).

1.1.2. Classes of POPs

Halogenated Aromatic Hydrocarbons

The halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (HAHs) are among the most widespread and persistent chemical contaminants in coastal environments (Varanasi et al. 1992). HAHs are trace contaminants created in industrial processes that involve chlorination in the presence of phenolic substrates (Schmidt and Bradfield 1996). They are lipophilic, contain many chlorine molecules (Figure 1.1) (Nguyen and Bradfield 2008), and are generally resistant to metabolism (Law and Whinnett 1992).

The lipophilic nature of HAHs causes them to bioaccumulate and biomagnify throughout food chains, and their potential carcinogenic threat to wildlife has become a cause of concern. Planar HAHs (PHAHs), dioxin-like congeners with stereochemistry similar to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) (Figure 1.2), are of special interest because of their toxic potential, although found in the environment at low concentrations (Ahlborg et al. 1994. Safe et al. 1990). TCDD has been shown to cause a variety of physiological effects, including tumor promotion, immunosuppression, teratogenesis, and cardiac dysfunction (Schmidt and Bradfield 1996). Many other PHAHs are found in the environment, including halogenated dibenzodioxins and dibenzofurans (McKinney et al. 1985).



Figure 1.1. Representative Halogenated Aromatic Hydrocarbons. Figure adapted from Fertall 2010. These contaminants are by-products of industrial processes and are stable in the biotic environment (Schmidt and Bradfield 1996, Varanasi et al. 1992). The number, position, and nature of the halogen atoms, along with the structure of aromatic rings, influence the molecular activity of these contaminants (Birnbaum 1985).



Figure 1.2. TCDD, a potent AHR ligand. It is chemically stable and highly resistant to metabolism in most biological systems (Okey 2007, Poland et al. 1976). Image from: <u>http://chem.sis.nlm.nih.gov/chemidplus/</u>.

Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons

PAHs are characterized by condensed benzene rings (Figure 1.3) (Cook et al. 1983), and they are introduced in the environment through natural and anthropogenic processes. PAHs are most often introduced into the environment through incomplete

combustion of fossil fuels and other organic matter. Natural sources of PAHs include volcanic activity and forest fires. Anthropogenic sources of PAHs include wood and coal burning, automobiles, heat and power plants, and refuse burning (Harvey 1991).

High molecular weight PAHs and low molecular weight PAHs differ in chemical activity. High molecular weight PAHs can be quickly adsorbed on the surface of organic and inorganic particles, and are therefore less bioavailable to organisms than low molecular weight PAHs (Neff 1979, NRCC 1983). However, high-molecular weight PAHs may be remobilized into the water column by biological activity, bioturbation, and currents. Organisms then are able to take up these compounds where they partition to lipid-rich tissues. Many of the high molecular weight PAHs are known to be carcinogenic, for example, dibenzo[a,h]anthracene, benzo[b]fluoranthene, and chrysene (Marsili et al. 2001).

Some sources indicate that lower molecular weight PAHs are more toxic to marine biota because of their greater bioavailability and higher solubility compared to higher molecular weight contaminants (Neff 1979, NRCC 1983). When taken up by organisms, lower molecular weight PAHs can be metabolized and excreted from the body (Law and Whinnett 1992). Marsili and others (2001) found that in samples of striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) and fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*), the most abundant PAHs were of low molecular weight, making up ninety-percent of all the PAHs found in both species. These PAHs included naphthalene, acenaphthene, fluorene, phenanthrene, anthracene, and fluoranthene.



Figure 1.3. Representative polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Figure adapted from Harvey et al. 2002. PAHs are composed of two or more aromatic (benzene) rings, which are fused together when a pair of carbon electrons is shared between them (Neff 1979). They are produced as by-products of fuel burning, either anthropogenic in nature or natural. Some compounds are known to be carcinogenic, mutagenic, and teratogenic (Harvey 1991).

Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers

The toxic nature of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) has elicited recent concern. PBDEs (Figure 1.4) are known to cause thyroid disruption and neurobehavioral changes in laboratory animals. Mixtures of PBDEs are added as flame retardants to plastics, textiles, clothing, electronic circuit boards, and other materials in the manufacturing process (de Wit 2002). Similar to HAHs, these compounds are lipophilic and bioaccumulate in marine mammal tissues (de Wit et al. 2004, Ikonomou et al. 2002a, 2002b). There are no threshold levels established for toxicological effects of PBDEs in marine mammals. Very high concentrations of PBDEs have been found in wildlife in North America (Ikonomou et al. 2002b, Hites 2004, LeBeuf et al. 2004), and the highest levels of PBDEs have been found in top marine predators (Fossi et al. 2006). Furthermore, they are known to travel long distances through the atmosphere and are present in remote regions of the world, such as Antarctica and the Arctic (de Wit et al. 2004, Corsolini et al. 2006). PBDEs have been found in wastewater effluent (de Boer et al. 2003, North 2004). This may be a PBDE point source in Hawai'i because a number of plants have been known to discharge waste to the coastal ocean (Friedlander et al. 2005).



Figure 1.4. Structure of polybrominated diphenyl ethers. These emerging chemicals of concern are used as flame retardants for plastics and electrical devices, among other items (BSEF 2000, Darnerud et al. 2001, IPCS 1994). They are structurally similar to PCBs, DDT, and thyroid hormone 4 (Hooper and McDonald 2000). Their greatest toxicological impact seems to be thyroid hormone disruption, neurodevelopmental deficits, and cancer (reviewed in McDonald 2002).

Perfluorinated compounds (PFCs)

Perfluorinated compounds (PFCs) are used in industrial products for their

surfactant properties (1U.S. EPA), and they are known to be carcinogenic chemicals.

They have been shown to cause tumor formation in the liver, pancreas, and testis of rats

(Kennedy et al. 2004). PFCs are ubiquitous in wildlife (Giesy and Kannan 2001), and

there are a limited number of studies that have measured levels in cetacean populations.

A particular PFC, perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) (Figure 1.5), is absorbed orally and binds to blood proteins in the serum and the liver (OECD 2002). This compound was the most abundant PFC in bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) blubber samples (Fair et al. 2010). Overall, PFCs contributed less than 1% of total POPs in the blubber of bottlenose dolphins from Charleston, SC. However, these compounds may play a larger role than suggested by their relatively low percentage because of potential mobilization from the blubber (Fair et al. 2010).



Figure 1.5. Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), an example perfluorinated compound. The carbon-fluorine bond (strongest single bond in organic chemistry) makes these pollutants incredibly stable in the environment. Long chain PFCs, such as PFOS, have a long half-life in humans (₂U.S. EPA).

1.1.3. Factors Affecting the Toxicity of Contaminants in Marine Mammals

The lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL) for PCBs in marine mammal blubber was suggested to be 17,000 ng/g lipid weight (Kannan et al. 2000). These effects include disruption of vitamin A and thyroid hormone concentrations, suppression of natural killer cell activity, and reduced proliferative responses of lymphocytes to mitogens. As contaminant exposure increases, effects on innate and acquired immunity can result in premature mortality from infection (Hall et al. 2006). A table of measured total PCB levels in the blubber of various species, four of which exceed the threshold

value of 17,000 ng/g, is presented below in Table 1.1.

Species	Location	∑PCBs	Author
beluga whale (Delphinapterus leucas)	St. Lawrence River estuary	Geometric mean for adult males $(n = 34)$: 11,800 ng/g	Hobbs et al. 2003
bottlenose dolphin (Tursiops truncatus)	Charleston, SC	Geometric mean for male dolphins ($n = 36$): 93,980 ng/g	Fair et al. 2010
bowhead whale	Northern	Mean (<i>n</i> =5):	Hoekstra et al.
(Balaena mysticetus)	Alaska	296 +/- 23 ng/g	2005
harbour porpoise	Baltic Sea	Mean for adult males (<i>n</i> =4):	Berggrena et al.
(Phocoena phocoena)		46,000 +/- 29,000 ng/g	1999
false killer whale	British	Mean for adult males (<i>n</i> =2): 45,000 +/- 2,500 ng/g	Jarman et al.
(Pseudorca crassidens)	Columbia		1996
false killer whale (Pseudorca crassidens)	Hawaiʻi	Mean for adult males $(n = 2)$: 33,000 +/- 0 ng/g	Ylitalo et al. 2009
killer whale	Offshore	Mean for adult males (<i>n</i> =4):	Krahn et al. 2007
(Orcinus orca)	Alaska	111,000 +/- 22,000 ng/g	
long-finned pilot whale	Gulf of Maine	Mean (<i>n</i> =11):	Weisbrod et al.
(Globicephala melas)		1,677 +/- 694 ng/g	2001
sperm whale (Physeter macrocephalus)	Southern Australia	Mean for adult males (<i>n</i> =5): 1,300 +/- 1,200 ng/g	Evans et al. 2004
white-sided dolphin	Gulf of Maine	Mean $(n = 6)$:	Weisbrod et al.
(<i>Lagenorhynchus acutus</i>)		5,682 +/- 1222 ng/g	2001

Table 1.1. Selected cetacean species analyzed for \sum PCBs throughout the world. Concentrations of \sum PCBs (ng/g lipid weight) in the blubber are reported.

Depending on trophic level, food availability, migration, disease, gender, reproductive status, order of birth, and age, individuals may have higher or lower levels of contaminants in the blubber. The following paragraphs review trends in contaminant levels related to these characteristics, along with other factors affecting susceptibility to contaminants.

Trophic Level

Trophic level influences contaminant burden because of processes of bioaccumulation and biomagnification of POPs that occurs in the food web. An example of greater contaminant burdens with higher trophic level has been shown in fishing-eating and mammal-eating killer whales in Prince William Sound, Alaska. Fish-eating killer whales predominately consume salmon, while mammal-eating whales mainly consume Dall's porpoise (*Phocoenoides dalli*) and harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*). Higher levels of contaminants were found in the prey of mammal-eating killer whales that fed at the higher trophic levels, and mammal-eating killer whales had higher concentrations of persistent contaminants in their blubber compared to fish-eating killer whales (Ylitalo et al. 2001).

Food Availability

Seasonal variation in food availability may contribute to differences in lipid content in the blubber (Aguilar and Borrell 1990). The blubber is the site of the most lipid storage in cetaceans, and changes in nutrient availability affect blubber thickness and composition. Throughout the feeding season, progressive accumulation of fat reserves in the blubber has been noted, along with mobilization of lipid stores and decreased lipid content in correspondence to food scarcity. Active deposition and mobilization of lipids occurs primarily in the deep layers of the blubber (Aguilar and Borrell 1990). During

food scarcity, mobilization of fat reserves in this region may lead to mobilization of lipidsoluble POPs, which can induce physiological effects (Montie et al. 2008a).

Migration

Migration also plays a role in concentrations of contaminants within tissues, because it requires a high level of energy expenditure and draws heavily upon body lipid reserves (Burns et al. 1993). Fasting during migration may lead to mobilization of blubber lipid reserves, liberating contaminants into circulation (Tornero et al. 2004).

Disease

Several studies suggest a relationship between contaminant exposure and immunosuppression. A significant negative correlation was found between concentrations of specific PCBs and lymphocyte proliferative responses to mitogen stimulation in bottlenose dolphins (Lahvis et al. 1995). Beluga whales exposed to 5-25 µg/g wet weight mixtures of PCB and DDT congeners displayed significantly reduced splenocyte proliferative responses (De Guise et al. 1998). These cellular responses suggest that contaminant burdens can influence the onset of disease.

At the population level, Aguilar and Borrell (11994) found that striped dolphins that died during the 1990 morbillivirus epidemic in the Mediterranean sea had significantly higher PCBs in their blubber (median 778 mg/kg lipid weight) than animals sampled in years outside the epidemic (median 282 mg/kg lipid weight). Moreover, Jepson and others (2005) found that harbor porpoises that died from infectious disease had significantly higher total chlorobiphenyls (CBs) (mean, 27.6 mg/kg lipid) than

individuals that died from physical trauma (predominately bycatch) (mean, 13.6 mg/kg lipid).

Multiple stressors experienced by diseased animals must be taken into account when analyzing relationships between contaminant burdens and disease. Sick animals are often undernourished and may feed on different food sources than they would in a healthier state. Contaminant levels may be elevated in individuals that suffer lipid loss during infectious disease because of a concentrating effect in the blubber. Alterations in metabolic activities caused by disease may further elevate these contaminant levels (Aguilar et al. 1999). Although immunosuppression caused by contaminants has clearly been established (De Guise et al. 1998, Lahvis et al. 1995), disease presence is a result of many environmental and physiological stressors.

Gender, Reproductive Status, Order of Birth

Gender and reproductive status influence lipid dynamics and contaminant levels. Aguilar and Borrell (1990) found that lipid content of the blubber did not vary with reproductive state in male fin whales. However, reproductive state in females had a strong influence on average lipid content and stratification patterns in the blubber. Pregnant females had the highest average lipid content in the saturated internal layer, while lactating females had the lowest mean lipid content in this layer.

Lactating females have lower mean lipid content in the blubber because they transfer lipids and lipophilic contaminants to offspring. This essentially increases contaminant burdens in the young, and decreases contaminant levels in the mother (2Aguilar and Borrell 1994, Beckmen et al. 1999, Krahn et al. 1999, Wageman and Muir

1994). Ylitalo and others (2001) found that reproductively active female killer whales had much lower concentrations of organochlorines than sexually mature males or immature males, while offspring had much higher organochlorine levels than their corresponding mothers. Hansen and others (2004) found the same trend in bottlenose dolphins, in which females of reproductive age showed the lowest concentrations of organochlorines in blubber, and adult males and juveniles were found to have the highest concentrations.

Birth order may also play a role in contaminant burden. The total amount of contaminants transferred from mother to offspring decreases with increasing number of births and lactation cycles (Ridgway & Reddy 1995). First recruits receive the most contaminants and may be at a greater risk than siblings born thereafter (Ylitalo et al. 2001). After the mother gives birth to her first calf, her contaminant levels tend to remain low for the rest of her reproductive lifespan (Hickie et al. 1999). They may, however, continue to accumulate between pregnancies (Krahn et al. 2009). Once a female reaches senescence, contaminant levels begin to increase with age (Ross et al. 2000, Tilbury et al. 1999). These trends may influence survivorship of individuals. Krahn and others (2002, 2004) found low survivorship in calves, adult male, and post-reproductive female southern resident killer whales, all of which had the highest levels of POPs. In another study, a contaminant risk model showed low survivorship of calves exposed to high levels of POPs from maternal transfer (Schwacke et al. 2002).

Physical and Chemical Structure of Contaminants

The molecular structure of POPs may affect their ability to be transferred from mother to offspring. Hansen and others (2004) found a higher proportion of ΣDDT in juveniles and adult male bottlenose dolphins, and a higher proportion of $\Sigma PCBs$ in adult female bottlenose dolphins. A higher ratio of $\Sigma DDT / \Sigma PCBs$ has been found in adult males in comparison to adult females (reviewed in Aguilar et al. 1999). These trends may be because of selective partitioning during reproductive transfer, in which DDT and its degradation products are more efficiently transferred from blubber to milk compared to specific PCBs (Addison & Brodie 1987, Beckmen et al. 1999). For example, higher proportions of superhydrophobic octa-, nona-, and deca-biphenyls (for example, PCB 194, PCB 201) have been found in adult females compared to adult males and juveniles (Hansen et al. 2004). It is likely that these contaminants are not offloaded through lactation, possibly because of steric hindrance and membrane permeation resistance (Kannan et al. 1998, Maruya & Lee 1998). On the other hand, PCB 153, which is not easily metabolized by marine mammals, does not seem to follow this trend and has been found to be a common component of milk (Beckmen et al. 1999, Pomeroy et al. 1996). It was found to be lower in adult females compared to adult males and juveniles (Hansen et al. 2004).

Age and Growth

The relationship between age, content of total blubber lipids, and contaminant concentrations has been termed the "dilution effect" (Hickie et al. 1999). After weaning, juveniles eat a diet of fish composed of lower concentrations of lipophilic contaminants

compared to milk. Lower dietary intake of contaminants, along with rapid growth, results in lower contaminant burdens until growth rate plateaus (Hansen et al. 2004). PCB concentrations then increase with age in males depending on the contaminant levels of prey. Females may begin to accumulate PCBs again until reproduction begins (Hickie et al. 1999). The dilution effect does not take into account non-metabolizable POPs (Hansen et al. 2004), such as high molecular weight HAHs, that are not eliminated from the body. These HAHs may continue to be present in high amounts in subadults that are rapidly growing.

Montie and others (2008b) found that adult dolphins had lower content of total blubber lipids than subadults. This could be explained by decreases in surface-area-tovolume with growth, accompanied by decreased demand for insulation, and increased demand for energy to support growth (Dunkin et al. 2005, McLellan et al. 2002, Struntz et al. 2004, reviewed in Montie et al. 2008a). Lipid loss from the blubber in adults may be a causal agent for the redistribution of contaminants from the blubber into the plasma (Montie et al. 2008a).

Contaminant Affinity to Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor

The aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) is a soluble, ligand-activated transcription factor and member of the basic helix-loop-helix family of transcription factors (Gu et al. 2000). In its inactive form, it is located in the cytosol within a protein complex that includes two 90-kDa heat-shock proteins (HSP90), the co-chaperone p23, and a 43-kDa protein termed hepatitis B virus X-associated protein (Meyer et al. 1998). After an AHR agonist (such as an HAH or PAH) binds to the AHR, the AHR dissociates from HSP90

and the ligand-receptor complex translocates into the nucleus to form a heterodimer with ARNT (Figure 1.6). The AHR-ligand-ARNT complex then binds to promoter sequences termed dioxin-responsive enhancer elements (DRE) and transcriptional cofactors to activate transcription of several genes (Hankinson 1995, Schmidt and Bradfield 1996). These genes encode many metabolizing enzymes involved in the detoxification or bioactivation of contaminants (Nebert et al. 1991, Nebert & Gonzalez 1987). Examples of these enzymes include phase I metabolism enzymes: cytochrome P450 (CYP) 1A1, 1A2, 1B1, and 2S1; along with phase II metabolism enzymes: NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1), glutathione S-transferase A1 (GSTA1), cytosolic aldehyde dehyrdogenase-3 and UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 1A6 (Nebert and Duffy 1997, Rivera et al. 2002).



Figure 1.6. AHR response to a planar HAH (PHAH), resulting in CYP1A1

induction. CYP1A1, a phase I metabolizing enzyme, can metabolize the original ligand in such a way that it is excreted from the body, or it can bioactivate the original ligand by oxidative metabolism. Oxidative metabolism of an HAH can result in the creation of hydroxylated PCBs (OH-PCBs). Oxidized compounds as a result of CYP1A1 induction can have deleterious effects on DNA and proteins in the body (figure adapted from Jensen 2000). The original function of the AHR in early metazoans and extinct invertebrate species may have involved the development of sensory structures or neurons. In mammals, it appears to be involved in development of the liver, ovary, cardiovascular system, and the immune system. Although the AHR has various functions, it evolved as part of an adaptive response system through its ability to regulate biotransformation enzymes (Hahn 2002). This adaptive response mechanism functions to minimize the body's burden of compounds with extended aromatic structures (Schmidt and Bradfield 1996), and it appears to have first evolved in early jawed vertebrates (gnathostomes) (Hahn 2002). Although the AHR evolved as a means to excrete and rid the body of xenobiotics, the enzymes associated with the AHR are also capable of metabolizing these compounds to electrophilic intermediates that alkylate cellular macromolecules. These metabolized xenobiotics can lead to changes in cellular function and genotoxicity (Schmidt and Bradfield 1996).

Correlations have been found between structure-AHR binding activity of HAHs and toxic responses (Goldstein and Safe 1989, Poland and Knutson 1982). Furthermore, affinity of particular contaminants to the AHR may differ among species, contributing to variable toxic responses exhibited between species. Jensen and others (2010) found that the beluga AHR bound [³H]TCDD with an affinity that was two-fold higher than that of a dioxin-responsive mouse. Furthermore, the binding affinities of many compounds (similar in structure and function to [³H]TCDD) to the AHR were highly correlated between the beluga and mouse species ($R^2 = 0.96$), and the beluga AHR showed higher affinity for most HAHs than the mouse AHR (Figure 1.7). These results may indicate that the beluga, and other cetacean species, are highly susceptible to the physiological effects

resulting from contaminant binding to the AHR. Other studies have shown that beluga exposed to low concentrations of PCBs show similar cellular responses to animals that are maximally induced (Wilson et al. 2005).



Figure 1.7. Competitive binding curves of ten HAHs to the AHR in both beluga (a) and mouse (b) species. Binding affinities (expressed as K_i) of ten representative HAHs relative to TCDD are expressed, and bars represent 1 standard deviation. Similar structure-binding relationships were found for beluga and mouse AHRs, and K_i values for the beluga AHR were consistently lower than those for the mouse AHR (Jensen et al. 2010).

1.2. CYP1A1 as a Biomarker of Contaminant Exposure

The effects of contaminants and stress in tissues can be assessed by analyzing molecular biomarkers that indicate a biological response, such as the presence of enzymatic activities or protein expression. An ideal biomarker is specific, sensitive, and responsive across a wide range of inducer concentrations. The following sections review the CYP proteins, in particular CYP1A1, a useful biomarker of contaminant exposure in cetaceans.

1.2.1. CYP Proteins

CYP proteins are a group of enzymes that are central to phase I metabolism of POPs (Boon et al. 2001). Phase I metabolism involves biotransformation of a variety of xenobiotic and endogenous compounds (Goksoyr & Forlin 1992, Lewis et al. 1998, Stegeman & Hahn 1994). It introduces functional groups into molecules (Caldwell et al. 1995, Parkinson 1996), which then can be conjugated into larger endogenous molecules via catalytic mediation by phase II enzymes (George 1994, Wolkers et al. 1998). Phase II metabolism increases hydrophilicity of the xenobiotic, facilitating excretion from the body (Parkinson 1996). These enzymes involved in phase I and phase II metabolism are most prevalent in hepatic tissues (McKinney et al. 2004).

1.2.2. CYP1A1

CYP1A1 induction via ligand-AHR interactions (Figure 1.6) is generally the best understood model for toxic responses mediated by the AHR (Safe 1998). CYP1A1 is induced by and involved in the metabolism of HAH and PAHs (Dennison and Heath-

Pagliuso 1998, Poland and Knutson 1982, Safe 1990). Metabolism may lead to detoxification or bioactivation of the original substrates, and bioactivation may lead to the generation of toxic metabolites (reviewed in Nebert and Russell 2002).

A specific role of CYP1A1 is its involvement in phase I oxidative metabolism of PCB congeners with chlorine substituents at one or both para positions, and with adjacent non-halogenated ortho and meta carbons on at least one ring (Kaminsky et al. 1981, Mills et al. 1985). In the case of lipophilic organohalogens lacking reactive groups, CYP1A1 catalyzes a reaction in which oxygen is introduced in the molecules (Nebert et al. 1991, Nebert and Gonzalez 1987), generating hydroxylated metabolites (OH-PCBs) (Kaminsky et al. 1981, Mills et al. 1985, White et al. 2000). OH-PCBs have been recognized as a group of contaminants that pose a threat marine mammal health (Brouwer et al. 1989, 1998, Zoeller et al. 2002) because they can interact with the thyroid hormone (TH) system through competitive binding with the TH transport protein (TTR) (Letcher et al. 2000). This may result in interference with thyroid hormone homeostasis, vital processes such as skeletal growth, development of the brain and inner ear, immune system function, maintenance of metabolic rate, fat metabolism, and sexual function (Brouwer et al. 1989, 1998, Zoeller et al. 2002). Furthermore, OH-PCBs have been shown to interfere with estrogen receptor. Loomis and Thomas (2000) found that the hydroxylated PCB 2,2',5'trichloro-4-biphenylol acts through a membrane estrogen receptor to decrease androgen production in the testis of the Atlantic Croaker fish (Micropogonias undulatus).

Along with HAHs and PAHs, several non-polycyclic and non-planar compounds that have been classified as "nonclassical" CYP1A1 inducers have been shown to activate this gene despite inability to compete with TCDD for the AHR (Aix et al. 1994, Daujat et

al. 1992, Fontaine et al. 1998, 1999, Gradelet et al. 1997, Ledirac et al. 1997, Lee et al. 1996, Lesca et al. 1995). These compounds include omeprazole, thiabendazole, and primaquine among others (Figure 1.8). Many questions exist on the mechanisms in which they compounds induce CYP1A1 (Delescluse et al. 2000).



Figure 1.8. Principal families of compounds able to induce CYP1A1. Structures are shown on the left, and receptors involved are displayed on the right (Delescluse et al. 2000). RARs stands for retinoic acid receptors, which bind metabolites of vitamin A. Binding of retinoic acid to RARs affects the binding of other proteins that either induce or repress transcription of a nearby gene. Many of these genes control differentiation of a variety of cell types.

Natural aromatic substances with similar structure to anthropogenic PBDEs (flame retardants used in the manufacturing process) have been found in the blubber of True's beaked whale (*Mesoplodon mirus*). These compounds, MeO-PBDEs (Figure 1.9) were determined to be natural in origin by analysis of their radiocarbon (¹⁴C) content (Teuten et al. 2005). It is unknown whether or not these compounds induce CYP1A1, however, their industrial counterpart PBDEs are known to induce CYP1A1 (Montie et al. 2008a, Von Meyerinck et al. 1990).



Figure 1.9. MeO-PBDEs, analogues to PBDEs, isolated from True's beaked whale (*M. Mirus*). These were determined to be natural in origin through radiocarbon (¹⁴C) content (Teuten et al. 2005). Other studies have indicated that these compounds are produced by marine sponges (*Dysidea* sp.) (Anjaneyulu et al. 1996), red algae, and cyanobacteria (Malmvärn et al. 2008).

1.2.3. Detecting CYP1A1 expression

CYP1A1 can be analyzed by enzymatic activities, immunohistochemistry,

western blot (Fossi et al. 2008), immunofluoresence, and real-time PCR (Fossi et al.

2006). Catalytic characterization studies have identified CYP1A-mediated EROD,

PROD, MROD (7-ethoxy-, pentoxy- and methoxyresorufin- O-deethylase, respectively)

enzymatic activities (Addison et al. 1998, White et al. 1994, 2000), which also may serve

as indicators of CYP1A1 activity.

Immunohistochemistry is a very sensitive method for studying CYP1A1 expression in integument (blubber and skin) samples from cetacean species (Angell et al. 2004). Through use of immunohistochemistry, level of CYP1A1 expression can be determined as a product of intensity (measured qualitatively as a 0-5 score by the observer after antibody-antigen coupling) and occurrence (measured as number of cells expressing CYP1A1 per unit area) (Montie et al. 2008a). Expression can be compared to contaminant concentrations in selected tissues to determine if CYP1A1 is an effective biomarker of non-metabolizable contaminant (HAH) exposure.

1.2.4. Cellular and Tissue-specific Expression of CYP1A1

Previous studies on terrestrial animals have indicated that the endothelium is an excellent location to study CYP1A1 expression because of its abundant AHR expression and biological responses of edema and inflammation upon exposure to agonists (Bayou-Denizot et al. 2000, Hennig et al. 2002). The endothelial cells are in direct contact with blood borne xenobiotics and may play an important role in their transfer and metabolism (Godard et al. 2004). Montie and others (2008a) found that CYP1A1 was strongest and most often seen in vascular endothelial cells of arterioles and capillaries in the blubber of bottlenose dolphins (Montie et al. 2008a). CYP1A1 was also expressed in fibroblasts, arterial smooth muscles cells, arterial endothelial cells, and venule endothelial cells in these animals. In another study, CYP1A1 was quantified in cetacean skin biopsies, and it was found to be highest in endothelial cells between the epidermis and dermis junction in spinner dolphins (*Stenella longirostris*), pantropical spotted dolphins (*Stenella attenuata*), and humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) from the Indian Ocean (Jauniaux et al.
2011). In a study of stranded cetaceans from Hawai'i, CYP1A1 expression was high in the endothelial cells of the blubber (Fertall 2010).

In the previously mentioned study on stranded Hawaiian cetaceans, CYP1A1 was also found to be high in the lung and liver. Inhalation of PAHs may explain the high level of CYP1A1 expression in the lung of these animals, and the lung may be an important gateway for contaminant exposure (Fertall 2010). Other studies have demonstrated that CYP1A1 activity is relatively high in the lung of cetaceans (Garrick et al. 2006). On the other hand, high levels of CYP1A1 in the liver may be related to its noteworthy role in Phase I metabolism. Induction of CYP1A1 in the hepatocytes of the liver may lead to metabolism of PCBs and production of OH-PCBs (Kaminsky et al. 1981, Mills et al. 1985, White et al. 2000). Furthermore, liver CYP1A1 expression has been shown to be highly correlated to mono*-ortho* and non*-ortho* PCBs in the blubber of Arctic beluga whale (White et al. 1994). High CYP1A1 expression found in the lung, blubber, and liver may represent pathways of contaminant exposure, storage in lipids and mobilization to circulation, and resulting effects on target organ systems respectively.

1.2.5. Assessing CYP1A1 expression in the blubber

Examining CYP1A1 expression in the blubber must take into account the fact that the blubber does not operate as a discrete unit, but is characterized by layers of distinct function. Montie and others (2008b) established that the blubber of live bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from the southeast coast of the United States showed three distinct layers. The superficial blubber layer contained few, small adipocytes and a large amount of structural fibers. The middle blubber layer was characterized by few structural fibers, and the greatest quantity of adipocytes that were largest in size. The deep blubber layer exhibited an intermediate amount and size of adipocytes in comparison to the superficial and middle blubber layers. The deep blubber layer also displayed an intermediate amount of structural fibers compared to the superficial and middle blubber layers (Figure 1.10)



Figure 1.10. Average structural fiber areas (mm^2), adipocyte cell counts, and adipocyte areas (μm^2) across the blubber layers of bottlenose dolphins from the southeast coast of United States. Figure adapted from Montie et al. 2008b. CHS represents animals from Charleston Harbor, SC, and IRL represents animals from Indian River Lagoon, FL. CHS animals experience consistently colder water temperatures than IRL dolphins throughout the year.

Along with key cell types, fatty acids are stratified throughout the blubber layers. Studies on biochemical stratification in bottlenose and common dolphins (Delphinus sp.) distinguished layers based on analysis of saturated, monounsaturated, and polyunsaturated fatty acids. The superficial blubber layer contained higher amounts of monounsaturated fatty acids, while the deep blubber layer had higher amounts of saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids (Samuel and Worthy 2004, Smith and Worthy 2006) (Figure 1.11). Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids are usually of dietary origin (Fraser et al. 1989, Iverson et al. 1997), and other studies have also indicated that these dietary fatty acids may be deposited first in the deep blubber layer (Ackman et al. 1975a, 1975b, Koopman et al. 1996, 2003). Deposition of these fatty acids of dietary origin primarily in the deep blubber is important for understanding the role of this layer as an active source of energy supply (Koopman et al. 1996), involved in lipid deposition and mobilization (Ackman et al. 1975b, Aguilar and Borrell 1990, Lockyer et al. 1984).



Figure 1.11. Average percentage of saturated, monounsaturated, and polyunsaturated fatty acids found in the inner, middle, and outer blubber layer of bottlenose dolphins from the southeast coast of the United States. Figure adapted from Samuel and Worthy 2004. Error bars represent standard error.

In a later study by Montie and others (2008a), CYP1A1 expression was highest in the endothelial cells of the deep blubber layer compared to the middle and superficial blubber layers of bottlenose dolphins from Charleston Harbor, SC. This result was explained by lipid mobilization in the deep blubber layer, redistribution of lipophilic contaminants into circulation, leading to induction of CYP1A1. Lipid mobilization is triggered by seasonal changes in temperature, lactation in reproductive female dolphins, or physiological stress. Because stratification of CYP1A1 was not significant in dolphins from Indian River Lagoon, FL (in which seasonal water temperatures are consistently higher than in Charleston Harbor), it was concluded that more drastic seasonal changes in water temperature attributed to stratification patterns found (Montie et al. 2008a).

Further studies should indicate whether or not seasonal changes in temperature play a major role in distribution of CYP1A1 throughout the blubber. These studies are useful for determining whether or not dart biopsy methods of sampling are effective for analyzing CYP1A1 in the blubber. For example, animals in Hawai'i experience small seasonal changes in temperature. Seasonal surface water temperatures in Hawai'i vary by approximately 7°F, from a low of 73°F between late February/March, to a high of 80°F in late September/early October (NOAA 2007). This small-scale seasonality has been observed in the upper 128m of waters, yet no seasonality has been observed below this depth in intermediate and deep waters (Bingham and Lukas 1996, Lukas and Santiago 1996). Bottlenose dolphins from the southeast coast of the United States that showed stratification of CYP1A1 throughout the blubber, however, experienced seasonal surface temperature changes of 29°F (from 52°F in the winter to 81°F in the summer) (Montie et al. 2008b). This study did not indicate trends in deep water temperatures at sampling sites throughout the year.

1.2.6. Trends expected in CYP1A1 expression

As mentioned previously, some studies have shown that contaminant concentrations correlate significantly with CYP1A1 expression. CYP1A1 expression in the liver correlated with mono-*ortho* PCBs in the blubber (White et al. 1994). When looking solely at integument (blubber and skin), Wilson and others (2007) found that total PCB and toxic equivalent quotient concentrations in blubber correlated weakly with dermal endothelial CYP1A1 expression. However, Σ mono-*ortho* PCBs concentrations did not show this relationship. Furthermore, an in vitro study found that CYP1A1 expression in skin-biopsy samples correlated significantly with exposure to varying concentrations of β -Naphthoflavone (Godard et al. 2004).

Moreover, CYP1A1 is a valuable biomarker of contaminant exposure because it is able to be present when contaminants, such as PAHs, are rapidly metabolized and eliminated from the body (Law & Whinnett 1992). Therefore, it is not expected that CYP1A1 should always correlate significantly with contaminant concentrations if inducers are able to be metabolized and eliminated. To take into account the metabolic nature of the PAHs, some studies have inferred their presence by the existence of aromatic DNA adducts in tissues (Ray et al. 1991). If all potential inducers are resistant to metabolism, such as the HAHs, the relationship between CYP1A1 expression and contaminant exposure would likely be more direct.

1.2.7. CYP1A1 expression with age, gender, reproductive state, and trophic level

Although CYP1A1 has been found to correlate with POP concentrations in many studies, CYP1A1 inter-group variability may not follow the same trends as seen with

POPs based on age and gender. CYP1A1 expression was not dependent on gender for humpback whales, spinner dolphins, and pantropical spotted dolphins from the Indian Ocean (Jauniaux et al. 2011). CYP1A1 expression was not correlated with gender and age in bottlenose dolphins from Sarasota Bay, FL (Wilson et al. 2007). Although it is expected that adult males and first-born calves should have the highest contaminant levels, CYP1A1 expression may not necessarily be higher in these gender and age groups. This would be a result of the fact that CYP1A1 is often induced when lipids and contaminants are mobilized into circulation, as occurs in lactating females or nutritionally stressed animals. For example, CYP1A1 varied with reproductive status in bottlenose dolphins from Charleston, SC, with pregnant-lactating females having the highest CYP1A1 expression (Montie et al. 2008a). Therefore, it is important to take into account the fact that CYP1A1 is a biomarker of contaminant exposure, yet individual physiology may have a large influence on expression patterns.

Although CYP1A1 expression may not exactly follow contaminant trends for age and gender because of individual variability in nutritional status, there appears to be an influence of trophic position on CYP1A1 expression. CYP1A1 was highest in spinner dolphins in comparison to pantropical spotted dolphins and humpback whales in skin biopsies collected from the Indian Ocean (Jauniaux et al. 2011). However, mysticetes (that feed at a lower trophic level) had comparable CYP1A1 expression scores to odontocetes (that feed at a higher trophic level) in a study by Angell et al. (2004). A table of semi-quantitative CYP1A1 expression determined for a variety of species is listed in Table 1.2.

Table 1.2. Reported semi-quantitative CYP1A1 expression (0-15) in blubber of various species from multiple studies. Scores from Angell et al. (2004) are reported as means, scores from Jauniaux et al. (2011) are reported as highest sample score, and the score from Godard-Codding et al. (2011) is reported as median. Sample sizes (*n*) are included in parentheses.

Species	CYP1A1 expression	Location	Author	
beluga whale (Delphinapterus leucas)	5.2 +/- 1.6 (13)	Mackenzie Delta, Canada	Angell et al. 2004	
bottlenose dolphin (Tursiops truncatus)	4.7 +/- 2.7 (6)	Gulf of Mexico	Angell et al. 2004	
harbour porpoise (Phocoena phocoena)	0.1 +/- 0.17 (9)	Grand Manan, NB, Canada	Angell et al. 2004	
humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae)	2.3 +/-2.6 (13)	Gulf of St. Lawrence	Angell et al. 2004	
humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae)	1 (15)	Mayotte, Mozambique	Jauniaux et al. 2011	
killer whale (Orcinus orca)	0.0+/-0.0 (2)	British Columbia, Canada	Angell et al. 2004	
northern right whale (Eubalaena glacialis)	3.8 +/- 2.5 (83)	Bay of Fundy	Angell et al. 2004	
pantropical spotted dolphin (Stenella attenuata)	2 (7)	Mayotte, Mozambique	Jauniaux et al. 2011	
Risso's dolphin (<i>Grampus griseus</i>)	8.1 +/- 3.0 (5)	Cape Cod, MA	Angell et al. 2004	
Sowerby's beaked whale (<i>Mesoplodon bidens</i>)	1.8 +/- 1.8 (3)	Northwest Atlantic	Angell et al. 2004	
sperm whale (Physeter macrocephalus)	0.6 +/- 1.1 (9)	Galapagos	Angell et al. 2004	
sperm whale (Physeter macrocephalus)	1.7 (25)	Galapagos	Godard-Codding et al. 2011	
spinner dolphin (Stenella longirostris)	5 (24)	Mayotte, Mozambique	Jauniaux et al. 2011	
white-sided dolphin (Lagenorhynchus obliquidens)	8.0 (1)	Cape Cod, MA	Angell et al. 2004	

1.2.8. Geographic influence on CYP1A1 expression

Proximity to continents has been shown to affect overall CYP1A1 expression in cetacean populations. CYP1A1 was found to be highest in sperm whales from the Galapagos Islands, followed by those from Gulf of California. Sperm whales from these regions had significantly higher CYP1A1 expression compared to sperm whales from the Kiribati region and the region between Galapagos and Kiribati (Pacific Crossing 1). Significantly lower expression of CYP1A1 was seen in regions furthest from continents in this study (Godard-Codding et al. 2011). Although the authors could not correlate CYP1A1 expression with contaminant concentrations in the blubber in this study, they indicated that expression may have been related to other contaminants not analyzed in the study: dioxin-like PCBs, dioxins, and natural products.

Another study looked at CYP1A1 expression in beluga whales from two different geographic regions, the Gulf of St. Lawrence estuary and the Arctic. These two habitats differ in their levels of environmental contaminants. The Gulf of St. Lawrence estuary is much more highly contaminanted than the Arctic sampling location, and belugas from this region show an elevated incidence of tumors. Contrary to what would be expected based on the high levels of contamination, CYP1A1 in the liver of St. Lawrence Estuary beluga whales was very low (averages ranged 0.3-3.3), whereas Arctic beluga whales showed high levels of CYP1A1 expression (averages ranged 10-12.4). In all other tissues (adrenal gland, bladder, lung, skin, testis), CYP1A1 expression was high for both sites and not significantly different. Explanations for these patterns of CYP1A1 expression include downregulation of CYP1A1 in the liver when individuals are exposed to extremely high levels of contaminants (Wilson et al. 2005), as shown with fish exposed

to high levels of non-*ortho* PCB congeners. It is unknown exactly how CYP1A1 is downregulated at high PCB exposure, but it may be blocked in its post-transcriptional stage (Schlezinger and Stegeman 2001). Moreover, the high levels of CYP1A1 in the Arctic belugas that are exposed to much lower levels of contaminants may be explained by the high sensitivity of the beluga whale AHR to HAHs (Jensen and Hahn 2001). Highly contaminated regions or food sources may be an exception to the rule of higher CYP1A1 expression with higher contaminant exposure. The potential for downregulation of CYP1A1 must be taken into account when analyzing samples from species that inhabit heavily contaminated waters or consume food at the highest trophic levels.

1.2.9. Conclusions: Threatened Species and Future Work

Toxicological studies on bioaccumulation, biomagnification, and adverse health effects at the individual, population, and ecosystem levels are incredibly important in the context of increasing anthropogenic threats to marine systems worldwide. Correlations have been found between PCB toxicity and epizootic outbreaks of morbillivirus and phocine distemper virus in striped dolphins of the Mediterranean Sea (1Aguilar & Borrell 1994) and harbor seals in the Baltic Sea (Hall et al. 1992). In addition, models have predicted depressed population growth of bottlenose dolphins because of exposure to high levels of PCBs (Hall et al. 2006). The St. Lawrence beluga (Muir et al. 1996), striped dolphins from the western Mediterranean (Kannan et al. 1993), killer whales from British Columbia (Ross et al. 2000), and bottlenose dolphins from the Southeast United States (Hansen et al. 2004) are all known to be exposed to high contaminant levels. Future research on the effects of increasing contaminant exposure on local populations is

important for understanding the future status of these species overall.

Little research has been conducted on the molecular responses to contaminants in Hawaiian cetaceans. The purpose of this thesis project is to examine the health status of stranded and free-ranging Hawaiian odontocetes for a biomarker of contaminant exposure, CYP1A1. This work will determine whether CYP1A1 is a useful biomarker of contaminant exposure in Hawaiian odontocetes. Lastly, this thesis project should indicate which species inhabiting the waters of Hawai'i are most affected at the molecular level to contaminant exposure, providing a baseline for future monitoring of CYP1A1 expression in Hawaiian odontocetes.

Works Cited

- Ackman RG, Hingley JH, Eaton CA, Logan VH, Odense PH. 1975a. Layering and tissue composition in the blubber of the northwest Atlantic sei whale (*Balaenoptera borealis*). Can J Zool 53:1340-1344.
- Ackman RG, Hingley JH, Eaton CA, Sipos JC. 1975b. Blubber fat deposition in Mysticeti whales. Can J Zool 53:1332-1339.
- Addison RF and Brodie P. 1987. Transfer of organochlorine residues from blubber through the circulatory system in milk in lactating grey seal, *Halichoerus grypus*. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 44:782-786.
- Addison RF, Bullock P, Lockhart WL, Metner D. 1998. CYP1A concentrations, hepatic monooxygenase activities and organochlorine residue concentrations in beluga whales from NWT, Canada. Mar Environ Res 46:121.
- Aguilar A and Borrell A. 1990. Patterns of lipid content and stratification in blubber of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*). J Mammal 71(4):544-554.
- ¹Aguilar A and Borrell A. 1994. Abnormally high polychlorinated biphenyl levels in striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) affected by the 1990-1992 Mediterranean epizootic. Sci Total Environ 154:237-247.
- 2Aguilar A, Borrell A. 1994. Reproductive transfer and variation of body load of organochlorine pollutants with age in fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*). Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 27:546-554.
- Aguilar A, Borrell A, Pastor T. 1999. Biological factors affecting variability of persistent pollutant levels in cetaceans. In: Reijnders P, Aguilar A, Donavan G, editors. Chemical pollutants and cetaceans. vol 1. Cambridge, UK: J Cetacean Res Manage. p 83-116.
- Ahlborg UG, Becking GC, Birnbaum LS, Brouwer A, Derks HJGM, Feeley M, Golor G, Hanberg A, Larsen JC, Liem AKD, Safe SH, Schlatter C, Waern F, Younes M, Yrjanheikki E. 1994. Toxic equivalency factors for dioxin-like PCBs. Chemosphere 28:1049-1067.
- Aix L, Rey-Grobellet X, Larrieu G, Lesca P, Galtier P. 1994. Thiabendazole is an inducer of cytochrome P4501A1 in cultured rabbit hepatocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 202:1483–1489.
- Angell CM, Wilson JY, Moore MJ, Stegeman JJ. 2004. Cytochrome P450 1A1 expression in cetacean integument: implications for detecting contaminant exposure and effects. Mar Mammal Sci 20(3):554-566.

- Anjaneyulu V, Nageswara Rao K, Radhika P, Muralikrishna M, Connolly JD. 1996. A new tetrabromodiphenyl ether from the sponge *Dysidea herbacea* of the Indian Ocean. Indian J Chem 35B:89-90.
- Bayou-Denizot C, Daval JL, Netter P, Minn A. 2000. Xenobiotic-mediated production of superoxide by primary cultures of rat cerebral endothelial cells, astrocytes, and neurones. Biochim Biophys Acta 1497:115-126.
- Beckmen K, Ylitalo G, Towell R, Krahn M, O'Hara T, Blake J. 1999. Factors affecting organochlorine contaminant concentrations in milk and blood of northern fur seal (*Callorhinus ursinus*) dams and pups from St. George Island, Alaska. Sci Total Environ 231:183-200.
- Berggrena P, Ishaq R, Zebuhr Y, Naf C, Bandh C and Broman D. 1999. Patterns and levels of organochlorines (DDTs, PCBs, non-*ortho* PCBs and PCDD/Fs) in male harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) from the Baltic Sea, the Kattegat-Skagerrak Seas and the west coast of Norway. Mar Pollut Bull 38:1070-1084.
- Bevenue A, Hylin JW, Kawano Y, Kelly TW. 1972. Organochlorine pesticide residues in water, sediment, algae, and fish, Hawai'i 1970–71. Pestic Monit J 6(1):56–64.
- Bingham FM and Lukas R. 1996. Seasonal cycles of temperature, salinity and dissolved oxygen observed in the Hawai'i Ocean Time-series. Deep-Sea Res Pt II 43(2-3):199-213.
- Birnbaum LS. 1985. The role of structure in the disposition of halogenated aromatic xenobiotics. Environ Health Persp 6:11-20.
- Boon JP, Lewis WE, Goksoyr A. 2001. Immunochemical and catalytic characterization of hepatic microsomal cytochrome p450 in sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*). Aquat Toxicol 52:297-309.
- Boon JP, Van Arnheim E, Jansen S, Kannan N, Petrick G, Schulz D, Duinker JC, Reijnders PJ, Goksoyr A. 1992. The toxicokinetics of PCBs in marine mammals with special reference to possible interactions of individual congeners with the cytochrome-p450-dependent monooxygenase system: an overview. In: Walker CH and Livingtstone DR, editors. Persistent pollutants in marine ecosystems. SETAC Special Publication Series. Oxford: Pergamon Press. p 119-159.
- Brasher AMD, Wolff RH. 2004. Relations between land use and organochlorinepesticides, PCBs, and semi-volatile organic compounds in streambed sediment and fish on the island of O'ahu, Hawai'i. Arch Environ Con Tox 46:385-398.
- Bromine Science and Environment Forum (BSEF). 2000. An introduction to brominated flame retardants. Belgium: BSEF.

- Brouwer A, Morse DC, Lans MC, Schuur AG, Murk AJ, Klasson-Wehler E, Bergman A, Visser TJ. 1998. Interactions of persistent environmental organohalogens with the thyroid hormone system: mechanisms and possible consequences for animal and human health. Toxicol Ind Health 14:59-84.
- Brouwer A, Reijnders PJH, Koeman JH. 1989. Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)-contaminated fish induces vitamin A and thyroid hormone deficiency in the common seal (*Phoca vitulina*). Aquat Toxicol 15:99-106.
- Burns JJ, Montague JJ, Cowles CJ. 1993. The bowhead whale: special publication number 2. Lawrence, KS: Society for Marine Mammalogy.
- Caldwell J, Gardner I, Swales N. 1995. An introduction to drug disposition: the basic principles of absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion. Toxicol Pathol 23:102–114.
- Colborn T and Smolen MJ. 1996. Epidemiological analysis of persistent organochlorine contaminants in cetaceans. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 146:91-172.
- Cook RH, Pierce RC, Eaton PB, Lao RC, Onuska FI, Payne JF, Vavasour E. 1983. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the aquatic environment: formation, sources, fate and effects on aquatic biota. Ottawa, ON, Canada: National Research Council of Canada; NRCC 18981.
- Corsolini S, Covaci A, Ademollo N, Focardi S, Schepens P. 2006. Occurrence of organochlorine pesticides (OCPs) and their enantiomeric signatures, and concentrations of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in the Adélie penguin food web, Antarctica. Environ Pollut 14:371–382.
- Darnerud PO, Gunnar ES, Johannesson T, Larsen PB, Viluksela M. 2001. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers: occurrence, dietary exposure and toxicology. Environ Health Perspect 109(Suppl. 1):49–68.
- Daujat M, Peryt B, Lesca P, Fourtanier G, Domergue J, Maurel P. 1992. Omeprazole, an inducer of human CYP1A1 and 1A2, is not a ligand for the Ah receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 188:820–825.
- de Boer J, Wester PG, van der Horst A, Leonards PEG. 2003. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in influents, suspended particulate matter, sediments, sewage treatment plant and effluents and biota from the Netherlands. Environ Pollut 122:63–74.
- De Guise S, Martineau D, Beland P, Fournier M. 1998. Effects of in vitro exposure of beluga whale leukocytes to selected organochlorines. J Toxicol Environ Health Pt A 55:479-493.
- Delescluse C, Lemaire G, de Sousa G, Rahmani R. 2000. Is CYP1A1 induction always related to AHR signaling pathway? Toxicology 153:73-82.

- Delong RL, Gilmartin WG, Simpson JG. 1973. Premature birth in California sea lions: association with high organochlorine pollutant residue levels. Science 181:1168-1170.
- Denison MS, Heath-Pagliuso S. 1998. The Ah receptor: a regulator of the biochemical and toxicological actions of structurally diverse chemicals. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 61:557–568.
- de Wit CA. 2002. An overview of brominated flame retardants in the environment. Chemosphere 46:583-624.
- de Wit CA, Fisk A, Hobbs K, Muir D, Gabrielsen G, Kallenborn R, Krahn MM, Norstrom R, Skaare J. 2004. AMAP assessment 2002: persistent organic pollutants in the Arctic. Oslo, Norway: Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Program. xvi + 310 p.
- Dunkin RC. McLellan WA, Blum JE, Pabst D. 2005. The ontogenetic changes in the thermal properties of blubber from Atlantic bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Exp Biol 208:1469-1480.
- Evans K, Hindell M, and Hince G. 2004. Concentrations of organochlorines in sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) from Southern Australian waters. Mar Pollut Bull 48:486-503.
- Fair PA, Adams J, Mitchum G, Hulsey TC, Reif JS, Houde M, Muir D, Wirth E, Wetzel D, Zolman E, McFee W, Bossart GD. 2010. Contaminant blubber burdens in Atlantic bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from two southeastern US estuarine areas: concentrations and patterns of PCBs, pesticides, PBDEs, PFCs, and PAHs. Sci Total Environ 408:1577-1597.
- Fertall S. 2010. The presence of persistent organic pollutants and expression of cytochrome P4501A1 in Hawaiian cetaceans [M.Sc.Thesis]. [Kaneohe, (HI)]: Hawai'i Pacific University.
- Fielder H. 2008. Stockholm convention on POPs: obligations and implementation. In: Mehmetli E, Koumanova B, editors. The fate of persistent organic pollutants in the environment. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer. p 3-12.
- Fontaine F, Delescluse C, de Sousa G, Lesca P, Rahmani R. 1999. Cytochrome 1A1 induction by primaquine in human hepatocytes and HepG2 cell: absence of binding to the aryl hydrocarbon receptor Biochem Pharmacol 57:255–262.
- Fontaine F, Delescluse C, Li RY, Ledirac N, de Sousa G, Rahmani R. 1998. Primaquine cytotoxicity, genotoxicity and CYP1A1 induction in primary rat hepatocytes culture and hepatoma cell lines. Adv Mol Tox 359–392.
- Fossi MC, Casini S, Bucalossi D, Marsili L. 2008. First detection of CYP1A1 and CYP2B induction in Mediterranean cetacean skin biopsies and cultured fibroblasts by Western blot analysis. Mar Environ Res 66:3-6.

- Fossi MC, Marsili L, Casini S, Bucalossi D. 2006. Development of new-tools to investigate toxicological hazard due to endocrine disruptor organochlorines and emerging contaminants in Mediterranean cetaceans. Mar Environ Res 62:S200-S204.
- Fraser AJ, Sargent JR, Gamble JC, and Seaton DD. 1989. Formation and transfer of fatty acids in an enclosed marine chain comprising phytoplankton, zooplankton, and herring (*Clupea harengus* L.) larvae. Mar Chem 27:1-18.
- Friedlander A, Aeby G, Brainard R, Brown E, Chaston K, Clark A, McGowan P, Mongomery T, Walsh W, Williams I, Wiltse W. 2005. The state of coral reef ecosystems of the main Hawaiian Islands. In: Waddell J, editor. The state of coral reef ecosystems of the United States and Pacific Freely Associated States. Center for Coastal Monitoring. NOAA/NCCOS; NOAA Technical Memorandum, NOS NCCOS 11.
- Garrick RA, Woodin BR, Wilson JY, Middlebrooks BL, Stegeman JJ. 2006. Cytochrome P4501A is induced in endothelial cell lines from the kidney and lung of the bottlenose dolphin, *Tursiops truncatus*. Aquat Toxicol 76:295-305.
- George SG. 1994. Enzymology and molecular biology of phase II-xenobiotic conjugating enzymes in fish. In: Malins DC and Ostrander GK, editors. Aquatic toxicology: molecular, biochemical, and cellular perspectives. Boca Raton: CRC Press. pp. 37-85.
- Giesy J and Kannan K. 2001. Global distribution of perfluorooctane sulfonate in wildlife. Environ Sci Technol 35:1339-1342.
- Godard CAJ, Smolowitz RM, Wilson JY, Payne RS, Stegeman JJ. 2004. Induction of cetacean cytochrome P4501A1 by β-naphthoflavone exposure of skin biopsy slices. Toxicol Sci 80:268-275.
- Godard-Codding CA, Clark R, Fossi MC, Marsili L, Maltese S, West AG, Valenzuela L, Rowntree V, Polyak I, Cannon JC, Pinkerton K, Rubio-Cisneros N, Mesnick SL, Cox SB, Kerr I, Payne R, Stegeman JJ. 2011. Pacific Ocean–wide profile of cyp1a1 expression, stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios, and organic contaminant burden in sperm whale skin biopsies. Environ Health Perspect 119(3):337-343.
- Goldstein JA and Safe S. 1989. Mechanism of action and structure-activity relationships for chlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and related compounds. In: Kimbrough RD and Jensen AA, editors. Halogenated biphenyls, naphthalenes, dibenzodioxins and related compounds. Amsterdam: Elsevier-North Holland. p 239.
- Goksoyr A and Forlin L. 1992. The cytochrome P450 system in fish, aquatic toxicology, and environmental monitoring. Aquat Toxicol 22:287-312.
- Gradelet S, Astorg P, Pineau T, Canivenc MC, Siess MH, Leclerc J, Lesca P. 1997. Ah receptordependent CYP1A induction by two carotenoids, canthaxanthin and -apo-8'-carotenal, with no affinity for the TCDD binding site. Biochem Pharmacol 54:307–315.

- Guiney PD, Smolowitz RM, Peterson RE, Stegeman JJ. 1997. Correlation of 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin induction of cytochrome P4501A in vascular endothelium with toxicity in early life stages of lake trout. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 243(2):256-273.
- Gu YZ, Hogenesch JB, Bradfield CA. 2000. The PAS superfamily: sensors of environmental and developmental signals. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 40:519-561.
- Hahn ME. 2002. Aryl hydrocarbon receptors: diversity and evolution. Chem Biol Interact 141:131-160.
- Hall AJ, Law RJ, Wells DE, Harwood J, Ross HM, Kennedy S, Allchin CR, Campbell IA, Pomeroy PP. 1992. Organochloride levels in common seals (*Phoca vitulina*) which were victims and survivors of the 1988 phocine distemper epizootic. Sci Total Environ 115:145-162.
- Hall AJ, McConnell BJ, Rowles TK, Aguilar A, Borrell A, Schwacke S, Reijnders PJH, Wells RS. 2006. Individual-based model framework to assess population consequences of polychlorinated biphenyl exposure in bottlenose dolphins. Environ Health Persp 114:60-64.
- Hankinson O. 1995. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor compex. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 35:307-340.
- Hansen LJ, Schwacke LH, Mitchum GB, Hohn AA, Wells RS, Zolman ES, Fair PA. 2004. Geographic variation in polychlorinated biphenyl and organochlorine pesticide concentrations in the blubber of bottlenose dolphins from the US Atlantic coast. Sci Total Environ 319:147-172.
- Harvey RG. 1991. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: chemistry and carcinogenicity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. p 1365–1373.
- Harvey PJ, Campanella BF, Castro PML, Harms H, Lichtfouse E, Schäffner AR, Smrcek S, and Werck-Reichhart D. 2002. Phytoremediation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons, anilines and phenols. Environ Sci Pollut R 9(1):29-47.
- Hennig B, Meerarani P, Slim R, Toborek M, Daugherty A, Silverstone A, and Robertson L. 2002. Proinflammatory properties of coplanar PCBs: in vitro and in vivo evidence. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 181:174–183.
- Hickie B, Mackay D, Koning JD. 1999. Lifetime pharmacokinetic model for hydrophobic contaminants in marine mammals. Environ Toxicol Chem 18(11):2622-2633.
- Hites RA. 2004. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in the environment and in people: a metaanalysis of concentrations. Environ Sci Technol 38(4):945-956.

- Hobbs KE, Muir DC, Michaud R, Béland P, Letcher RJ, Norstrom RJ. 2003. PCBs and organochlorine pesticides in blubber biopsies from free-ranging St. Lawrence River Estuary beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*), 1994–1998. Environ Pollut 122(2):291-302.
- Hoekstra PF, O'Hara TM, Backus SM, Hanns C, and Muir DCG. 2005. Concentrations of persistent organochlorine contaminants in bowhead whale tissues and other biota from northern Alaska: implications for human exposure form a subsistence diet. Environ Res 98:329-340.
- Hooper K, McDonald TA. 2000. The PBDEs: an emerging environmental challenge and another reason for breast-milk monitoring programs. Environ Health Perspect 108:387–392.
- Ikonomou MG, Rayne S, Addison R. 2002a. Exponential increases of the brominated flame retardants, polybrominated diphenyl ethers, in the Canadian Arctic from 1981 to 2000. Environ Sci Technol 36:1886–1892.
- Ikonomou MG, Rayne S, Fischer M, Fernandez MP, Cretney W. 2002b. Occurrence and congener profiles of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in environmental samples from coastal British Columbia, Canada. Chemosphere 46:649-663.
- International Programme on Chemical Safety (IPCS). 1994. Environmental Health Criteria 162. Brominated Diphenyl Ethers. Geneva: IPCS, World Health Organization.
- Iverson SJ, Frost KJ, and Lowry LF. 1997. Fatty acid signatures reveal fine scale structure of foraging distribution of harbor seals and their prey in Prince William Sound, Alaska. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 151:255-271.
- Jarman WM, Norstrom RJ, Muir DCG, Rosenberg B, Simon M, Baird RW. 1996. Levels of organochlorine compounds, including PCDDs and PCDFs, in the blubber of cetaceans from the West Coast of North America. Mar Pollut Bull 32:426–436.
- Jauniaux T, Farnir F, Fontaine M, Kiszka J, Sarlet M, Coignoul F. 2011. Cytochrome P450 1A1 expression in cetacean skin biopsies from the Indian Ocean. Mar Pollut Bull 62:1317-1319.
- Jensen B. 2000. Characterization of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor from a cetacean: an approach for assessing contaminant susceptibility in protected species [Ph.D. dissertation]. [Woods Hole, (MA)]: Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Woods Hole Oceanography Institute.
- Jensen BA and Hahn ME. 2001. cDNA cloning and characterization of a high affinity aryl hydrocarbon receptor in a cetacean, the beluga, *Delphinapterus leucas*. Toxicol Sci 61:41-56.

- Jensen BA, Reddy CM, Nelson RK, Hahn ME. 2010. Developing tools for risk assessment in protected species: relative potencies inferred from competitive binding of halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons to aryl hydrocarbon receptors from beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*) and mouse. Aquat Toxicol 100:238-235.
- Jepson PD, Bennett PM, Deaville R, Allchin CR, Baker JR, Law RJ. 2005. Relationships between polychlorinated biphenyls and health status in harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) stranded in the United Kingdom. Environ Toxicol Chem 24(1):238-248.
- Kaminsky LS, Kennedy MW, Adams SM, Guengerich FP. 1981. Metabolism of dichlorobiphenyls by highly purified isozymes of rat liver cytochrome P450. Biochemistry 20:7379-7384.
- Kannan K, Blankenship A, Jones P, Giesy J. 2000. Toxicity reference values for the toxic effects of polychlorinated biphenyls to aquatic mammals. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 6:181-201.
- Kannan K, Nakata H, Stafford R, Masson G, Tanabe S, Giesy JP. 1998. Bioaccumulation and toxic potential of extremely hydrophobic polychlorinated biphenyl congeners in biota collected at a Superfund site contaminated with Aroclor 1268. Environ Sci Technol 32:1214-1221.
- Kannan K, Tanabe S, Borrell A, Aguilar A, Focardi S, Tatsukawa R. 1993. Isomer-specific analysis and toxic evaluation of polychlorinated biphenyls in striped dolphins affected by an epizootic in the Western Mediterranean Sea. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 25:227-233.
- Kennedy Jr. GL, Butenhoff JL, Olsen GW, O'Connor JC, Seacat AM, Perkins RG, Biegel LB, Murphy SR, Farrar DG. 2004. The toxicology of perfluorooctanoate. Crit Rev Toxicol 34:351-384.
- Koopman HN, Iverson S, Gaskin D. 1996. Stratification and age-related differences in blubber fatty acids of the male harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*). J Comp Physiol B 135:628-639.
- Koopman HN, Iverson SJ, Read AJ. 2003. High concentrations of isovaleric acid in fats of odontocetes: variation and patterns of accumulation in blubber vs. stability in the melon. J Comp Physiol B 173:247-261.
- Krahn MM, Burrows DG, Stein JE, Becker PR, Schantz MM, Muir DCG, O'Hara TM, Rowles T. 1999. White whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) from three Alaskan stocks, concentrations and patterns of persistent organochlorine contaminants in blubber. J Cetacean Res Manage 1(3):239-249.
- Krahn MM, Ford MJ, Perrin WF, Wade PR, Angliss RP, Hansen MB, Taylor BL, Ylitalo GM, Dahlheim MF, Stein JE, Waples RS. 2004. 2004 status review of Southern resident killer

whales (*Orcinus orca*) under the Endangered Species Act. US Department of Commerce; NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-62.

- Krahn MM, Hanson MB, Baird RW, Boyer RH, Burrows DG, Emmons CK, Ford JKB, Jones LL, Noren DP, Ross PS, Schorr GS, Collier TK. 2007. Persistent organic pollutants and stable isotopes in biopsy samples (2004/2006) from Southern Resident killer whales. Mar Pollut Bull 54:1903–1911.
- Krahn MM, Hanson MB, Schorr GS, Emmons CK, Burrows DG, Bolton JL, Baird RW, Ylitalo GM. 2009. Effects of age, sex and reproductive status on persistent organic pollutant concentrations in "Southern Resident" killer whales. Mar Pollut Bull 58(10):1522-1529.
- Krahn MM, Wade PR, Kalinowski ST, Dahlheim ME, Taylor BL, Hanson MB, Ylitalo GM, Angliss RP, Stein JE, Waples RS. 2002. Status review of Southern Resident killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) under the Endangered Species Act. US Department of Commerce; NOAA Tech Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-54.
- Lahvis GP, Wells RS, Kuehl DW, Stewart JL, Rhinehart HL, Via CS. 1995. Decreased lymphocyte responses in free-ranging bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) are associated with increased concentrations of PCBs and DDT in peripheral blood. Environ Health Perspect 103(Suppl 4):67-72.
- Law RJ and Whinnett JA. 1992. Polycyclic aromatic-hydrocarbons in muscle tissue of harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) from UK waters. Mar Pollut Bull 24:550-553.
- LeBeuf M, Gouteux B, Measures L, Trottier S. 2004. Levels and temporal trends (1988-1999) of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) from St Lawrence Estuary, Canada. Environ Sci Technol 38(11):2971-2977.
- Ledirac N, Delescluse C, de Sousa G, Pralavorio M, Lesca P, Amichot M, Berge JB, Rahmani R. 1997. Carbaryl induces CYP1A1 gene expression in HepG2 and HaCaT cells but is not a ligand of the human hepatic Ah receptor. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 144:177–182.
- Lee IP, Jeong KS, Roberts BJ, Kallarekal AJ, Fernandez-Salguero P, Gonzalez FJ, Song BJ. 1996. Transcriptional induction of the cytochrome P4501A1 gene by a thiazolium compound, YH439. Mol Pharmacol 49:980–988.
- Lesca P, Peryt N, Larrieu G, Alvinerie M, Galtier P, Daujat M, Maurel P, Hoogenboom L. 1995. Evidence for the ligand-independent activation of the Ah receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 209:474–482.
- Letcher RJ, Klasson Wehler E, Bergman A. 2000. Methyl sulfone and hydroxylated metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls. In: Paasivinta J, editor. The handbook of environmental chemistry: new types of persistent halogenated compounds. vol. 3. Heidelberg: Springer-Verlaq. p 314–359.

- Lewis DFV, Eddershaw PJ, Dickins M, Tarbit MH, Goldfarb PS. 1998. Structural determinants of cytochrome P450 substrate specificity, binding affinity, and catalytic rate. Chem Biol Interact 115:175-199.
- Lockyer CH, McConnell LC, Waters TD. 1984. The biochemical composition of fin whale blubber. Can J Zool 62:2553-2562.
- Loomis AK and Thomas P. 2000. Effects of estrogens and xenoestrogens on androgen production by Atlantic croaker testes in vitro: Evidence for a nongenomic action mediated by an estrogen membrane receptor. Biol Reprod 62:995–1004.
- Lopez J. 2012. Patterns and trends of persistent organic pollutants in the Hawaiian monk seal (*Monachus schauinslandi*) from the main Hawaiian Islands: looming threat or benign concern? [M.Sc. Thesis]. [Kaneohe, (HI)]: Hawai'i Pacific University.
- Lukas R and Santiago-Mandujano S. 1996. Interannual variability of Pacific deep and bottom waters observed in the Hawaiian Ocean-Time series. Deep-Sea Research II 43(2-3):243-255.
- MacDonald RW, Barrie LA, Bidleman TF, Diamond ML, Gregor DJ, Semkin RG. 2000. Contaminants in the Canadian Arctic: 5 years of progress in understanding sources, occurrence and pathways. Sci Total Environ 254:93-234.
- Malmvärn A, Marsh G, Kautsky L, Athanasiadou M, Bergman Å, Asplund L. 2005. Hydroxylated and methoxylated brominated diphenyl ethers in the red algae *Ceramium tenuicorne* and blue mussels from the Baltic Sea. Environ Sci Technol 39:2990-2997.
- Marsili L, Caruso A, Fossi MC, Zanardelli M, Politi E, Focardi S. 2001. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in subcutaneous biopsies of Mediterranean cetaceans. Chemosphere 44:147-154.
- Martineau D, Lemberger K, Dallaire A, Labelle P, Lipscomb TP, Michel P, Mikaelian I. 2002. Cancer in wildlife, a case study: beluga from the St. Lawrence estuary, Quebec, Canada. Environ Health Persp 110(3):285–292.
- Maruya K and Lee R. 1998. Biota-sediment accumulation and trophic transfer factors for extremely hydrophobic polychlorinated biphenyls. Environ Toxicol Chem 17(12):2463-2469.
- McDonald TA. 2002. A perspective on the potential health risks of PBDEs. Chemosphere 46:745-755.
- McKinney MA, Arukwe A, De Guise S, Martineau D, Beland P, Dallaire A, Lair S, Lebeuf M, Letcher RJ. 2004. Characterization and profiling of hepatic cytochromes p450 and phase II xenobiotic-metabolizing enzymes in beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) from St. Lawrence River Estuary and the Canadian Arctic. Aquat Toxicol 69:35-49.

- McKinney JD, Chae K, McConnell EE, Birnbaum L. 1985. Structure-induction versus structuretoxicity relationships for polychlorinated biphenyls and related aromatic hydrocarbons. Environ Health Perspect 60:57-68.
- McLellan WA, Koopman HN, Romme SA, Read AJ, Potter CW, Nicolas JR, Westgate AJ, Pabst DA. 2002. Ontogenetic allometry and body composition of harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*, L.) from the western North Atlantic. J Zool 257:457-471.
- Meyer BK, Pray-Grant MG, Vanden Heuvel JP, Perdew GH. 1998. Hepatitis B virus Xassociated protein 2 is a subunit of the unliganded aryl hydrocarbon receptor core complex and exhibits transcriptional enhancer activity. Mol Cell Biol 18:979-988.
- Miao XS, Swenson C, Woodward LA, Li QX. 2000. Distribution of polychlorinated biphenyls in marine species from French Frigate Shoals, North Pacific Ocean. Sci Total Environ 257:17–28.
- Mills RA, Millis CD, Dannan GA, Guengerich FP, Aust SD. 1985. Studies on the structureactivity relationships for the metabolism of polybrominated biphenyls by rat liver microsomes. Toxicol Appl Pharm 78:96-104.
- Montie EW, Fair PA, Bossart GD, Mitchum GB, Houde M, Muir DCG, Letcher RJ, McFee WE, Starczak VR, Stegeman JJ, Hahn ME. 2008a. Cytochrome P4501A1 expression, polychlorinated biphenyls and hydroxylated metabolites, and adipocyte size of bottlenose dolphins from the southeast United States. Aquat Toxicol 86:397-412.
- Montie EW, Garvin SR, Fair PA, Bossart GD, Mitchum GB, McFee WE, Speakman T, Starczak VR and Hahn ME. 2008b. Blubber morphology in wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from the southeastern United States: influence of geographic location, age class, and reproductive state. J Morphol 269:496 -511.
- Muir DCG, Koczanski K, Rosenberg B, Beland P. 1996. Persistent organochlorines in beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) from the St Lawrence river estuary--II. Temporal trends, 1982-1994. Environ Pollut 93:235-245.
- Nebert DW and Duffy JJ. 1997. How knockout mouse lines will be used to study the role of drug-metabolizing enzymes and their receptors during reproduction and development, and in environmental toxicity, cancer, and oxidative stress. Biochem Pharmacol 53:249-254.
- Nebert DW and Gonzalez FJ. 1987. P450 genes: structure, evolution, and regulation. Ann Rev Biochem 56:945-993.
- Nebert DW, Nelson DR, Coon MJ, Estabrook RW, Feyereisen R, Fujii-Kuriyama Y, Gonzales FJ, Guengerich FP, Gunsalus IC, Johnson EF, Loper JC, Sato R, Waterman MR, Waxman DJ. 1991. The P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, and recommended nomenclature. DNA Cell Biol 10:1-14.

- Nebert DW, Russell DW. 2002. Clinical importance of the cytochromes P450. Lancet 360:1155-62.
- Neff JM. 1979. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the aquatic environment: sources, fates, and biological effects. London: Applied Science Publishers. xii + 262 p.
- Nguyen LP and Bradfield CA. 2008. The search for endogenous activators of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. Chem Res Toxicol 21:102-116.
- NOAA. Honolulu, HI: National Weather Service Forecast [Internet]. [updated 2007 Jan 9; cited 2010 Dec 10]. Available from: <u>http://www.prh.noaa.gov/hnl/pages/climate_summary.php</u>
- North KD. 2004. Tracking polybrominated diphenyl ether releases in a wastewater treatment plant effluent, Palo Alto, California. Environ Sci Technol 38:4484–4488.
- NRCC. 1983. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the aquatic environment: formation, sources, fate, and effects on aquatic biota. Canada: National Research Council. 209 p.
- OECD. 2002. Co-operation on existing chemicals: hazard assessment of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and its salts. Joint meeting of the chemicals committee and the working party on chemicals, pesticides and biotechnology; ENV/JM/RD(2002)17/FINAL.
- O'Hara TM and O'Shea TJ. 2001. Toxicology. In: Dierauf LA and Gulland FMD, editors. CRC handbook of marine mammal medicine. second ed. Boca Raton: CRC Press. p 471-520.
- Okey AB. 2007. An aryl hydrocarbon receptor odyssey to the shores of toxicology: the Deichmann Lecture, International Congress of Toxicology-XI. Toxicol Sci 98(1):5-38.
- Parkinson A. 1996. Biotransformation of xenobiotics. In: Klaassen CD, editor. Casarett and Doull's toxicology: the basic science of poisons. New York: McGraw-Hill Inc. p 113–186.
- Poland A, Glover E, Kende AS. 1976. Stereospecific, high affinity binding of 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin by hepatic cytosol. Evidence that the binding species is receptor for induction of aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase. J Biol Chem 1976 251:4936-4946.
- Poland A and Knutson JC. 1982. 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin and related halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons. Examinations of the mechanism of toxicity. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 22:517.
- Pomeroy P, Green N, Hall A, Walton M, Jones K, Harwood J. 1996. Congener-specific exposure of grey seal (*Halichoerus grypus*) pups to chlorinated biphenyls during lactation. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 53:1526-1534.

- Ray S, Dunn BP, Payne JF, Fancey L, Helbig R, Beland P. 1991. Aromatic DNA-carcinogen adducts in beluga whales from the Canadian Arctic and Gulf of St. Lawrence. Mar Pollut Bull 22:392-396.
- Ridgway S and Reddy M. 1995. Residue levels of several organochlorines in *Tursiops truncatus* milk collected at varied stages of lactation. Mar Pollut Bull 30(9):609-614.
- Rivera SP, Saarikoski ST, Hankinson O. 2002. Identification of a novel dioxin-inducible cytochrome P450. Mol Pharmacol 61:255-259.
- Ross PS, Ellis GM, Ikonomou MG, Barrett-Lennard LG, and Addison RF. 2000. High PCB concentrations in free-ranging Pacific killer whales, *Orcinus orca*: effects of age, sex and dietary preference. Mar Pollut Bull 40:504–515.
- Safe SH. 1998. Development validation and problems with the toxic equivalency factor approach for risk assessment of dioxins and related compounds. J Anim Sci 76:134-141.
- Safe SH. 1990. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), dibenzo-*p*-dioxins (PCDDs), dibenzofurans (PCDFs), and related compounds: environmental and mechanistic considerations which support the development of toxic equivalency factors (TEFs). Crit Rev Toxicol 21(1):51-88.
- Safe SH. 1994. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs): environmental impact, biochemical and toxic responses, and implications for risk assessment. Crit Rev Toxicol 24:87–149.
- Samuel AM, Worthy GAJ. 2004. Variability in fatty acid composition of bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) blubber as a function of body site, season, and reproductive state. Can J Zool 82:1933-1942.
- Schlezinger JJ and Stegeman JJ. 2001. Induction and suppression of cytochrome P4501A by 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl and its relationship to oxidative stress in the marine fish scup (*Stenotomus chrysops*). Aquat Toxicol 52:101–115.
- Schmidt JV and Bradfield CA. 1996. Ah receptor signaling pathways. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 12:55-89.
- Schwacke LH, Voit EO, Hansen LJ, Wells RS, Mitchum GB, Hohn AA, Fair PA. 2002. Probabilistic risk assessment of reproductive efforts of polychlorinated biphenyls on bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from the Southeast United States coast. Environ Toxicol Chem 21:2752-2764.
- Shimada T, Fujii-Kuriyama Y. 2004. Metabolic activation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons to carcinogens by cytochromes P450 1A1 and 1B1. Cancer Sci 95(1):1-6.

- Smith HR, Worthy GAJ. 2006. Stratification and intra- and inter-specific differences in fatty acid composition of common dolphin (*Delphinus* sp.) blubber: implications for dietary analysis. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 143:486-499.
- Stegeman JJ and Hahn ME. 1994. Biochemistry and molecular biology of monooxygenase: current perspective on forms, functions, and regulation of cytochrome P450 in aquatic species. In: Malins DC and Ostrander GK, editors. Aquatic toxicology: molecular, biochemical and cellular perspectives. Boca Raton: CRC press. p 87-206.
- Struntz DJ, McLellan WA, Dillaman RM, Blum Je, Kucklick JR, Pabst DA. 2004. Blubber development in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Exp Biol 208:1469-1480.
- Subramanian A, Tanabe S, Tatsukawa R, Saito S, Miyazaki N. 1987. Reduction in the testosterone levels by PCBs and DDE in Dall's porpoises of northwestern North Pacific. Mar Pollut Bull 18(12):643-646.
- Tanita R, Johnson JM, Chun M, Maciolek J. 1976. Organochlorine pesticides in the Hawai'i Kai marina, 1970–1974. Pestic Monit J 10:24–29.
- Teuten EL, Xu L, Reddy CM. 2005. Two abundant bioaccumulated halogenated compounds are natural products. Science 307:917-920.
- Tilbury KL, Adams NG, Krone CA, Meador JP, Early G, Varanasi U. 1999. Organochlorines in stranded pilot whales (*Globicephala melaena*) from the Coast of Massachusetts. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 37:125–134.
- Tornero V, Borrell A, Forcada J, Pubill E, Aguilar A. 2004. Retinoid and lipid patterns in the blubber of common dolphins (*Delphinus delphis*): implications for monitoring vitamin A status. Comp Biochem Physiol 137:391-400.
- ¹ United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). Basic information on PFOA [Internet]. [updated 2012 Feb 8; cited 2012 Jan 8]. Available from: http://www.epa.gov/oppt/pfoa/pubs/pfoainfo.html
- ² United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). Long-chain perfluorinated chemicals (PFCs) action plan summary [Internet]. [updated 2012 Jul 25; cited 2012 Apr 12]. Available from: <u>http://www.epa.gov/oppt/existingchemicals/pubs/actionplans/pfcs.html</u>
- Van den Berg H. 2009. Global state of DDT and its alternatives for use in vector control to prevent disease. Environ Health Persp 117:1656–1663.
- Varanasi U, Stein JE, Reichert WL, Tilbury KL, Krahn MM, Chan S,-L. 1992. Chlorinated and aromatic hydrocarbons in bottom sediments, fish, and marine mammals in US coastal waters: laboratory and field studies of metabolism and accumulation. In: Walker CH and

Livingstone DR, editors. Persistent pollutants in marine ecosystems. New York: Pergamon Press. p 83-115.

- von Meyerinck L, Hufnagel B, Schmoldt A, and Benthe HF. 1990. Induction of rat liver microsomal cytochrome P-450 by pentabromo diphenyl ether Bromkal 70 and half-lives of its components in adipose tissue. Toxicology 61:259-274.
- Wagemann R, Muir DCG. 1984. Concentrations of heavy metals and organochlorines in marine mammals of northern waters: overview and evaluation. Can Tech Rep Fish Aquat Sci 1279:1-97.
- Wania F and Mackay D. 1996. Tracking the distribution of persistent organic pollutants. Environ Sci Technol 30(9):A390-A396.
- Weisbrod AV, Shea D, Moore MJ, and Stegeman JJ. 2001. Species, tissue, and gender related organochlorine bioaccumulation in white-sided dolphins, pilot whales, and their common prey in the Northwest Atlantic. Mar Environ Res 51:29-50.
- Wells RS, Tornero V, Bornell A, Aguilar A, Rowles TK, Rhinehart HL, Hofmann S, Jarman UM, Hohn AA, Sweeney JC. 2005. Integrating life-history and reproductive success data to examine potential relationships with organochlorine compounds for bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in Sarasota Bay, FL. Sci Total Env 349:106-119.
- White RD, Hahn ME, Lockhart WL, Stegeman JJ. 1994. Catalytic and immunochemical characterization of hepatic microsomal cytochromes P450 in beluga whale. Toxicol Appl Pharm 126:45-57.
- White RD, Shea D, Schlezinger JJ, Hahn ME, Stegeman JJ. 2000. In vitro metabolism of polychlorinated biphenyl congeners by beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*) and pilot whale (*Globichephala melas*) and relationship to cytochrome P450 expression. Comp Biochem Physiol 126C:267-284.
- Wilson JY, Cooke SR, Moore MJ, Martineau D, Mikaelian I, Metner DA, Lockhart WL, Stegeman JJ. 2005. Systemic effects of Arctic pollutants in beluga whales indicated by CYP1A1 expression. Environ Health Persp 113(11):1594-1599.
- Wilson JY, Wells R, Aguilar A, Borrell A, Tornero V, Reijnders P, Moore M, Stegeman JJ. 2007. Correlates of cytochrome P450 1A1 (CYP1A1) expression in bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) integument biopsies. Toxicol Sci 97:111–119.
- Wolkers J, Witkamp RF, Nijmeijer SM, Burkow IC, de Groene EM, Lydersen C, Dahle S, Monshouwer M. 1998. Phase I and Phase II enzyme activities in ringed seals (*Phoca hispida*): characterization of hepatic cytochrome P450 by activity patterns, inhibition studies, mRNA analyses, and western blotting. Aquat Toxicol 44:103-115.

- Yang F, Wilcox B, Jin S, Aguirre AA, Rougee L, Xu Y, Lu Y. 2008. Detection and quantitative analysis of polychlorinated biphenyls in tilapia from Hawaiian waters. Chemosphere 73:133-137.
- Ylitalo GM, Baird RW, Yanagida GK, Webster DL, Shivers SJ, Bolton JL, Schorr GS, McSweeney DJ. 2009. High levels of persistent organic pollutants measured in blubber of island associated false killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*) around the main Hawaiian Islands. Mar Pollut Bull 58:1922-1952.
- Ylitalo GM, Matkin CO, Buzitis J, Krahn MM, Jones LL, Rowles T, Stein JE. 2001. Influence of life-history parameters on organochlorine concentrations in free-ranging killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) from Prince William Sound, AK. Sci Total Environ 281:183-203.
- Zoeller RT, Dowling ALS, Herzig CTA, Iannacone EA, Gauger KJ, Bansal R. 2002. Thyroid hormone, brain development, and the environment. Environ Health Persp 110:355-361.

Chapter 2: Characterization of the Blubber of Hawaiian Odontocetes: Cellular and CYP1A1 Stratification

Abstract

The blubber of cetaceans is characterized by distinct layering of fatty acids, adipocytes, structural fibers, and connective tissue. This layering gives blubber its multifunctional nature, allowing it to exhibit changes based on the nutritional demands of an individual and provide insulation against the thermodynamically challenging aquatic environment. A key enzyme influenced by lipid dynamics in the blubber is cytochrome P4501A1 (CYP1A1), an established biomarker of contaminant exposure. This enzyme has been found to be prevalent in endothelial cells of the deep blubber layer. Stratification of CYP1A1 with highest presence in the deep blubber layer occurs because of lipid and contaminant mobilization within this layer during times of nutritional stress or seasonal changes in water temperature.

We assessed stratification of key cell types and CYP1A1 in Hawaiian odontocetes to determine the utility of dart biopsy samples that often obtain only the superficial to middle blubber layers. Significant differences in adipocyte quantities, adipocyte areas, and endothelial cell quantities occurred in the blubber (p < 0.0001). The middle blubber layer contained significantly smaller quantities of endothelial cells compared to the deep and superficial blubber layers. The middle blubber layer also displayed the greatest amount of adipocytes, along with the largest adipocytes. Furthermore, a significant difference existed for adipocyte area between thin and robust condition groups within the deep blubber layer (p = 0.002). These results contributed to an understanding of lipid mobilization in the deep blubber layer, a valid explanation for CYP1A1 stratification with highest presence in the deep blubber layer (p = 0.013). Stratification of key cell types and CYP1A1 in the present study was most likely a result of physiological stress and lipid mobilization that individuals experienced prior to stranding.

Significant differences in adipocyte area (p = 0.041) and adipocyte quantities (p < 0.0001) existed among age classes within the middle blubber layer. These results, along with similar results found in the literature, suggest that the thermal properties of the middle blubber layer change with growth. No significant differences in CYP1A1 expression occurred for age class (p = 0.182) or gender (p = 0.310), a result also reported in the literature. A significant difference in CYP1A1 expression was found for species groups, with striped dolphins expressing lower levels of CYP1A1 in comparison to bottlenose dolphins and spinner dolphins (p = 0.017). More information is needed on the trophic structure of Hawaiian odontocetes for further conclusions, however, we hypothesize that the offshore feeding habits of striped dolphins may expose these individuals to a different set of contaminants than encountered by island-associated populations.

Lastly, CYP1A1 expression in the deep blubber layer correlated significantly with expression in the middle blubber layer (p = 0.0004), along with the superficial blubber layer (p = 0.001). Therefore, we suggest that dart biopsy samples can be used for future analysis of CYP1A1; however, these samples must consider area of the biopsy tissue because of the influence of higher CYP1A1 expression in the deep blubber layer.

2.1. Introduction

Blubber is the layer of fatty tissue between the epidermis and muscle that provides support for movement, buoyancy (Parry 1949), and insulation from heat loss in the aquatic habitat (Dunkin et al. 2005, Worthy and Edwards 1990). Because of its high lipid content, it is a dynamic layer of tissue that is used for energy storage and supply depending on the nutritional needs of an animal (Aguilar and Borrell 1991, Koopman et al. 1996, 2002, Struntz et al. 2004). Because blubber is a site for lipid storage, it is an interesting area to study the molecular effects of lipophilic persistent organic pollutants (POPs) that accumulate within the blubber. POPs are a significant threat to odontocete species because of the processes of bioaccumulation in the blubber and biomagnification up the food web. Odontocetes are exceptionally susceptible because of their large fatty tissue reserves, high position in food webs, and long life spans (Boon et al. 1992). Exposure to POPs has been linked to reproductive impairment (Subramanian et al. 1987), reduced reproductive success (Wells et al. 2005), decreased immune function (Lahvis et al. 1995), higher incidence of tumors (Martineau et al. 2002), and epizootic outbreaks (Aguilar and Borrell 1994) in odontocete species.

The blubber does not solely operate as one unit, but is multifunctional with distinct layers of different cell types and functions. Analysis of fatty acids has revealed that the deep blubber layer is an active source of energy supply (Koopman et al. 1996), involved in lipid deposition and mobilization. The outermost layer, however, is a stable, structural layer with only a small role in energy storage. The middle blubber layer represents the transitional zone between the superficial and deep blubber layers (Ackman et al. 1975, Aguilar and Borrell 1990, Lockyer et al. 1984). Montie and others (2008b)

established that the blubber of live bottlenose dolphins from the southeast coast of the United States shows three distinct layers. In their study, the superficial blubber layer contained few, small adipocytes, and a large amount of structural fibers. The middle blubber layer was characterized by few structural fibers, and the greatest quantity and size of adipocytes. The deep blubber layer exhibited an intermediate amount and size of adipocytes, and amount of structural fibers, in comparison to the superficial and middle blubber layers. Understanding the structure of blubber is critical for many cetacean studies that depend on dart biopsy sampling. In some cases, dart biopsy sampling may only obtain a small sample of tissue that is not representative of the full blubber depth. Depending on the analysis, these samples must be interpreted with caution because of the importance of the metabolically active inner blubber layer (₂Krahn et al. 2004).

Odontocetes draw upon storage lipids in the deep blubber layer during times of stress, illness, migration, reproduction/lactation, and low food availability. Along with lipid mobilization, POPs are also mobilized from blubber storage into circulation where they are able to be metabolically altered. It is suggested that POPs may be metabolized in the endothelial cells as soon as they reach circulation; however, the predominant site of phase I metabolism is the liver (Garrick et al. 2006, Montie et al. 2008a, White et al. 2000). As they travel through circulation, POPs may have large effects on organ systems in the body, including endocrine, neurological, reproductive, developmental, and immunological systems (Robertson and Hansen 2001).

Cytochrome P4501A1 (CYP1A1) expression is a well-known biomarker of POP exposure that has been observed in the blubber of a variety of cetacean species (Angell et al. 2004, Fertall 2010). CYP1A1 is induced when lipophilic polycyclic aromatic

hydrocarbons (PAHs) and planar halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (PHAHs) are mobilized from lipid storage, diffuse through cellular membranes, and bind to the cytosolic aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR). CYP1A1 is then involved in phase I oxidative metabolism in which it may bioactivate the original PAH or PHAH ligands. PAHs may be converted to epoxide intermediates, that can further be converted to highly reactive diol-epoxide intermediates. These diol-epoxides are known to cause DNA and protein adducts, initiating carcinogenesis and cell transformation (Conney 1982, Shimada and Fujii-Kuriyama 2004). CYP1A1 may also metabolize PHAHs (such as PCB congeners with chlorine substituents at one or both para positions, with adjacent nonhalogenated ortho and meta carbons on at least one ring) to hydroxylated metabolites (OH-PCBs) (Letcher et al. 2000). OH-PCBs may cause changes to thyroid hormone (TH) homeostasis, interfering with vital processes such as skeletal growth, brain and ear development, immune system function, metabolism, and reproduction (Brouwer et al. 1989, 1998, Zoeller et al. 2002).

CYP1A1 expression is stratified within the blubber of bottlenose dolphins from Charleston Harbor, SC (CHS) (Montie et al. 2008a), with highest expression found in capillary endothelial cells of the deep blubber layer. CYP1A1 expression in the deep blubber was positively correlated to concentrations of OH-PCBs in the plasma. This significant relationship was explained by lipid mobilization in the deep blubber layer, leading to contaminant mobilization into plasma and induction of CYP1A1 within this layer. Lipids mobilization in the deep blubber layer may occur for a variety of reasons: starvation, fasting, lactation, or adaptation to warmer water temperatures (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Graphic representation of how lipids are mobilized from the deep blubber layer under certain conditions, leading to mobilization of PCBs and induction of CYP1A1. As PCBs induce CYP1A1 in the endothelial cells, they may be metabolized by the enzyme to OH-PCBs and further carried throughout circulation. However, because the liver is the predominant source of phase I metabolism, PCBs may be carried throughout circulation and then metabolized in the liver to OH-PCBs (from Montie et al. 2008a).

Because stratification of CYP1A1 is significant in CHS dolphins, and not bottlenose dolphins from Indian River Lagoon, FL (IRL), more drastic seasonal fluctuations in sea surface temperature (adaptation to much warmer waters in the summer) was suggested to be the driving force for lipid mobilization and CYP1A1 stratification in CHS dolphins (Montie et al. 2008a). CHS dolphins experience colder temperatures from January through June each year compared to IRL dolphins (Montie et al. 2008b). Therefore, it is possible that the CHS dolphins experience larger fluctuations in adipocyte size throughout the year, with highest lipid content seen in colder months to provide insulation, and drastic thinning and mobilization of lipids and contaminants in the warmer months.

The purpose of this study is to extend analysis of cellular and CYP1A1 stratification to cetaceans that inhabit the waters of Hawai'i, where the seasonal changes

in surface water temperature an animal experiences are small, but where the changes in water temperature from the thermocline to feeding depths are significant. Surface temperatures vary by approximately 7°F (low of 73°F between late February/March to a high of 80°F in late September/early October), and night to day changes are one or two degrees (1NOAA). This small variability in daily and seasonal temperature of the waters surrounding Hawai'i may be enough to cause cellular and CYP1A1 stratification. However, it is possible that Hawaiian odontocetes will exhibit less distinctive cellular and CYP1A1 stratification among the blubber layers (deep, middle, and superficial) as displayed in the IRL dolphins that experienced warmer annual sea-surface temperatures (Montie et al. 2008a, 2008b). If consistent sea surface temperatures throughout the year prevents seasonal mobilization of lipids and residing contaminants, then blubber of Hawaiian cetaceans may not be stratified with respect to cellular distribution and CYP1A1 expression.

Intermediate, deep, and bottom waters surrounding Hawai'i do not show changes in temperature that resemble a seasonal cycle (Bingham and Lukas 1996, Lukas and Santiago 1996). However, species that feed as deep as 1000m, such as beaked whales (family *Ziphiidae*) (Baird et al. 2006), may experience temperature changes of 40°F from surface waters to depth in Hawai'i (1NOAA, Noda et al. 1981). Therefore, on a daily basis, deep-diving animals experience large fluctuations in temperature. Differences in cellular and CYP1A1 stratification between deep-diving and shallow-diving species is yet to be analyzed.

In this study, adipocyte quantities, adipocyte areas, endothelial cell quantities, and CYP1A1 expression throughout the blubber of eleven species of stranded Hawaiian

odontocetes was examined. Importantly, this stratification analysis enables us to assess the potential application of CYP1A1 as a biomarker in dart biopsy samples from freeranging animals in the circumstance that the biopsy does not penetrate all blubber layers. For these reasons, this study contributes critical information for future toxicological and health assessment work in Hawaiian odontocetes.

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Sample collection

Blubber samples from stranded animals were received from the Hawai'i Pacific University Marine Mammal Stranding Program. All animals stranded in the main Hawaiian Islands from 1997-2011. Stranded animals were reported by the public or government officials, and necropsied as quickly as possible in the field or at facilities on O'ahu. Necropsies took place usually within 24 hours of the initial report. Blubber samples collected for this study were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin (NBF).

Blubber samples were retrieved from formalin storage and placed in ethanol for transport to the Department of Pathobiology, College of Veterinary Medicine at University of Tennessee or the histology core facility at John A. Burns School of Medicine, University of Hawai'i. Blubber samples were trimmed and embedded in paraffin blocks. The embedded tissues were sectioned at 5 µm and placed on slides. The slides were then returned to Hawai'i Pacific University for staining and analysis. The following cetacean blubber samples were used for the cellular stratification analysis and CYP1A1 stratification analysis (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1. Stranded odontocetes studied in cellular stratification analysis. This list includes the field number, accession or slide number, necropsy date, location of stranding, species, age class, gender, and animal body condition. A total of n = 31 animals were analyzed for the cellular stratification analysis. For the CYP1A1 stratification analysis, n = 29 of the same animals from the cellular stratification analysis were analyzed for expression.

Field #	Accession #	Necropsy Date	Stranding Location	Species	Age Class	Gender	Condition
12470	12470	1/2/1997	Mokule'ia, O`ahu	S. coeruleoalba	Adult	Male	Robust
NMFS-SA-03- 05-SD	08-021	1/31/2003	Kailua, Oʻahu	S. attenuata	Adult	Female	Thin
MMRP S. attenuata	06-177	7/12/2004	Oʻahu	S. attenuata	Adult	Female	Thin
NMFS-SC-05- 24-SD	06-174	3/14/2005	Kaneohe, Oʻahu	S. coeruleoalba	Adult	Female	Thin
SLP2006001	06-217 M11-54	7/23/2006	Makapu'u, Oʻahu	F. attenuata	Adult	Female	Not determined
KW-2007-004	07-296 M11-53	7/1/2007	Punalu'u, Oʻahu	S. longirostris	Subadult	Male	Thin
KW-2007-005	07-294 M11-52	9/30/2007	Wai'anae, Oʻahu	S. longirostris	Adult	Female	Thin
KW-2008-002	08-018	1/16/2008	Anahola, Kaua'i	S. longirosris	Adult	Female	Robust
KW-2008-004	08-206	3/15/2008	Lahaina, Maui	S. longirostris	Adult	Male	Robust
KW-2008-005	08-205	6/12/2008	Honolulu, Oʻahu	S. attenuata	Subadult	Male	Robust
KW-2008-006	08-207	6/21/2008	Hilo, Hawaiʻi	S. coeruleoalba	Calf	Female	Thin
KW-2008-008	08-204	7/29/2008	Kaunakakai, Moloka'i	Z. cavirostris	Subadult	Male	Not determined
KW-2008-010	08-283 M11-51	10/22/2008	Po'ipu, Kaua'i	O. orca	Subadult	Male	Not determined
KW-2008-012	10-35-16	9/23/2010	Polihale, Kaua'i	S. longirostris	Adult	Male	Thin
KW-2009-001	09-054	3/13/2009	Kahalu'u, O`ahu	S. coeruleoalba	Subadult	Female	Thin
KW-2009-004	09-053	3/13/2009	Wai'anae, O`ahu	S. longirostris	Calf	Female	Robust
KW-2009-006	09-132	5/25/2009	Ma'alaea, Maui	F. attenuata	Adult	Male	Not determined
KW-2009-007	09-133	6/04/2009	Kaho'olawe	T. truncatus	Adult	Male	Robust
KW-2009-008	09-134	6/14/2009	Kailua, Oʻahu	S. coeruleoalba	Subadult	Male	Robust
KW-2009-009	09-153	7/06/2009	Ma'alaea, Maui	S. coeruleoalba	Adult	Female	Thin
KW-2009-011	09-154	7/06/2009	Kihei, Maui	S. coeruleoalba	Calf	Female	Thin
KW-2009-014	10-36-14	9/22/2010	Wai'anae, O`ahu	P. electra	Calf	Male	Not determined
KW-2009-015	10-107	11/26/2009	Kailua-Kona, Hawaiʻi	S. attenuata	Adult	Male	Thin
KW-2010-006	KW-2010-006	4/16/2010	Waimanalo, Oʻahu	S. longirostris	Subadult	Male	Robust
KW-2010-008	KW-2010-008	6/16/2010	Miloli'i, Hawaiʻi	S. coeruleoalba	Adult	Male	Robust
KW-2010-012	KW-2010-012	8/29/2010	Ma'alaea, Maui	M. densirostris	Subadult	Male	Not determined
KW-2010-019	10-38-01	11/27/2010	Kawela, Moloka'i	P. crassidens	Adult	Female	Not determined
KW-2011-001	11-20-23	2/14/2011	Lydgate Park, Kaua'i	T. truncatus	Subadult	Female	Robust
KW-2011-003	KW-2011-003	4/13/2011	Waikoloa, Hawai'i	T. truncatus	Calf	Male	Thin
KW-2011-006	M11-46-16	4/24/2011	Waikoloa, Hawaiʻi	T. truncatus	Calf	Female	Thin
KW-2011-007	M11-50-31	5/22/2011	Lydgate Park, Kauaʻi	T. truncatus	Adult	Male	Robust
KW-2011-008	11-089	5/31/2011	La'ie, O'ahu	P. macrocephalus	Neonate	Female	Not determined

2.2.2. Cellular Stratification Analysis

Hematoxylin and Eosin

Slides were placed in a routine set of xylene, ethanol, distilled water, hematoxylin, and eosin dips according to modified Sigma Aldrich Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA) protocols (Fertall 2010). First, sections were deparaffinized by placement in two xylene trays for ten minutes each. They were then rehydrated by two changes of absolute ethanol for five minutes each. Next, they were placed in 95% ethanol for two minutes, and then in 70% ethanol for two minutes. They were then set in distilled water, stained with Mayer's hematoxylin for eight minutes, and washed in warm running tap water for ten minutes. Afterwards, they were held in distilled H₂O, rinsed in 95% ethanol for ten dips, and counterstained in eosin phloxine B solution (or eosin Y solution) for one minute. Last, they were dehydrated with 95% ethanol, two changes in absolute ethanol for five minutes each, and cleared with two changes of xylene for five minutes each. The slides were then mounted with Permount® (Fisher Scientific) (Fertall 2010, modified from Sigma Aldrich protocols).

Analysis of cellular distribution

Hematoxylin and eosin stained slides were viewed to determine if a gradient in adipocyte area, adipocyte quantity, and endothelial cell quantity existed among the superficial, middle, and deep blubber layers of Hawaiian odontocetes. First, each slide was viewed without magnification to determine if a color gradient existed on each tissue, indicating stratification of cell types. The eosin stain has been found to bind to more fibrous tissue, giving it a pink-red appearance, while it does not stain adipocytes. If the
tissue on the slide contained three representative layers (a pink-red toned superficial layer, white-toned middle layer, and pink-red toned deep layer) as indicated by previous studies (Montie et al. 2008b), the layer gradient was marked with a Sharpie® pen on the back of the slide. Next, the slides were viewed with an Olympus BX43 microscope at a total magnification of 400x (40x objective, 10x eyepiece). A picture of the blubber was taken every 0.48 mm throughout the length of the blubber with an Infinity 2-3 digital microscope camera. Pictures were sorted by layer according to the boundaries initially marked off on the back of the slides.

A sum of endothelial cells was determined for each picture, and an average of endothelial counts per picture was taken for each blubber layer of an individual. To count adipocytes, two diagonals were drawn across each picture, and the number of adipocytes that intersected each diagonal was counted and recorded (Figure 2.2). In cases for which the same adipocyte crossed both diagonals, the adipocyte was only counted once. An average of adipocyte counts per picture was taken for each blubber layer of an individual. For adipocyte area, a 100 μ m scale bar at 400x total magnification was used to calibrate measured pixels to distance in Image J software 1.45M, (National Institutes of Health). Adipocyte area (μ m²) was measured for ten adipocytes on each picture. The average adipocyte area was recorded for each picture (Figure 2.3). An average was then taken of this value for all pictures within the blubber layer of each individual.



Figure 2.2. Method used to count adipocyte quantities throughout the blubber. Adipocytes that intersected each diagonal were counted for each picture/segment throughout the blubber, and then averaged within layers for a layer-specific mean quantity for each individual. Image J Software, 1.45 M (National Institutes of Health) was used for drawing diagonals across the tissue.





Pixels were measured for a 100 μ m scale bar and calibrated for measuring adipocyte area in μ m². Ten adipocytes areas were measured for each picture, and then averaged for mean adipocyte area per picture. An average of these values was then taken for all pictures within the blubber layer of each individual. Measurements were taken with Image J software, 1.45 M (National Institutes of Health).

Animal condition

Body condition is a subjective assessment made at necropsy that can be problematic because of the large number of species that are common in Hawaiian waters and the infrequency of strandings. Because of the low sample size of most species in the sample archive, coupled with the variation of blubber thickness caused by size, a less subjective assessment of body condition was required. Gross necropsy reports and the accompanying photo catalog was re-examined for all individuals representing species for which n > 3 (bottlenose dolphins, pantropical spotted dolphins, spinner dolphins, and striped dolphins). After careful examination, the animal condition was categorized by the following formula:

Dorsal blubber thickness (cm)/total length (cm)

Based on analysis of animal body condition in necropsy reports, an animal was considered "thin" if its condition equaled less than 0.006, whereas it was considered "robust" if it scored 0.006 and higher. This method was chosen after taking the range of animal condition scores (0.0006-0.0127), and dividing by two (0.006). After comparing scores to photos and data from necropsy reports, it was decided that 0.006 was an appropriate division between thin and robust animals. Furthermore, previous analysis has used this method of quantifying animal condition, in which a negative correlation was found between CYP1A1 protein expression and blubber condition (p = 0.004; $R^2 = 0.52068$) (Urekew 2011). A distribution of animal condition by species in the present study is shown below (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4. Number of individuals in each condition group (thin or robust) within species.

Statistics for cellular stratification analysis

All within-layer averages for each individual (endothelial cells quantities, adipocyte cell quantities, and adipocyte area) were transformed with the fourth root to achieve normal distributions based on analysis of data distribution within columns, along with data distribution and homogeneity of variances by each factor. In all cases, the multivariate F tests were used, and univariate tests were not used as sphericity was found to be violated in some cases. The multivariate F-tests are powerful and robust to violations in repeated-measures MANOVA assumptions (JMP® support online).

First, two-factor repeated measures MANOVA were performed for age and gender, age and condition, gender and condition, species and gender, and species and condition. The species and age factors were not considered together since there were no pantropical spotted dolphin calves in this study. The species and gender trial excluded all individuals with n = 1, since only one gender was represented within these species. Furthermore, only *Stenella* sp. and *Tursiops* sp. were included in analyses with condition

as a factor, because these were the only species categorized by the condition formula described previously. Because of these exclusions, the two-factor analyses were only useful to make sure no interactions existed among the factors that would confound the repeated measures analysis. Because no interactions were found among any of the factors in this study, repeated-measures analysis was then performed against each factor individually to determine if a significant effect occurred for age, gender, species, or condition alone. Furthermore, these one-factor repeated measures indicated whether a layer and factor interaction was present. In all cases, groups with n < 5 were excluded from the ANOVAs.

In the case of an interaction between layer and any factor (e.g. layer and condition), repeated-measures was run within groups of a factor (e.g. thin and robust animals), and one-way ANOVAs were performed for each individual layer by the factor of interest. In the case of no interaction between layer and factor, repeated-measures analysis was performed on the entire dataset, and not within groups of a factor. After all repeated-measures analyses, multivariate ANOVA contrasts were also performed for each blubber layer against the other two to determine which layers differed significantly from one another.

One-way ANOVAs were performed within each layer for adipocyte area and quantity by age and condition. Previous studies have shown that the composition of the middle blubber layer varies based on age, and the deep blubber layer varies based on animal condition (Montie et al. 2008b). Data were analyzed with JMP 9.0.2 Statistical software (©2010 SAS Institute Inc), with significance set at $\alpha = 0.05$.

2.2.3. CYP1A1 stratification analysis

Immunohistochemistry

Tissues were processed on slides according to the methods described above. For CYP1A1 stratification analysis, two slides were received for each tissue. One slide was used for analysis of CYP1A1 stratification with a primary polyclonal antibody against rat hepatic CYP1A1, with a rabbit host (Chemicon International, Cat. No. AB1247; diluted 1:4500 in 0.9% phosphate buffered saline (PBS)). The other slide was used as a negative control slide without use of antibody to account for non-specific staining not indicative of CYP1A1-antibody interactions. For each run of slides, an animal that was previously shown to have high expression of CYP1A1 in the integument was used as a positive control (Fertall 2010). This control was treated like all other animals examined in the study with a positive antibody slide used for analysis of CYP1A1 expression, and a negative control slide to account for background staining.

Slides were prepared for analysis by incubations in xylene and ethanol. They were placed in xylene for ten minutes, followed by two additional five-minute incubations in xylene. They were then incubated in 100% ethanol twice, for one minute each time. Next, they were placed in 70% ethanol twice, for one minute each time, followed by placement in 30% ethanol for two minutes (Fertall 2010, modified from Chemicon Immunophosphatase Secondary Detection System 2005). Slides were then placed in MilliQ® water for five minutes, followed by a rinse procedure in PBS. Lastly, a PAP barrier was drawn around each tissue to contain immunohistochemical reagents on the tissues.

Primary antibody slides

Blocking serum (Normal Horse Serum, Vector laboratories, Cat. No. S-2000) was placed on the tissues for twenty minutes, and excess serum was blotted from the sections. The primary antibody AB1247 was then placed on the appropriate slides for one hour. After incubation for one hour, the slides underwent two, two-minute rinse procedures with PBS. Slides were then incubated for another hour with the primary antibody, followed by the rinse procedure again. Tissues were then incubated with biotinylated secondary antibody (Vectastain® ABC-AP kit, rabbit IgG, Vector Laboratories, Cat. No. AK-5001) for thirty minutes, followed by the rinse procedure. Afterwards, tissues were incubated with alkaline phosphatase reagent labeled with avidin (Vectastain® ABC-AP kit, rabbit IgG, Vector Laboratories, Cat. No. AK-5001) for thirty minutes. Following the rinse procedure, tissues were incubated with substrate solution (Vector® Red in 200 mM tris-HCl, pH 8.5, Vector Laboratories, Cat. No. SK-5100) for thirty minutes. Slides were rinsed and counterstained with hematoxylin for one minute. After a final rinse, they were coverslipped with non-aqueous Permount® (Fisher Scientific, Cat. No. SP15-500).

Negative control slides

Negative control slides underwent the same procedure as above for the primary antibody slides, except they did not receive the primary antibody for any of the hour-long incubations. Instead, they were allowed to incubate in rinse procedure until the appropriate time for blocking serum to be placed on the slides, so that both primary antibody slides and negative control slides received the biotinylated secondary antibody

(and following steps of the procedure) at the same time. This occurred during the last half of the second hour-long incubation for primary antibody slides.

Determining CYP1A1 expression

Since previous studies showed that the endothelial cells of the blubber have the highest expression of CYP1A1 compared to other cells (Montie et al. 2008a), this study only examined endothelial cells for CYP1A1 expression. Intensity and occurrence of CYP1A1 in endothelial cells within the blubber layers was determined through use of the Olympus BX43 microscope at a total magnification of 200x (20x objective, 10x eyepiece). Intensity was measured on a 0-5 scale, with 0 indicating no staining, and 5 indicating the brightest amount of staining as seen in previous studies (Angell et al 2004, Montie et al. 2008a, Wilson et al. 2007).

CYP1A1 was quantified for the entire blubber layer of each individual by three different methods: semi-quantitative CYP1A1 expression, CYP1A1 expression per area (mm²), and CYP1A1 expression/total number of endothelial cells. There are advantages to all three of these methods. First of all, the semi-quantitative method has been used extensively throughout the literature (Angell et al. 2004, Hooker et al. 2007, Wilson et al. 2005, 2007). Semi-quantitative CYP1A1 expression in this study is determined as:

(Intensity (0-5) *occurrence of endothelial cells (0-3) within blubber layer for primary antibody slide) - (Intensity (0-5)*occurrence of endothelial cells (0-3) within blubber layer for negative control slide).

The lowest level of intensity or occurrence was 0 (no staining present), five was the highest level of intensity, and 3 was the highest level of occurrence (all cells stained). Therefore, the range of semi-quantitative expression possible is 0-15. This semiquantitative method is useful for tissues in which CYP1A1 is expressed in a variety of cell types, and quantifying cells and intensity collectively is a difficult task. Montie et al. (2008a) established that semi-quantitative CYP1A1 expression correlated significantly with CYP1A1 expression/area (mm²). They also proposed the latter as a more accurate method of determining expression levels in endothelial cells of the blubber. CYP1A1 expression/area in this study is determined as:

[(Intensity (0-5)*occurrence (number of stained cells within blubber layer of primary antibody slide))- (Intensity (0-5)*occurrence (number of cells stained cells within blubber layer of negative antibody slide))]/total area (mm²) of blubber layer

Instead of determining occurrence on a 0-3 scale, this method quantifies total expression within the blubber, and then accounts for area of tissue that would influence amount of CYP1A1 quantified. CYP1A1 scores for each layer were also determined through another quantitative method, CYP1A1 expression/total number of endothelial cells:

[(Intensity (0-5)*occurrence (number of stained cells within blubber layer of primary antibody slide))- (Intensity (0-5)*occurrence (number of cells stained cells within blubber layer of negative antibody slide))]/total number of endothelial cells within blubber layer

This quantification method has not yet been reported in the literature for analysis of CYP1A1 expression in cetacean blubber. Total number of endothelial cells within the blubber were quantified in the hematoxylin & eosin slides. This method is a useful method of quantification because 1) only endothelial cell expression was quantified in this study, 2) it divides expression determined by the total amount of cells that could potentially express CYP1A1, and 3) it provides a 0-5 scale of CYP1A1 expression (5 meaning all cells stained at an intensity of 5, the highest possible expression).

Statistical analysis: comparison of scoring methods

The three scoring methods were statistically compared through multivariate pairwise correlations to see if relationships existed among the scoring methods. All significance values were set at $\alpha = 0.05$.

Statistical analysis: CYP1A1 stratification

After testing a suite of transformations, CYP1A1 expression per area and per total number of endothelial cells were transformed by the fourth root $(x^{1/4})$, and semiquantitative CYP1A1 expression was transformed by the square root $(x^{1/2})$ to meet ANOVA assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance. CYP1A1 (all methods) was statistically analyzed as mentioned previously for the cellular stratification analysis with factorial repeated measures MANOVA, and statistical significance was set at $\alpha = 0.05$. Linear regression was used for determining relationships among CYP1A1 expression within blubber layers, and data were transformed with the fourth root for these

analyses so that residuals were normally distributed. Data were analyzed in JMP 9.0.2 Statistical software (©2010 SAS Institute Inc).

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Is cellular stratification present in Hawaiian odontocetes?

This study first examined whether there is apparent layering, or stratification, of endothelial cell quantities, adipocyte area, and adipocyte quantities, across blubber crosssections from Hawaiian odontocetes. Stratification with respect to these cell parameters occurred in the sample set of this study.

Stratification of endothelial cell quantities existed in the blubber of Hawaiian odontocetes (p < 0.0001). The deep blubber layer had a significantly higher average endothelial cell quantity than the middle blubber layer (p < 0.0001). The superficial blubber layer had a significantly higher average endothelial cell quantity than the middle blubber layer (p = 0.002) (Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5. Average endothelial cell quantity throughout the blubber layers. The sample set included n = 32 individuals. Error bars represent standard error. The asterisk indicates that the middle blubber layer differed significantly from the other layers, p < 0.05.

Average adipocyte area (μ m²) was stratified throughout the blubber layers (p < 0.0001) of Hawaiian odontocetes as well, and all blubber layers differed significantly from one another (deep and middle: p = 0.002, deep and superficial: p<0.0001, middle and superficial: p < 0.0001) (Figure 2.6). Furthermore, stratification of adipocyte quantities occurred throughout the blubber layers (p < 0.0001). All blubber layers differed significantly from one another (deep and middle: p = 0.006, deep and superficial: p = 0.0002, middle and superficial: p < 0.0001) (Figure 2.7). These patterns of stratification are similar to that found in bottlenose dolphins from the southeast coast of the United States (Montie et al. 2008b).



Figure 2.6. Average adipocyte area (μm^2) throughout the blubber layers. The sample set included n = 32 individuals. Error bars represent standard error. The asterisk on all layers indicates that all layers differed significantly from one another, p < 0.05.



Figure 2.7. Average adipocyte quantity throughout the blubber layers. The sample set included n = 32 individuals. Error bars represent standard error. The asterisk on each layer indicates that all layers differed significantly from one another, p < 0.05.

2.3.2. Is CYP1A1 stratified throughout the blubber layers?

After establishing that there was clear cellular structure in the blubber of Hawaiian odontocetes, we next examined whether CYP1A1 expression in endothelial cells followed a similar pattern. However, cellular heterogeneity made it a challenge to describe CYP1A1 expression in a quantitative manner, so the first step was to determine the most appropriate way to generate the data. Upon analysis of the three different CYP1A1 scoring methods throughout the blubber layers, CYP1A1 expression/total number of endothelial cells most accurately represented CYP1A1 expression in stranded animals with variable blubber condition. This method quantifies CYP1A1 by normalizing expression independent of the influence of adipocyte area, that varies with animal condition and potentially influences ability to see expression.

CYP1A1 expression/total number of endothelial cells was stratified significantly throughout the blubber layers (p = 0.013). The deep blubber had significantly higher CYP1A1 expression than the middle and superficial blubber layers (p = 0.020 and p = 0.004 respectively). The middle blubber layer did not differ significantly from the superficial blubber layer (p = 0.357) (Figure 2.8). Taken together with stratification of adipocyte cell area throughout the blubber (Figure 2.6), these results indicate lipid and contaminant mobilization, resulting in higher CYP1A1 expression in the deep blubber layer.



Figure 2.8. Average CYP1A1 expression throughout the blubber layers. The sample set included n = 30 individuals. Error bars represent standard error. The asterisk shows that the deep blubber layer had significantly higher expression than the middle and superficial blubber layers, p < 0.05.

2.3.3. Are CYP1A1 expression levels correlated across layers?

A key reason to assess the relationship between CYP1A1 expression in the blubber layers was to determine whether or not dart biopsies, which are more likely to sample the superficial to middle blubber layers, are appropriate for future CYP1A1 expression studies. In this study, CYP1A1 expression in the middle and superficial blubber layers correlated significantly with expression in the deep blubber layer $(R^2=0.34, p = 0.0004, Figure 2.9 and R^2= 0.20, p = 0.001, Figure 2.10 respectively).$

Since cellular heterogeneity makes layers easy to identify, this is a promising result for the prospects of using dart biopsies for future analysis of CYP1A1.



Figure 2.9. Correlation between deep and middle blubber layer CYP1A1 expression. A significant relationship was found among the blubber layers ($R^2 = 0.34$, p = 0.0004).



Figure 2.10. Correlation between deep and superficial blubber layer CYP1A1 expression. A significant relationship was found among the blubber layers ($R^2 = 0.20$, p = 0.001).

2.3.4. Are there significant trends in cellular distribution and CYP1A1 expression for different condition, species, age, or gender classes?

Although cellular and CYP1A1 stratification trends in a sample of pooled species were the main focus of this study, we also investigated whether or not cellular characteristics and CYP1A1 expression varied for individuals of different body condition, species, age class, and gender. Many studies have previously assessed CYP1A1 expression by species, gender, and age (Angell et al. 2004, White et al. 1994, Wilson et al. 2007), however, animal condition is a factor that has not yet been quantified and analyzed in the literature. Montie and others (2008a) showed that male dolphins and simultaneously pregnant-lactating females dolphins with smaller adipocytes had higher CYP1A1 expression in the deep blubber. These results show that nutritionally stressed animals may express higher levels of CYP1A1, and emphasize the importance of metabolism in the deep blubber layer.

Analysis of cellular characteristics and CYP1A1 expression by animal condition

In the within-subjects response for the repeated-measures MANOVA, there was a layer and condition interaction for adipocyte area across blubber layers (p = 0.036). Because of this significant interaction, condition groups were analyzed within each layer to determine whether or not there were significant differences in adipocyte area based on animal condition. Only adipocyte area in the deep blubber layer differed significantly based on animal condition (Figure 2.11) (deep: p = 0.0015, middle: p = 0.164, superficial: p = 0.103).



Figure 2.11. Average adipocyte area (μm^2) for condition groups in the deep blubber layer. Thin (n = 13) and robust (n = 11) animals were analyzed. Error bars represent standard error. The asterisk indicates that robust and thin animal condition groups differed significantly from one another, p < 0.05.

Adipocyte quantities (p = 0.940), endothelial cell quantities (p = 0.085), and

CYP1A1 expression (p = 0.559) (Figure 2.12) did not differ significantly among

condition groups.



Figure 2.12. Average sum of CYP1A1 expression for condition groups. Thin (n = 11) and robust (n = 11) animals were analyzed, p > 0.05. Error bars represent standard error.

Analysis of differences by species

No significant differences in average sum of endothelial cells (p = 0.436), adipocyte quantities (p = 0.119), and adipocyte area (p = 0.643) existed for different species across all blubber layers. However, the average sum of CYP1A1 expression across all blubber layers differed significantly among species, with lower CYP1A1 present in striped dolphins in comparison to bottlenose dolphins and spinner dolphins (p= 0.017) (Figure 2.13).



Figure 2.13. Average sum of CYP1A1 expression across all blubber layers for different odontocetes. Species included: pygmy killer whales, *Feresa attenuata*, Blainville's beaked whale, *Mesoplodon densirostris*, killer whale, *Orcinus orca*, false killer whale, *Pseudorca crassidens*, melon-headed whale, *Peponocephala electra*, sperm whale, *Physeter macrocephalus*, pantropical spotted dolphins, *Stenella attenuata*, striped dolphins, *Stenella coeruleoalba*, spinner dolphins, *Stenella longirostris*, bottlenose dolphins, *Tursiops truncatus*, and Cuvier's beaked whale, *Ziphius cavirostris*. Error bars represent standard error. The asterisk indicates that striped dolphins had significantly lower average CYP1A1 expression/total number of endothelial cells in comparison to the other species highlighted in dark gray with n > 4 (spinner dolphins and bottlenose dolphins), p < 0.05.

Analysis of differences in cellular characterization and CYP1A1 based on age class

Average sum of endothelial cells across all layers did not differ significantly among age classes (p = 0.146). However, in the middle blubber layer, adipocyte quantity in calves differed significantly from the other age classes (p < 0.0001) (Figure 2.14). Pvalues for the deep and superficial blubber layer adipocyte quantity for age were p =0.147 and p = 0.204 respectively.



Figure 2.14. Average adipocyte quantity in the middle blubber layer by age class. The sample set included n = 7 calves, n = 9 subadults, and n = 16 adults. Error bars represent standard error. The asterisk indicates that calves differed significantly from the other age classes, p < 0.05.

One-way ANOVA was performed for adipocyte area (μ m²) by age within layer. Only the middle blubber layer displayed significant differences among age groups for adipocyte area (p = 0.041), with calves having significantly smaller adipocytes than subadults (Figure 2.15). The deep blubber layer almost displayed a significant difference in adipocyte area based on age (p = 0.050). The superficial layer did not show a significant difference in adipocyte area based on age (p = 0.186).



Figure 2.15. Average adipocyte area (μm^2) in the middle blubber layer by age class. The sample set included n = 7 calves, n = 9 subadults, and n = 16 adults. Error bars represent standard error. The asterisks above the calf and subadult age class indicate that these two age classes differed significantly from one another, yet do not differ significantly from the adult age class, p < 0.05.

CYP1A1 expression/total number of endothelial cells did not differ significantly across age class (p = 0.182) (Figure 2.16).



Figure 2.16. Average sum of CYP1A1 expression across all blubber layers by age class. The sample set included n = 7 calves, n = 9 subadults, and n = 14 adults, p > 0.05. Error bars represent standard error.

Analysis of differences in cellular characterization and CYP1A1 based on gender

Many studies have not found significant differences in cellular characteristics (Montie et al. 2008b) and CYP1A1 expression (Godard-Codding et al. 2011, Jauniaux et al. 2011, Wilson et al. 2007) for males and females. Significant differences in cellular characteristics of the blubber in this study may be the result of the sample set with more thin females than thin males (n = 9 vs. n = 4 respectively). Females showed significantly higher average sum of endothelial cells across all blubber layers (p = 0.036) compared to males (Figure 2.17).



Figure 2.17. Average sum of endothelial cells across all blubber layers for individuals of different gender. The sample set included n = 15 females and n = 17 males. Error bars represent standard error. The asterisk represents a significant difference among females and males, p < 0.05.

No significant differences in average sum of adipocytes across all blubber layers existed for different gender (p = 0.920), yet, a significant difference was present for average sum of adipocyte area (μ m²) across all blubber layers based on gender (p = 0.036). Males displayed greater average adipocyte area throughout all blubber layers compared to females (Figure 2.18).



Figure 2.18. Average adipocyte area (μm^2) across all blubber layers for individuals of different gender. The sample set included n = 17 males and n = 15 females. Error bars represent standard error. The asterisk indicates a significant difference among females and males, p < 0.05.

CYP1A1 expression/total number of endothelial cells did not differ significantly

among gender (p = 0.329) (Figure 2.19).



Figure 2.19. Average sum of CYP1A1 expression across all blubber layers for individuals of different gender. The sample set included n = 13 females and n = 17 males, p > 0.05. Error bars represent standard error.

2.4. Discussion

Endothelial cell distribution, adipocyte cell size and distribution, and CYP1A1 expression were characterized in the blubber of Hawaiian odontocetes that experience relatively consistent sea-surface temperature annually. Cellular stratification and CYP1A1 stratification illustrate the multifunctional nature of the blubber and its distinct layering. Stratification of endothelial cells throughout the blubber layers confirms the dynamic nature of the blubber, in which blood flow is carefully controlled to retain or release heat in the thermodynamically challenging aquatic environment. Distinct stratification of adipocyte quantity, adipocyte area, and CYP1A1 expression can be related to food supply and nutrition, potentially deep-diving patterns to colder waters on a daily basis, and the fact that all animals in this study were stranded animals that experienced health abnormalities or stress.

This study also investigated CYP1A1 stratification to determine whether or not dart biopsies should be appropriate for future CYP1A1 analysis. Significant correlations of CYP1A1 expression among the blubber layers helped establish the utility of dart biopsies for further analysis of free-ranging odontocetes.

2.4.1. Cellular and CYP1A1 stratification

Endothelial cells

The middle blubber layer had significantly fewer endothelial cells than the superficial (p = 0.002) and deep blubber layers (p < 0.0001). The middle blubber layer is termed the "transitional zone" between the structural, inert superficial blubber layer, and the dynamic deep blubber layer (Aguilar and Borrell 1990, Struntz et al. 2004). With the

largest and most adipocytes in comparison to the other layers, this layer provides insulation to the body core in which circulation is prevalent. Furthermore, this layer protects against a water medium that conducts heat away from the body twenty-five times faster than air (Dunkin et al. 2005, Parry 1949, Scholander et al. 1950). The greater amounts of endothelial cells seen in the superficial and deep blubber layers are important for releasing or retaining heat to or from the environment. Odontocetes do not have the means to release heat as terrestrial mammals do: evaporation, convection, and radiation controlled by surface temperatures. They instead have to employ a "forced convection" of heat to water flowing past the body, controlled by circulation within the blubber (Parry 1949). Previous studies have characterized circulation within the blubber of whales, showing arterioles that are present from the base of the epidermis all the way to the surface of the skin, with many small arterioles feeding capillaries within the dermal papillae. Furthermore, venules connect venules in the dermis and travel to the hypodermis. "Accompanying venules" alongside arterioles are known to travel to the base of the epidermis, providing the countercurrent exchange required to retain heat in the body (Parry 1949, Norris 1966). In the present study, it is likely that many small connecting blood vessels in the superficial and deep blubber layer contributed to the greater number of endothelial cells quantified within these layers, since often the middle blubber layer contained few, but very large blood vessels.

Stratification of adipocyte quantity, areas, and CYP1A1 expression

Stratification of adipocyte quantity, area, and CYP1A1 expression was assessed to determine if Hawaiian odontocetes that experience relatively consistent sea-surface

temperatures (73-80°F) (1NOAA) and deep-water temperatures throughout the year (variable by depth) (Lukas and Santiago 1996) show less distinct stratification of the blubber. Less stratification of the blubber was seen in IRL dolphins that experience less seasonality and warmer sea surface temperatures throughout the year (Montie et al. 2008a, b) compared to CHS dolphins. Although Hawaiian odontocetes experience warmer, and more consistent sea-surface temperatures annually than IRL dolphins, stratification of adipocyte quantities (p < 0.0001), adipocyte area (p < 0.0001), and CYP1A1 expression (p = 0.013) was distinct for the sample set as seen in CHS dolphins.

Also similar to the findings of Montie et al. (2008b) for CHS dolphins, the greatest amount and largest adipocytes were present in the middle blubber layer, followed by the deep blubber layer, with smallest amounts and areas of adipocytes found in the superficial blubber layer. Average adipocyte area (μ m²) within the middle layer in the present study (3331 μ m² for adults and 4236 μ m² for subadults) was more similar to averages in the middle blubber layer of CHS dolphins (3700 μ m² for adults and 4600 μ m² for subadults) than averages in the middle blubber layer for IRL dolphins (3200 μ m² for adults and 2700 μ m² for subadults). These results are surprising because CHS bottlenose dolphins experienced cold sea-surface water temperatures (SST) in winter months (51-55°F in January and February). If cold SST drove stratification, it would be assumed that Hawaiian odontocetes would have average adipocyte areas similar to IRL dolphins that experience warmer seasonal temperatures (60-66°F in January and February) (Montie et al. 2008b).

The more similar cellular characteristics of the blubber among Hawaiian odontocetes and CHS dolphins may not be related to annual SST, but rather to the

declines in temperatures experienced during foraging at depth. It is important to note that IRL dolphins live in a habitat that averages four feet in depth (Indian River Lagoon National Estuary Program), so these animals may experience very limited changes in temperature on a daily basis when foraging. These animals most likely do not require as much insulation because of less drastic changes in annual SST and temperature with depth in their relatively shallow habitat. Many of the species analyzed in the present study are known to feed at mesopelagic and bathypelagic depths in Hawai'i (Baird et al. 2006, Benoit-Bird and Au 2003, Clarke and Young 1998, McSweeney et al. 2007, Norris et al. 1994, Shomura and Hida 1965), along with other regions of the world (Blanco et al. 1995, Clarke and Young 1998, Dolar et al. 2003, 2NOAA, 3NOAA). Hawaiian cetaceans that forage at depth may experience steep declines in temperature, as temperature decreases from 75°F to 60°F from the thermocline (> 60m) to 200m below, and then gradually decreases to 40°F at 900m (Noda et al. 1981). Therefore, the similarity in adipocyte areas in the middle blubber layer for CHS dolphins and Hawaiian odontocetes may be explained by daily foraging to colder waters at depth.

Adipocyte morphology and distribution observed in this study suggest that lipid mobilization was a driving force for CYP1A1 stratification found in these stranded animals. The significant difference in adipocyte area for animal condition groups in the deep blubber layer indicated the importance of this layer for nutritive condition and lipid storage/retrieval. Thin animals displayed significantly smaller average adipocyte area compared to robust animals (1434 +/- 327 SE compared to 3088 +/- 416 SE μ m²) in the deep blubber layer (*p* = 0.006). This trend in adipocyte area based on condition was not significant for the middle (*p* = 0.164) and superficial blubber layers (*p* = 0.103). Blubber

thickness and lipid content have been shown to be indicative of nutritive condition in other studies on cetaceans (Aguilar and Borrell 1990), and the effect of nutrition has been shown to be most dramatic in the deep blubber layer (Koopman et al. 2002, Montie et al. 2008b, Struntz et al. 2004). Moreover, thin animals had higher average CYP1A1 expression/total number of endothelial cells, although this result was not significant (p =0.559). Altogether, these results demonstrate the importance of animal condition on blubber composition and CYP1A1 expression patterns. More specifically, thin animals in this study mobilized lipids and associated contaminants to a greater extent than robust animals, inducing higher average levels of CYP1A1.

2.4.2. Utility of biopsy samples for analysis of CYP1A1

CYP1A1 expression in the deep blubber layer correlated significantly with expression in the middle (p = 0.0004) and superficial blubber layers (p = 0.001). Therefore, dart biopsies that obtain only the superficial to middle blubber layers can be useful for analysis. Interpretation of CYP1A1 in dart biopsies should take into account the area of biopsy, since larger biopsies may obtain the deep blubber layer which would contribute to higher expression found within individuals. Dividing expression of CYP1A1 by area should reduce the influence of greater-depth biopsies on expression levels. Dividing CYP1A1 expression per total number of endothelial cells in biopsy samples does not seem as critical, since blubber composition does not appear to be as variable in presumably healthy, free-ranging animals. 2.4.3. Analysis of key cell types and CYP1A1 expression based on age, gender, and species

Age

Average adipocyte area and quantity was useful for elucidating trends specific to age. There was a pattern of decreasing average adipocyte quantity with age throughout all blubber layers, with calves and adults differing significantly in average sum of adipocyte quantity (p = 0.005). The middle blubber layer drove the trends. Montie et al. 2008b observed similar results: CHS subadults had more adipocytes than adults, and this difference was found within the middle blubber layer.

In the present study, calves and subadults differed significantly in average sum adipocyte area across all blubber layers (p = 0.009). There was a trend of increasing adipocyte area with age until adulthood, in which average adipocyte area declined. When looking only within layers, significant differences based on age were restricted to the middle blubber layer (p = 0.041). Montie and others (2008b) found that significance in adipocyte area based on age was confined to the middle blubber layer. This led them to predict that the middle blubber layer is ontogenetic in function, showing variation with growth.

The trend of decreasing adipocyte quantity with age and increasing adipocyte area with age may be explained by decreases in surface-area to volume with growth, with less demand for insulation and greater need for energy to support growth (Dunkin et al. 2005, McLellan et al. 2002, Struntz et al. 2004). Many, smaller adipocytes may be important for greater surface area and insulation in calves, while fewer, larger adipocytes may be more important for energy storage as the individual grows and actively forages in subadulthood. The observance of increasing adipocyte area with growth ended with

adults in the present study, as a decline in average adipocyte area was seen from subadults to adults. It is predicted that once growth-rate maxes out in adulthood, the trend of increasing adipocyte area with age diminishes. The smaller average adipocyte areas for adults in this study may reflect lipid loss in the blubber that occurs in adulthood as seen in Montie and others (2008a).

There were no age-related differences in CYP1A1 expression. This is consistent with results reported elsewhere in the literature (Jauniaux et al. 2011, Wilson et al. 2003, 2007, 2010); yet, it is interesting based on the fact that contaminant levels are known to change with age class (Hansen et al. 2004, Hickie et al. 1999, Krahn et al. 2002, 12004, Ylitalo et al. 2001).

Gender

More endothelial cells were quantified in females compared to males (p = 0.036). Moreover, larger adipocytes were measured in males compared to females (p = 0.036). It is important to note that there were more thin females than males in this study (n = 9 vs. n = 4 respectively), which may have influenced the higher number of endothelial cells and smaller adipocytes seen in females. Although female odontocetes are smaller than male odontocetes (Perrin et al. 2008), it is hypothesized that animal condition was more influential for the results obtained because of the variability in blubber composition that exists among stranded animals of different condition categories.

No significance existed for CYP1A1 expression across gender (p = 0.746), a result reported in previous studies (Godard-Codding et al. 2011, Jauniaux et al. 2011, Wilson et al. 2003, 2007, 2010). Similarly to the results obtained for age, these results are

interesting because studies have found significant differences in contaminant levels for different genders (Hansen et al. 2004, Ylitalo et al. 2001).

Species

A notable finding of this study was that striped dolphins had significantly lower CYP1A1 expression than spinner dolphins and bottlenose dolphins (p = 0.017). Spinner and bottlenose dolphins are known to have island-associated populations (Baird et al. 2003, Martien et al. 2011), while striped dolphins in Hawai'i are mostly sighted in deep offshore waters (R.W. Baird, pers. comm.). Therefore, striped dolphins may be exposed to a different types and levels of contaminants in offshore waters than species inhabiting waters closer to shore. Sperm whales from regions furthest from continents have significantly lower CYP1A1 expression compared to sperm whales inhabiting waters closer to continents (Godard-Codding et al. 2011). This suggests that despite the ubiquitous presence of contaminants in the marine environment, there may be differences in contaminant exposure in the near-shore and off-shore environment.

2.4.4. Conclusions

Analysis of stranded animals for cellular stratification provided the framework to better understand the physiological process of lipid mobilization and CYP1A1 induction in several species of Hawaiian odontocetes, and how the multifunctional nature of the blubber affects these processes. The deep blubber is vital for energy stores and supply, and composition of this layer is most influenced by nutritive condition. Thin animals draw upon lipids within this layer to a greater extent than robust animals, inducing higher

average levels of CYP1A1 as contaminants travel into circulation. Stratification of CYP1A1 was prevalent in Hawaiian odontocetes, most likely because of physiological stress prior to stranding that caused the animals to draw upon lipid reserves. However, stratification of CYP1A1 may have been influenced by reproduction and lactation in female dolphins, low food availability, or potentially diving at depth for extended periods of time. Small-scale seasonal changes in temperature probably have only a small effect on cellular and CYP1A1 stratification in Hawaiian odontocetes.

Correlations of CYP1A1 expression across blubber layers suggest that dart biopsies that sample the superficial to middle blubber layers may be useful for future CYP1A1 analysis. Caution must be taken for variable depth samples, however, and CYP1A1 expression should be normalized by area of biopsy. Biopsies should always be taken from visibly healthy, free-ranging animals, because blubber condition in sick, distressed animals may influence quantification of CYP1A1 in samples.

Future work should assess the trophic position of Hawaiian odontocetes to see if CYP1A1 expression follows trends in structure. Future research could also examine relationships between CYP1A1 and disease state if possible in stranded animals. CYP1A1 is related to decreased immune function in cetaceans (Lahvis et al. 1995), and an analysis of CYP1A1 expression levels in conjunction with histopathology may reveal how induction of this enzyme in certain tissues affects whole organ systems. Much is to be learned from CYP1A1 as a biomarker of contaminant exposure and its relationship to the health status of an individual.

Works Cited

- Ackman RG, Hingley JH, Eaton CA, Sipos JC. 1975. Blubber fat deposition in Mysticeti whales. Can J Zool 53:1332-1339
- Aguilar A and Borrell A. 1990. Patterns of lipid content and stratification in blubber of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*). J Mammal 71(4):544-554.
- Aguilar A and Borrell A. 1991. Heterogeneous distribution of organochlorine contaminants in the blubber of baleen whales: implications for sampling procedures. Mar Environ Res 31:275-286.
- Aguilar A and Borrell A. 1994. Abnormally high polychlorinated biphenyl levels in striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) affected by the 1990-1992 Mediterranean epizootic. Sci Total Environ 154:237-247.
- Angell CM, Wilson JY, Moore MJ, Stegeman JJ. 2004. Cytochrome P450 1A1 expression in cetacean integument: implications for detecting contaminant exposure and effects. Mar Mammal Sci 20(3):554-56
- Baird RW, McSweeney DJ, Webster DL, Gorgone AM, Ligon AD. 2003. Studies of odontocete population structure in Hawaiian waters: results of a survey through the main Hawaiian Islands in May and June 2003. Report prepared under Contract No. AB133F-02-CN-0106 from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Western Administrative Support Center, 7600 Sand Point Way N.E., Seattle, WA 98115 USA.
- Baird RW, Webster DL, McSweeney DJ, Ligon AD, Schorr GS, Barlow J. 2006. Diving behaviour of Cuvier's (*Ziphius cavirostris*) and Blainville's (*Mesoplodon densirostris*) beaked whales in Hawai'i. Can J Zoolog 84:1120–1128.
- Benoit-Bird KJ, Au WWL. 2003. Prey dynamics affect foraging by a pelagic predator (*Stenella longirostris*) over a range of spatial and temporal scales. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 53:364–373.
- Bingham FM and Lukas R. 1996. Seasonal cycles of temperature, salinity and dissolved oxygen observed in the Hawai'i Ocean Time-series. Deep-Sea Res Pt II 43(2-3):199-213.
- Blanco C, Aznar J, Raga JA. 1995. Cephalopods in the diet of the striped dolphin *Stenella coeruleoalba* from the western Mediterranean during an epizootic in 1990. J Zool 237(1):151-158.
- Boon JP, Van Arnheim E, Jansen S, Kannan N, Petrick G, Schulz D, Duinker JC, Reijnders PJ, Goksoyr A. 1992. The toxicokinetics of PCBs in marine mammals with special reference to possible interactions of individual congeners with the cytochrome-p450-dependent monooxygenase system: an overview. In: Walker CH and Livingtstone DR, editors.

Persistent pollutants in marine ecosystems. SETAC Special Publication Series. Oxford: Pergamon Press. p 119-159.

- Brouwer A, Morse DC, Lans MC, Schuur AG, Murk AJ, Klasson-Wehler E, Bergman A, Visser TJ. 1998. Interactions of persistent environmental organohalogens with the thyroid hormone system: mechanisms and possible consequences for animal and human health. Toxicol Ind Health 14:59-84.
- Brouwer A, Reijnders PJH, Koeman JH. 1989. Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)-contaminated fish induces vitamin A and thyroid hormone deficiency in the common seal (*Phoca vitulina*). Aquat Toxicol 15:99-106.
- Clarke M, Young R. 1998. Description and analysis of cephalopod beaks from stomachs of six species of odontocete cetaceans stranded on Hawaiian shores. J Mar Biol Assoc 78:623-641.
- Conney AH. 1982. Induction of microsomal enzymes by foreign chemicals and carcinogenesis by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: G.H.A. Clowes Memorial Lecture. Cancer Res 42:4875–917.
- Dolar MLL, Walker WA, Kooyman GL, Perrin WF. 2003. Comparative feeding ecology of spinner dolphins (*Stenella longirostris*) and Fraser's dolphins (*Lagenodelphis hosei*) in the Sulu Sea. Mar Mammal Sci 19:1-19.
- Dunkin RC. McLellan WA, Blum JE, Pabst D. 2005. The ontogenetic changes in the thermal properties of blubber from Atlantic bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Exp Biol 208:1469-1480.
- Fertall S. 2010. The presence of persistent organic pollutants and expression of cytochrome P4501A1 in Hawaiian cetaceans [M. Sc. thesis]. [Kaneohe, (HI)]: Hawai'i Pacific University.
- Garrick RA, Woodin BR, Wilson JY, Middlebrooks BL, Stegeman JJ. 2006. Cytochrome P4501A is induced in endothelial cell lines from the kidney and lung of the bottlenose dolphin, *Tursiops truncatus*. Aquat Toxicol 76:295-305.
- Godard-Codding CA, Clark R, Fossi MC, Marsili L, Maltese S, West AG, Valenzuela L, Rowntree V, Polyak I, Cannon JC, Pinkerton K, Rubio-Cisneros N, Mesnick SL, Cox SB, Kerr I, Payne R, Stegeman JJ. 2011. Pacific Ocean-wide profile of CYP1A1 expression, stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios, and organic contaminant burden in sperm whale skin biopsies. Environ Health Perspect 119(3):337-343.
- Hansen LJ, Schwacke LH, Mitchum GB, Hohn AA, Wells RS, Zolman ES, Fair PA. 2004. Geographic variation in polychlorinated biphenyl and organochlorine pesticide concentrations in the blubber of bottlenose dolphins from the US Atlantic coast. Sci Total Environ 319:147-172.

- Hickie B, Mackay D, Koning JD. 1999. Lifetime pharmacokinetic model for hydrophobic contaminants in marine mammals. Environ Toxicol Chem 18(11):2622-2633.
- Hooker SK, Metcalfe TL, Metcalfe CD, Angell CM, Wilson JY, Moore MJ, Whitehead H.
 2008. Changes in persistent contaminant concentration and CYP1A1 protein expression in biopsy samples from northern bottlenose whales, *Hyperoodon ampullatus*, following the onset of nearby oil and gas development. Environ Pollut 152:205-216.
- Indian River Lagoon National Estuary Program. Indian River Lagoon: An Introduction to a Natural Treasure [Internet]. [cited 2012 Apr 4]. Available from: <u>http://www.sjrwmd.com/itsyourlagoon/pdfs/IRL_Natural_Treasure_book.pdf</u>
- Jauniaux T, Farnir F, Fontaine M, Kiszka J, Sarlet M, Coignoul F. 2011. Cytochrome P450 1A1 expression in cetacean skin biopsies from the Indian Ocean. Mar Pollut Bull 62:1317-1319.
- JMP® statistical software support on the internet: analyzing repeated measures data in JMP[®] Software [Internet]. [cited 2012 Mar 14]. Available from: <<u>http://www.jmp.com/support/notes/30/584.html</u>>
- Koopman HN, Iverson S, Gaskin D. 1996. Stratification and age-related differences in blubber fatty acids of the male harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*). J Comp Physiol B 135:628-639.
- Koopman HN, Pabst DA, McLellan WA, Dillaman RM, Read AJ. 2002. Changes in blubber distribution and morphology associated with starvation in the harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*): evidence for regional differences in blubber structure and function. Physiol Biochem Zool 75:498-512.
- ¹Krahn MM, Ford MJ, Perrin WF, Wade PR, Angliss RP, Hansen MB, Taylor BL, Ylitalo GM, Dahlheim MF, Stein JE, Waples RS. 2004. 2004 status review of Southern resident killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) under the Endangered Species Act. US Department of Commerce; NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-62.
- 2Krahn MM, Herman DP, Ylitalo GM, Sloan CA, Burrows DG, Hobbs RC, Mahoney BA, Yanagida GK, Calambokidis J, Moore SE. 2004. Stratification of lipids, fatty acids and organochlorine contaminants in blubber of white whales and killer whales. J Cetacean Res Manage 6(2):175-189.
- Krahn MM, Wade PR, Kalinowski ST, Dahlheim ME, Taylor BL, Hanson MB, Ylitalo GM, Angliss RP, Stein JE, Waples RS. 2002. Status review of Southern Resident killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) under the Endangered Species Act. US Department of Commerce; NOAA Tech Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-54.
- Lahvis GP, Wells RS, Kuehl DW, Stewart JL, Rhinehart HL, Via CS. 1995. Decreased lymphocyte responses in free-ranging bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) are

associated with increased concentrations of PCBs and DDT in peripheral blood. Environ Health Perspect 103(Suppl.4):67-72.

- Letcher RJ, Klasson-Wehler E, Bergman A. 2000. Methyl sulfone and hydroxylated metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls. In: Paasivinta J, editor. The handbook of environmental chemistry: new types of persistent halogenated compounds. vol. 3. Heidelberg: Springer-Verlaq. p 314–359.
- Lockyer CH, McConnell LC, Waters TD. 1984. The biochemical composition of fin whale blubber. Can J Zool 62:2553-2562.
- Lukas R and Santiago-Mandujano S. 1996. Interannual variability of Pacific deep and bottom waters observed in the Hawaiian Ocean-Time series. Deep-Sea Res II 43(2-3):243-255.
- Martien KK, Baird RW, Hedrick NM, Gorgone AM, Thieleking JL, McSweeney DJ, Robertson KM, Webster DL. 2011. Population structure of island-associated dolphins: evidence from mitochondrial and microsatellite markers for common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) around the main Hawaiian Islands. Mar Mammal Sci 28(3):E208-E232.
- Martineau D, Lemberger KAD, Labelle P, Lipscomb TP, Michel P, Mikaelian I. 2002. Cancer in wildlife, a case study: beluga from St. Lawrence estuary, Quebec, Canada. Environ Health Perspect 110:285-292.
- McLellan WA, Koopman HN, Romme SA, Read AJ, Potter CW, Nicolas JR, Westgate AJ, Pabst DA. 2002. Ontogenetic allometry and body composition of harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*, L.) from the western N. Atlantic. J Zool 257:457-471.
- McSweeney DJ, Baird RW, Mahaffy SD. 2007. Site fidelity, associations and movements of Cuvier's (*Ziphius cavirostris*) and Blainville's (*Mesoplodon densirostris*) beaked whales off the island of Hawai'i. Mar Mammal Sci 23:666–687.
- Montie EW, Fair PA, Bossart GD, Mitchum GB, Houde M, Muir DCG, Letcher RJ, McFee WE, Starczak VR, Stegeman JJ, Hahn ME. 2008a. Cytochrome P4501A1 expression, polychlorinated biphenyls and hydroxylated metabolites, and adipocyte size of bottlenose dolphins from the southeast United States. Aquat Toxicol 86:397-412.
- Montie EW, Garvin SR, Fair PA, Bossart GD, Mitchum GB, McFee WE, Speakman T, Starczak VR and Hahn ME. 2008b. Blubber morphology in wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from the southeastern United States: influence of geographic location, age class, and reproductive state. J Morphol 269:496 -511
- 1NOAA. Honolulu, HI: National Weather Service Forecast [Internet]. [updated 2007 Jan 9; cited 2010 Dec 10]. Available from: <u>http://www.prh.noaa.gov/hnl/pages/climate_summary.php</u>

- ²NOAA. NOAA Fisheries Office of Protected Resources; Striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) [Internet]. [cited 2012 Apr 14]. Available from: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/cetaceans/stripeddolphin.htm</u>
- 3NOAA. NOAA Fisheries Office of Protected Resources; Pantropical Spotted Dolphin (*Stenella attenuata*) [Internet]. [cited 2012 Apr 4]. Available from: <u>http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/cetaceans/spotteddolphin_pantropical.ht</u> <u>m</u>
- Noda EK, Bienfang PK, Kimmerer WJ, and Walsh TW. 1981. OTEC Environmental Benchmark Survey, Kahe Point, O'ahu, Final Report. U.S. Department of Energy; DOE/NBM-2016055.
- Norris KS (Ed.). 1966. Whales, Dolphins, and Porpoises. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Norris KS, Würsig BW, Wells RS, Würsig M, Brownlee SM, Johnson CM, Solow J. 1994. The Hawaiian spinner dolphin. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Parry DA. 1949. The structure of whale blubber and a discussion of its thermal properties. Q J Microsc Sci 90:13-25.
- Perrin WF, Würsig B, and Thewissen JGM, editors. 2002. Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. San Diego, California: Academic Press.
- Robertson LW and Hansen LG. 2001. PCBs: recent advances in environmental toxicology and health effects. Lexington: The University Press of Kentucky.
- Scholander PF, Walters V, Hock R, Irving L. 1950. Body insulation of some arctic and tropical mammals and birds. Biol Bull 99:259–269.
- Shimada T, Fujii-Kuriyama Y. 2004. Metabolic activation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons to carcinogens by cytochromes P450 1A1 and 1B1. Cancer Sci 95(1):1-6.
- Shomura RS, Hida TS. 1965. Stomach contents of a dolphin caught in Hawaiian waters. J. Mammal 48:500–501.
- Struntz DJ, McLellan WA, Dillaman RM, Blum Je, Kucklick JR, Pabst DA. 2004. Blubber development in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Exp Biol 208:1469-1480.
- Subramanian A, Tanabe S, Tatsukawa R, Saito S, Miyazaki N. 1987. Reduction in the testosterone levels by PCBs and DDE in Dall's porpoises of northwestern North Pacific. Mar Pollut Bull 18(12):643-646.
- Wells RS, Tornero V, Bornell A, Aguilar A, Rowles TK, Rhinehart HL, Hofmann S, Jarman UM, Hohn AA, Sweeney JC. 2005. Integrating life-history and reproductive success data
to examine potential relationships with organochlorine compounds for bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in Sarasota Bay, FL. Sci Total Env 349:106-119.

- White RD, Shea D, Schlezinger JJ, Hahn ME, Stegeman JJ. 2000. In vitro metabolism of polychlorinated biphenyl congeners by beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*) and relationship to cytochrome P450 expression. Comp Biochem Physiol 126C:267-284.
- Wilson JY. 2003. Cytochrome P4501A1 and aromatase (CYP19) in cetaceans: Enzyme expression and relationship to contaminant exposure [Ph.D. thesis]. [Woods Hole, (MA)]: MIT/WHOI.
- Wilson JY, Cooke SR, Moore MJ, Martineau D, Mikaelian I, Metner DA, Lockhart WL, Stegeman JJ. 2005. Systemic effects of Arctic pollutants in beluga whales indicated by CYP1A1 expression. Environ Health Persp 113(11):1594-1599.
- Wilson JY, Moore MJ, Stegeman JJ. 2010. Catalytic and immunochemical detection of hepatic and extrahepatic microsomal cytochrome P450 1A1 (CYP1A1) in white-sided dolphin (*Lagenorhynchus acutus*). Aquat Toxicol 96:216–224
- Wilson JY, Wells R, Aguilar A, Borrell A, Tornero V, Reijnders P, Moore M, Stegeman JJ. 2007. Correlates of cytochrome P450 1A1 (CYP1A1) expression in bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) integument biopsies. Toxicol Sci 97:111–119.
- Worthy G, Edwards E. 1990. Morphometric and biochemical factors affecting heat loss in a small temperate cetacean (*Stenella attenuata*). Physiol Zoo 60:432-442.
- Ylitalo GM, Matkin CO, Buzitis J, Krahn MM, Jones LL, Rowles T, Stein JE. 2001. Influence of life-history parameters on organochlorine concentrations in free-ranging killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) from Prince William Sound, AK. Sci Total Environ 281:183-203.
- Zoeller RT, Dowling ALS, Herzig CTA, Iannacone EA, Gauger KJ, Bansal R. 2002. Thyroid hormone, brain development, and the environment. Environ Health Persp 110:355-361.

Chapter 3: Cytochrome P4501A1 expression in the blubber of free-ranging Hawaiian odontocetes

Abstract

Odontocetes are sentinel species for examining the molecular effects of contaminants because of their high trophic position, long life spans, and blubber that accumulates lipophilic contaminants. Cytochrome P4501A1 (CYP1A1) is a biomarker of contaminant exposure and molecular effects in many species, including odontocetes. Established immunohistochemical methods were used to assess CYP1A1 expression in blubber biopsies from a variety of free-ranging Hawaiian odontocetes (N = 10 species: Blainville's beaked whale (*Mesoplodon densirostris*), bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops*) truncatus), Cuvier's beaked whales (Ziphius cavirostris), false killer whales (Pseudorca crassidens), melon-headed whales (Peponocephala electra), pantropical spotted dolphins (Stenella attenuata), pygmy killer whales (Feresa attenuata), rough-toothed dolphins (Steno bredanensis), short-finned pilot whales (Globicephala macrorhynchus), and a sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*). False killer whales displayed significantly higher expression than melon-headed whales (p = 0.010). Differences in expression may be a result of different trophic levels of these two species; false killer whales in Hawai'i are observed to prey on large game species, and stomach contents from stranded melonheaded whales in Hawai'i consist of a combination of fish and squid species from mesopelagic to bathypelagic depths. No significant differences were found based on age class (p = 0.308) or sex (p = 0.545) across all samples in this study. However, within male false killer whales, juveniles displayed significantly higher CYP1A1 expression than adults (p = 0.016).

Total PCBs were measured in the false killer whale biopsies used in this study. Significant relationships were found for \sum PCBs (ng/g wet weight and lipid weight) and CYP1A1 expression (p = 0.001 and p = 0.015) respectively. No significance was found for the relationship between TEQ (ng/g wet weight and lipid weight) and CYP1A1 expression (p = 0.226 and p = 0.430 respectively). It is important to note that out of all PCBs analyzed, the only measured dioxin-like congeners were PCB 105, 118, and 156. No significant differences were found for CYP1A1 expression among social clusters of false killer whales (p = 0.406), but average expression was highest in cluster 3 animals that primarily spend time north of Maui and Moloka'i. Altogether, this study is the first study to assess CYP1A1 expression in free-ranging Hawaiian odontocetes. It may provide a foundation for future health analyses and will be valuable for long-term monitoring of the molecular effects of AHR agonists in Hawaiian odontocetes.

3.1. Introduction

Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) are ubiquitous throughout the marine environment, and because of their lipophilic nature, they bioaccumulate and biomagnify throughout the food web. POPs are known to be transported long distances to remote regions via atmospheric deposition and evaporation events (Wania and Mackay 1996). Although Hawai'i is far from continental sources of POPs, it is not invulnerable to high levels of contaminant exposure. A variety of POPs have been found in Hawai'i, in various habitats and organisms (Brasher and Wolff 2004, Hunter et al. 1995, Lopez et al. 2012, Yang et al. 2008, Ylitalo et al. 2008, 2009).

Particular classes of POPs can exhibit their toxic effects via the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR), a soluble, ligand-activated transcription factor and member of the basic helix-loop-helix family of transcription factors (Gu et al. 2000). The most established, high-affinity AHR agonists include the halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (HAHs) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (reviewed in Denison et al. 2002). HAHs are trace contaminants created in industrial processes that involve chlorination in the presence of phenolic substrates (Schmidt and Bradfield 1996). Examples of HAHs include 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD), the most toxic HAH, and the more environmentally abundant polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins (PCDDs), polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs), and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). In odontocetes, high levels of PCBs have been linked to decreased immune function (De Guise et al. 1998, Lahvis et al. 1995), death from infectious disease (Jepson et al. 2005), and epizootic outbreaks (Aguilar and Borrell 1994). PAHs are created by combustion of organic matter, and have natural and anthropogenic sources. Principal sources of PAHs include combustion of fossil fuels for heat and power generation, and refuse burning (Harvey 1991). Evidence suggests that high levels of PAHs in the St. Lawrence estuary are involved in etiology of cancer in beluga whales from this region (Martineau et al. 2002).

PAHs and HAHs have been quantified in Hawai'i. PAHs have been quantified in sediments from watersheds of mixed (urban and agricultural) land use, and levels were within the highest twenty-five percentile of the United States (Brasher and Wolff 2004). Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) profiles resembling Aroclor 1254 have been found in tilapia (Oreochromis mossambicus) inhabiting the Manoa stream and the Ala Wai canal located on the island of O'ahu (Yang et al. 2008). Σ PCBs have been found to be as high as 6,100 ng/g lipid weight in the Hawaiian monk seal (Monachus schauinslandi) from the main Hawaiian Islands (Lopez et al. 2012), and 33,000 ng/g lipid weight in free-ranging false killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*) surrounding the main Hawaiian Islands (Ylitalo et al. 2009). This level of exposure quantified within free-ranging false killer whales exceeds the threshold concentration of 17,000 ng/g lipid weight, suggested for marine mammals based on various toxicological endpoints such as thyroid hormone concentrations and natural killer cell activity (Kannan et al. 2000). SPCBs exceeding this threshold concentration have also been quantified within stranded Hawaiian cetaceans (Bachman et al. in preparation).

Because AHR agonists are known to exist at measurable levels in Hawai'i, a molecular biomarker of contaminant exposure, cytochrome P4501A1 (CYP1A1) was investigated. CYP1A1 is an enzyme induced by PAH or HAH binding to the AHR, and it is subsequently involved in the metabolism of these agonists (Parkinson 1996). CYP1A1 is involved in detoxification of the original ligand. However, bioactivation of the original

ligand may occur and lead to toxicity or neoplasia. Bioactivation occurs when detoxification pathways are saturated at high substrate concentrations, resulting in the production of reactive metabolites beyond the capability of cellular defenses (Conney 1982, Miller et al. 1981, Phillips 1983, reviewed in Whitlock 1999). Examples of more toxic metabolites created by CYP1A1 include hydroxylated-PCBs (OH-PCBs) (Kaminsky et al. 1981, Mills et al. 1985, White et al. 2000) that are known to interfere with thyroid hormone homeostasis, immune function, development, metabolism, and sexual function (Brouwer et al. 1989, 1998, Zoeller et al. 2002). PAHs can be metabolized to epoxide intermediates by CYP1A1, and further metabolized to highly reactive diol-epoxide intermediates capable of binding to DNA and initiating carcinogenesis (Conney 1982, Shimada and Fujii-Kuriyama 2004). Therefore, CYP1A1 presence indicates that the individual is responding at the molecular level to contaminant exposure, potentially resulting in negative physiological consequences. It is a useful biomarker of contaminant exposure because it may be present even when inducers capable of being rapidly metabolized, such as PAHs (Varanasi 1989), have been removed from the body.

This study is the first to assess CYP1A1 expression in the blubber of ten species of free-ranging Hawaiian odontocetes. Previous analysis of CYP1A1 in stranded Hawaiian cetaceans determined that the blubber is an indicator tissue for expression (Fertall 2010). Furthermore, levels of CYP1A1 expression are correlated in the deep and middle, and deep and superficial blubber layers (Chapter 2), confirming the utility of dart biopsies for analysis of CYP1A1. The specific aims of this study are to (1) determine whether or not different species groups exhibit variability in CYP1A1 expression levels,

(2) investigate patterns of expression among age and sex, (3) compare levels of expression within false killer whales to measured contaminant concentrations (wet weight (ng/g), lipid weight (ng/g), and TEQ), and (4) examine differences in expression among false killer whale social clusters (Baird et al. 2012).

3.2. Materials and methods

3.2.1. Sample collection

Blubber biopsies were collected from 113 Hawaiian odontocetes in October and December of 2009, and April through December of 2010, as part of ongoing studies of odontocetes in the main Hawaiian Islands by Cascadia Research Collective (Baird et al. 2008a). Samples were collected from individuals on the northwest to southwest sides of the islands of Hawai'i and O'ahu (Figure 3.1 A). Samples were collected using a 45 kg pull Barnett RX-150 crossbow and Larsen biopsy tips that measured 25 mm long and 8 mm wide. Biopsy darts were fit with a high-density foam collar to prevent tissue retrieval greater than 18 mm. Biopsy samples were stored in a cooler with ice packs while in the field. Biopsy samples were subsampled into two equal size cross-sections of blubber so that contaminant analysis and immunohistochemistry could be performed from the same biopsy of each individual. Biopsy tissue depths are shown in slides processed by hematoxylin and eosin staining (Figure 3.1B).



Figure 3.1. Location of sample collection and variability of biopsy depth within this study. (A) Samples were collected from individuals on the northwest to southwest sides of the island of Hawai'i and O'ahu. (B) Tissues stained with hematoxylin and eosin, showing variability of biopsy depths, photo (c) Kerry Foltz.

Cross-sections used for contaminant analysis were transferred to a -20°C freezer at the end of the day, and then transferred within days to a -80°C freezer for long-term storage. Immunohistochemistry samples were transferred and stored in individual sealed containers of 10% neutral buffered formalin (NBF). Cascadia Research Collective photoidentified samples from each individual, and compared photographs to each other and the catalog to prevent replicates and to determine population identity. A list of sample sizes for each species group analyzed in this study is given in Table 3.1.

Species	Number of samples
Blainville's beaked whale (Mesoplodon densirostris)	3
Bottlenose dolphin (Tursiops truncatus)	3
Cuvier's beaked whale (Ziphius cavirostris)	2
False killer whale (Pseudorca crassidens)	36
Pygmy killer whale (Feresa attenuata)	5
Melon-headed whale (Peponocephala electra)	15
Pantropical spotted dolphin (Stenella attenuata)	23
Rough-toothed dolphin (Steno bredanensis)	15
Short-finned pilot whale (Globicephala macrorhynchus)	10
Sperm whale (Physeter macrocephalus)	1
Total	113

Table 3.1. Sample sizes of Hawaiian odontocetes.

3.2.2. Age determination

Age class (juvenile, subadult, adult) of biopsied individuals were noted in the field by Cascadia Research Collective based on body size relative to other individuals, presence of calves in close proximity (indicating adulthood), pigmentation patterns (e.g. changes throughout time of pantropical spotted dolphins), scarring patterns over time and erupted teeth (for beaked whales). In some cases, age was only a probable estimate. These probable estimates were excluded in the ANOVA analyses of CYP1A1 expression by age.

3.2.3. Sex determination

Sex was determined genetically by colleagues at Southwest Fisheries Science Center in subsamples of the biopsies from false killer whales, bottlenose dolphins, pygmy killer whales, melon-headed whales, and rough-toothed dolphins. Sex of Blainville's beaked whale, Cuvier's beaked whale, short-finned pilot whales, and the sperm whale in this study were determined by morphology in the field and photo-identification; in a few cases, sex was not available (n = 5 short-finned pilot whales, n = 23 pantropical spotted dolphins, n = 2 rough-toothed dolphins, and a Blainville's beaked whale in this study).

3.2.4. Social cluster determination

False killer whale social groups or cluster (1, 2, or 3) were determined by Baird et al. 2012 through analysis of association patterns using photo-identification data. Six individuals were not assigned to any of the three clusters, but were in closely related clusters. For the purpose of this analysis, these individuals were assigned to the closest cluster. Five individuals of the false killer whale dataset had unidentified clusters (altogether, n = 31 of n = 36 false killer whales were assigned clusters).

3.2.5. Analysis of CYP1A1 by immunohistochemistry

Samples were transferred to a histologist, who embedded tissues in paraffin and cut them at 5 µm using a Microm 330 rotary microtome. Blubber biopsies were mounted on Leica Biosystems 1mm X-tra® Slides for hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining and CYP1A1 analysis respectively. After slides were deparaffinized and rehydrated with a series of xylene, decreasing concentrations of ethanol, and Milli-Q® purified water incubations, blocking serum (Normal Horse Serum, Vector laboratories, Cat. No. S-2000) was placed on the slides for twenty minutes. After incubation with blocking serum, slides were treated with the polyclonal anti-CYP1A1 antibody (Chemicon International, Cat. No. AB1247; diluted 1:4500 in 0.9% phosphate buffered saline). Comparable levels of CYP1A1 expression were quantified in blubber biopsies stained with AB1247 and

additional cuts of the same blubber biopsies previously stained with the anti-CYP1A1 monoclonal antibody (MAb) 1-12-3 (0.3 µg/ml). Slides were treated with the anti-CYP1A1 antibody for two hour-long incubations, separated by a five minute rinse procedure with 0.9% phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Slides were then treated with biotinylated secondary antibody, followed by alkaline phosphatase reagent labeled with avidin (Vectastain® ABC-AP kit, rabbit IgG, Vector Laboratories, Cat. No. AK-5001). Five minute rinse procedures with PBS followed each incubation. Lastly, slides were incubated with alkaline phosphatase substrate (Vector® Red in 200 mM tris-HCL, pH 8.5, Vector Laboratories, Cat. No. SK-5100), rinsed, and incubated with hematoxylin for one minute prior to being coverslipped with mounting medium (Permount®, Fisher Scientific, Cat. No. SP15-500). Negative control slides were used to account for background staining not indicative of CYP1A1 expression, and were processed without use anti-CYP1A1 antibody. Positive controls of tissues known to display high CYP1A1 expression (Fertall 2010) were used to verify appropriate staining as well.

Because vascular endothelial cells of the arterial system and capillaries are known to express the highest levels of CYP1A1 in the blubber (Angell et al. 2004, Montie et al. 2008, Wilson et al. 2007), CYP1A1 expression was quantified in these cells, below the dermal papillae to the lowest layer of each biopsy dart. CYP1A1 expression was quantitatively determined as a product of staining intensity (0-5 scale, 5 being the highest intensity) and occurrence (total number of stained endothelial cells). This product was normalized per area of blubber biopsy (mm²) as described by Montie et al. (2008). Area of tissue was determined through use of ImageJ 1.45m software (National Institutes of

Health, USA). Background staining of negative controls was subtracted from CYP1A1 expression determined for slides stained with primary antibody.

3.2.6. Contaminant analysis of blubber biopsies

Individual and total PCB concentrations (ng/g wet weight) were determined for

n = 31 false killer whale biopsies by the Northwest Fisheries Science Center via the gas

chromatography-mass spectrometry methods of Sloan et al. (2005) and Ylitalo et al.

(2009). Measured PCBs are listed in Table 3.2.

PCBs analyzed in this study (mono-ortho PCBs highlighted in bold)							
PCB17	PCB99	PCB177					
PCB18	PCB101	PCB180					
PCB28	PCB105	PCB183					
PCB31	PCB110	PCB187					
PCB33	PCB118	PCB191					
PCB44	PCB128	PCB194					
PCB49	PCB138	PCB195					
PCB52	PCB149	PCB199					
PCB66	PCB151	PCB205					
PCB70	PCB153	PCB206					
PCB74	PCB156	PCB208					
PCB82	PCB158	PCB209					
PCB87	PCB170						
PCB95	PCB171						

 Table 3.2. PCBs quantified in false killer whales of this study for comparison to

 CYP1A1 expression levels.

Percent lipid was determined in biopsies by thin-layer chromatography with flame ionization detection through the methods of Ylitalo et al. (2005). Lipid weight \sum PCB concentrations (ng/g lipid) were determined by dividing \sum PCB concentrations (ng/g wet weight) by (percent lipid * 0.01). Toxic Equivalency Quotients (TEQ) were determined for each individual biopsy sample based on the three AHR agonists measured in this

study: the mono-*ortho* PCBs 105, 118, and 156. The 2006 international mammalian toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) for PCB 105, 118, and 156 (0.00003) were multiplied by individual concentrations of these AHR agonists (using both wet weight ng/g and lipid weight ng/g), and then summed to determine TEQ (wet weight ng/g and lipid weight ng/g) for each individual biopsy sample (Van den Berg et al. 2006). For PCB 156, n = 4 were below the limit of detection (LOD). Therefore, we divided the LOD by two for an estimate of the contaminant concentration for these individuals.

3.2.7. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of CYP1A1 expression by species, age, and sex

CYP1A1 expression/area (mm²) was transformed by the fourth root to improve data normality and homogeneity of variances. One-way ANOVA was performed for species, and a Tukey-Kramer post-hoc test was used to determine pairwise differences among the groups. Factorial ANOVA was conducted for age and sex, excluding individuals with undetermined sex or probable age estimates. Because there was no interaction between age and sex, one-way ANOVAs were conducted for age and sex individually. In the case of the one-way ANOVA for age, only probable age estimates were excluded. For the one-way ANOVA by sex, only undetermined sexes were excluded.

Statistical analysis of CYP1A1 expression in false killer whales

Within false killer whales, differences in CYP1A1 expression and contaminant levels among social clusters were analyzed using one-way ANOVA. Differences in

CYP1A1 expression and contaminant levels for age and sex within false killer whales were analyzed using factorial and one-way ANOVA. For the above statistical tests, data were transformed with the fourth root to improve normality and homogeneity of variances. Linear regression was used for analysis of the relationship between CYP1A1 expression (dependent variable) and contaminant levels (\sum PCBs (ng/g wet weight), \sum PCBs (ng/g lipid), TEQ (ng/g wet weight), and TEQ (ng/g lipid) (independent variables). CYP1A1 was log-transformed when analyzing the relationship between expression and TEQ, so that distribution of residuals did not violate normality.

For the above statistical tests on false killer whales, analyses were conducted with and without the exclusion of three individual outliers that expressed unusual patterns of CYP1A1 expression and contaminant levels. These individuals included HIPc220, a probable adult female with extremely low contaminant levels: 310 ng/g wet weight, 2,164 ng/g lipid weight (concentrations 9 and 10 times less than the lower 95% mean of 2,735 ng/g wet weight and 21,414 ng/g lipid weight respectively). HIPc220 had the highest CYP1A1 expression score (3 times greater than the upper 95% mean of $16.47/\text{mm}^2$). It is hypothesized that HIPc220 may have been a post-partum female who previously offloaded contaminants to her offspring through lactation as seen in other studies (Addison and Brodie 1987, Borrell et al. 1995). The other two excluded individuals were HIPc184, an adult male, and HIPc266, a probable subadult female. Both individuals had the highest Σ PCBs (respectively, 3 and 4 times greater Σ PCBs (ng/g wet weight) as the upper 95% mean of 6,434 ng/g, 2 times greater $\sum PCBs$ (ng/g lipid) as the upper 95% mean of 38,819 ng/g). HIPc184 and HIPc266 had low CYP1A1 expression scores, 2 times less than the lower 95% mean of $8.21/\text{mm}^2$. It is possible that these two individuals

down-regulated CYP1A1 expression at very high contaminant exposure, as seen in previous studies in liver (Schlezinger and Stegeman 2001, Wilson et al. 2005).

Design considerations and post-hoc analyses

For all ANOVA and linear regression analyses in this study, $\alpha = 0.05$. Groups with n < 5 were excluded from ANOVA analyses, except for the analyses of age and sex within species groups (melon-headed whales, rough toothed dolphins, and short-finned pilot whales) in which it was not possible to exclude a group (see Table 3.3). Groups with n < 5 were also not excluded in the analysis of CYP1A1 expression for age groups within female false killer whales, and sex within the juvenile age group (see Table 3.4). It was not possible to exclude a group with n < 5 from these analyses because there were only two groups in which to make comparisons.

Post-hoc power analyses were conducted following ANOVA tests for which no significant differences were observed. A small effect size, $\delta = 0.10$, and a large effect size, $\delta = 0.50$, were used. Because data were transformed with the fourth root in this study for ANOVA analyses, effect sizes were also transformed with the fourth root to become $\delta = 0.56$ and $\delta = 0.84$. Calculated power was transformed back with the fourth power for reporting results. Data were analyzed using JMP 9.0.2 Statistical software (©2010 SAS Institute Inc).

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Does CYP1A1 differ significantly among species?

CYP1A1 was expressed specifically in key cell types and exhibited variability among individuals in this study (Figure 3.2 A-D).



Figure 3.2. Representative CYP1A1 expression in biopsies. (A & B) Photos of blubber in the free ranging false killer whale HIPc210, an adult male from cluster 1; 40x objective. (C &D) Photos of rough-toothed dolphin with unidentified age and gender; 20x objective. Arrows point to vessels with endothelial cells expressing CYP1A1 (A & C) in tissues treated with anti-CYP1A1 antibody, and with no CYP1A1 detection (B & D) in negative control tissues. For scale, a 100 micrometer bar is placed on each photograph. Photos (c) Kerry Foltz.

For the analysis of CYP1A1 expression by species, six out of ten species had large enough sample sizes (n > 4) for comparisons among groups. CYP1A1 expression in false killer whales differed significantly from expression in melon-headed whales (p =0.010) (Figure 3.3) Average CYP1A1 expression ranged from lowest expression found in melon-headed whales, to higher expression (in increasing order) found in pygmy killer whales, short-finned pilot whales, pantropical spotted dolphins, rough-toothed dolphins, and false killer whales. For the analysis of differences among all species except false killer whales and melon-headed whales, the probability (power) to detect significant differences at $\delta = 0.10$ and $\delta = 0.50$ in the sample set of 53 individuals was 1.00 and 1.00 respectively.



Figure 3.3. Average CYP1A1 expression for Hawaiian odontocetes. The sample set included n = 113 individuals. The asterisks show that false killer whales and melonheaded whales differed significantly from one another in the Tukey-Kramer test (p = 0.010). Species highlighted in light gray were excluded from the ANOVA and Tukey-Kramer test because of small sample size (n < 5). Error bars represent standard error.

3.3.2. Are there significant differences among age class and sex for all species pooled?

No interaction was found between age and sex in this study across all samples (p = 0.170). Thus, differences in CYP1A1 expression for age and sex were examined over the entire data set. No significant differences were found among different age classes (p = 0.308). The power to detect significant differences at $\delta = 0.10$ and $\delta = 0.50$ in

the sample set of 100 individuals was 1.00 and 1.00 respectively, confirming that these conditions would be adequate to see differences among age classes if they were present. Average CYP1A1 expression decreased with age group in this study, with juveniles displaying the highest average expression, and adults displaying the lowest average expression (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4. Average CYP1A1 expression for different age classes. No significant trends were found, p > 0.05. The sample set included n = 100 individuals. Individuals that had only probable estimates of age were excluded from the ANOVA analysis. Error bars represent standard error.

No significant differences for found for sex (p = 0.552). Power to detect

significant differences at $\delta = 0.10$ and $\delta = 0.50$ in the sample set of 83 individuals was

1.00 and 1.00 respectively. On average, females displayed higher CYP1A1 expression

(Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5. Average CYP1A1 expression by sex. No significant trends were found, p > 0.05. The sample set included n = 82 individuals. Error bars represent standard error.

3.3.3. Are there significant differences among age and sex within species groups?

Age and sex were examined within species groups with large enough total sample sizes (n > 5). For rough-toothed dolphins, no significant differences were found for sex (p = 0.473). No significant differences were found for age (p = 0.319). For melon-headed whales (all of which were adults), no significant differences were found for sex (p = 0.490). For short-finned pilot whales (all of which were males), no significant differences were found for age (p = 0.263). Although pantropical spotted dolphins had a large sample size (n = 23), all sexes were unknown and all individuals were adults except for one subadult. Therefore, this species group was not examined for age and sex differences.

The above results are summarized in Table 3.3 with corresponding sample sizes and power to detect significant differences. False killer whales were also examined for differences among age and sex, and the results are reported in the paragraphs below.

Species	P-value	power at	Sample	P-value	power at	Sample
	for age	$\delta =$	size	for sex	$\delta =$	size
		0.1, 0.5			0.1, 0.5	
melon-headed whales	A	ll samples were adults	, n/a	0.490	1.00, 1.00	N = 15 n = 4 females n = 11 males
rough-toothed dolphins	0.319	1.00, 1.00	N = 10 n = 5 adults n = 3 subadults n = 2 juveniles	0.473	1.00, 1.00	N = 14 n = 7 females n = 7 males
short-finned pilot whales	0.263	0.96, 1.00	N = 14 $n = 12$ adults $n = 2$ subadults	All samples were males, n/a		

Table 3.3. Analysis of CYP1A1 by age and sex within species groups with large enough sample sizes (n > 5).

3.3.4. Analysis of false killer whale biopsy samples by age, gender, and social cluster

The following paragraphs review results obtained for CYP1A1 expression and contaminant levels within false killer whale blubber biopsies. The results reported in the paragraphs below are for statistical tests run with the exclusion of the three individual outliers mentioned previously (HIPc184, HIPc220, HIPc266), that displayed unusual levels and patterns in CYP1A1 expression and contaminant levels. However, all results, sample sets, and power for statistical tests with and without exclusion of outliers are reported Table 3.4 (CYP1A1 expression) and Table 3.5 (contaminant levels). Significant results did not vary when including or excluding these individuals in analyses by age, sex, or cluster. In some cases, the individual outliers were already excluded because of unknown cluster or probable estimates of age.

CYP1A1 by age and sex for false killer whales

An age and sex interaction (p = 0.015) for CYP1A1 expression occurred within the false killer whale species group. No significant differences in CYP1A1 expression were found for age class in false killer whales across all sexes (p = 0.195). No significant differences in CYP1A1 expression were found for sex in false killer whales across all age classes (p = 0.812). Within males, there was a significant difference based on age (p =0.016). Juveniles had higher average CYP1A1 expression (Figure 3.6). Within females, no significant differences existed for age (p = 0.324). Within juveniles, there was a significant difference for sex (p = 0.015), with males having higher average CYP1A1 expression compared to females (although sample size was very low for females, n = 3). Within adults, no significant differences occurred for sex (p = 0.381).



Figure 3.6. Average CYP1A1 expression by age class within male false killer whales. The asterisk represents significant differences found between the two age classes, p = 0.016. The sample set included n = 14 individuals. The individual outlier HIPc184 was excluded. Error bars represent standard error.

Contaminant levels by age and sex for false killer whales

No interactions were found for age and sex in factorial ANOVAs for $\sum PCBs$ wet weight (p = 0.485), $\sum PCBs$ lipid weight (p = 0.589), TEQ wet weight (p = 0.492), and TEQ lipid weight (p = 0.501). No significant differences were found based on age: $\sum PCBs$ wet weight (p = 0.417), $\sum PCBs$ lipid weight (p = 0.921), TEQ wet weight (p = 0.093), and TEQ lipid weight (p = 0.197). No significant differences were found based on sex: $\sum PCBs$ wet weight (p = 0.620), $\sum PCBs$ lipid weight (p = 0.326), TEQ wet weight (p = 0.768), and TEQ lipid weight (p = 0.369).

CYP1A1 and contaminant levels by cluster

No significant differences in CYP1A1 expression were found among social clusters 1, 2, and 3 (p = 0.406) (Figure 3.7). However, false killer whales from cluster 3 had higher average CYP1A1 expression overall. Contaminant levels did not differ significantly among social clusters 1 and 2: p = 0.856 (Σ PCBs wet weight), p = 0.823 (Σ PCBs lipid weight, Figure 3.8), p = 0.975 (TEQ wet weight), and p = 0.907 (TEQ lipid weight). No consistent trends were observed among Cluster 1 and Cluster 2 animals for contaminant levels. Although Cluster 3 was excluded from the ANOVA analysis because of small sample size (n = 4), this social group had higher average Σ PCBs (ng/g lipid weight) and TEQ (ng/g lipid and wet weight) compared to Cluster 1 and Cluster 2 animals.



Figure 3.7. Average CYP1A1 expression among false killer whale social clusters. No significant trends were found, p > 0.05. The sample set included n = 29 individuals. Individual outliers (n = 2) were excluded from these analyses. Error bars represent standard error.





Table 3.4. CYP1A1 expression trends in false killer whales. CYP1A1 was examined by factorial ANOVA without and with exclusion of individual outliers HIPc184, HIPc220, HIPc266. Significant p-values obtained are noted in bold print. Power was determined at $\delta = 0.10$ and $\delta = 0.50$, and it is reported in the respective order.

	Without exclusion of individual outliers				With exclusion of individual outliers			
	P-value	Power at δ= 0.1, 0.5	Sample size	Individual(s) excluded	P-value	Power at δ= 0.1, 0.5	Sample size	Individual(s) excluded
Cluster	0.400	1.00 1.00	N = 31; Cluster 1: n = 17 Cluster 2: n = 6 Cluster 3: n = 8	Undetermined clusters, $n = 5$	0.406	1.00 1.00	N = 29; Cluster 1: n = 16 Cluster 2: n = 5 Cluster 3: n = 8	Undetermined clusters, <i>n</i> = 5; HIPc220, HIPc266
Age	0.170	1.00 1.00	N = 24 Juveniles: n = 8 Adults: n = 16	Probable estimates of age, $n = 12$	0.195	1.00 1.00	N = 23 Juveniles: n = 8 Adults: n = 15	Probable estimates of age, $n = 12$; HIPc184
Gender	0.845	1.00 1.00	N = 36 Females: n = 17 Males: n = 19	None excluded	0.812	1.00 1.00	N = 33 Females: n = 15 Males: n = 18	HIPc184, HIPc220, HIPc266
Age within sex (females)	0.324	0.91 1.00	N = 9 Juveniles: n = 3 Adults: n = 6	Probable estimates of age, $n = 8$	Same result as without exclusion (HIPc184, only outlier with known age, is a male and not analyzed here)			
Age within sex (males)	0.010	1.00 1.00	N = 15 Juveniles: n = 5 Adults: n = 10	Probable estimates of age, $n = 4$	0.016	1.00 1.00	N = 14 Juveniles: n = 5 Adults: n = 9	Probable estimates of age, $n = 4$; HIPc184
Sex within age (juveniles)	0.015	1.00 1.00	N = 8 Females n = 3 Males: n = 5	Probable estimates of age, $n = 4$	Same result as without exclusion (HIPc184, only outlier with known age, is an adult and not analyzed here)			
Sex within age (adults)	0.338	1.00 1.00	N = 16 Females n = 6 Males: n = 10	Probable estimates of age, $n = 4$	0.381	1.00 1.00	N = 15 Females n = 6 Males: n = 9	Probable estimates of age, $n = 4$; HIPc184

Table 3.5. Contaminant level trends in false killer whales. Contaminant levels were examined by factorial ANOVA, without and with exclusion of individual outliers HIPc184, HIPc220, HIPc266. Results under significance and power are given in the order of $\sum PCBs$ (ng/g wet weight), $\sum PCBs$ (ng/g lipid weight), TEQ (ng/g wet weight), TEQ (ng/g lipid weight). Power was determined at $\delta = 0.10$ and $\delta = 0.50$, and it is reported in the respective order. Sample set varies with that of CYP1A1 expression because n = 5 false killer whales were not analyzed for contaminants.

	With	out exclu	usion of i utliers	ndividual	With e	exclusion of	of individu	al outliers
	P- value	Power at δ= 0.1, 0.5	Sample size	Individual(s) excluded	P- value	Power at δ= 0.1, 0.5	Sample size	Individual(s) excluded
Cluster			N = 22 Cluster 1: n = 16 Cluster 2: n = 6	Undetermined clusters, $n = 5$. Cluster 3, $n < 4$			N = 20 Cluter 1: n = 15 Cluster 2: n = 5	Undetermined clusters, n = 5; Cluster 3, n < 4
∑PCBs (ng/g wet weight)	0.281	0.007 0.09			0.856	0.04 0.35		HIPc220, HIPc266
∑PCBs (ng/g lipid weight)	0.303	0.0003 0.005			0.823	0.0005 0.005		
TEQ (ng/g wet weight)	0.336	1.00 1.00			0.975	1.00 1.00		
TEQ (ng/g lipid weight)	0.321	1.00 1.00			0.907	1.00 1.00		
Age			N = 20 Juveniles: n = 7 Adults: n = 13	Probable estimates of age, $n = 11$			N = 19 Juveniles: n = 7 Adults: n = 12	Probable estimates of age, $n = 12$; HIPc184
∑PCBs (ng/g wet weight)	0.859	0.03 0.28			0.417	0.10 0.63		
∑PCBs (ng/g lipid weight)	0.858	0.007 0.55			0.921	0.008 0.11		

TEQ (ng/g wet weight)	0.350	1.00 1.00			0.09	1.00 1.00		
TEQ (ng/g lipid weight)	0.325	1.00 1.00			0.197	1.00 1.00		
Gender								
			N = 31 Females: n = 15 Males: n = 16	None excluded			N = 28 Females: n = 13 Males: n = 15	HIPc184, HIPc220, HIPc266
∑PCBs (ng/g wet weight)	0.398	0.03 0.27			0.620	0.16 0.76		
∑PCBs (ng/g lipid weight)	0.223	0.002 0.04			0.326	0.004 0.05		
TEQ (ng/g wet weight)	0.623	1.00 1.00			0.768	1.00 1.00		
TEQ (ng/g lipid weight)	0.232	1.00 1.00			0.369	1.00 1.00		

3.3.5. Do contaminant levels and CYP1A1 expression correlate within false killer whale samples?

Without omission of the individual outliers HIPc184, HIPc220, and HIPc266, no statistical significance was present for all relationships between contaminant levels and CYP1A1 expression: \sum PCBs wet weight ($R^2 = 0.00, p = 0.883$), \sum PCBs lipid weight ($R^2 = 0.01, p = 0.564$), TEQ wet weight ($R^2 = 0.05, p = 0.698$), and TEQ lipid weight ($R^2 = 0.06, p = 0.895$). However, with exclusion of the three individual outliers, a significant relationship was found between CYP1A1 expression and \sum PCBs (ng/g wet weight) ($R^2 = 0.36, p = 0.001$), along with \sum PCBs lipid weight (ng/g lipid weight) ($R^2 = 0.015$). However, there was no significant relationship between CYP1A1 expression and

TEQ wet weight ($R^2 = 0.09$, p = 0.226), and CYP1A1 expression and TEQ lipid weight ($R^2 = 0.04$, p = 0.430) (Figure 3.9 A-D).



Figure 3.9. Relationship between CYP1A1 expression and \sum PCBs or TEQ (ng/g) in false killer whales. The sample set included n = 28 individuals. A) CYP1A1 expression/area correlated significantly with \sum PCBs (ng/g wet weight) (p < 0.05) as indicated by the solid line ($R^2 = 0.36$, p = 0.001). B) Significance was found between CYP1A1 expression/area and \sum PCBs (ng/g lipid weight) ($R^2 = 0.20$, p = 0.015). C) No significance was found between CYP1A1 expression/area and TEQ (ng/g wet weight) as indicated by the dashed line ($R^2 = 0.09$, p = 0.226). D) No significance was found between CYP1A1 expression/area and TEQ (ng/g lipid weight) ($R^2 = 0.04$, p = 0.430).

3.4. Discussion

Analysis of CYP1A1 expression in blubber biopsies from free-ranging animals provides a glimpse at the molecular effects related to contaminant exposure in presumably healthy, active odontocetes. In order to analyze CYP1A1 expression in these samples, however, tissue area or depth should be accounted for because of highest CYP1A1 expression found in the deep blubber layer (Chapter 2, Montie et al. 2008). This study examined CYP1A1 expression/area (mm²) in blubber biopsy samples from freeranging Hawaiian odontocetes.

3.4.1. Differences in CYP1A1 expression among species

This study compares CYP1A1 expression across ten different species, and it suggests an influence of trophic ecology on CYP1A1 expression. Significant differences in CYP1A1 expression between false killer whales and melon-headed whales in this study may indicate that these species feed at different trophic levels, and thus have different contaminant burdens. Relatively few stomach contents of melon-headed whales have been analyzed, but they are thought to mainly consume pelagic and mesopelagic fish and squid (Best and Shaughnessy 1981, Clarke and Young 1998). Analysis of stomach contents of stranded melon-headed whales in Hawai'i reveal that these animals eat a variety of squid and mesopelagic fish species, such as *Nansenia* sp., *Diaphus* sp., *Lampadena* sp.; stomach contents also revealed bathypelagic species such as Sloane's viperfish (*Chauliodus sloani*), black snaggletooth (*Astronesthes indicus*), and short fin pearl eye (*Scopelarchus analis*) (K. West, pers. comm.). False killer whales are known to eat large pelagic fish (Baird et al. 2008a, Chivers et al. 2007), many of which are

commercially caught. Documented prey include yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*), albacore tuna (*Thunnus alalunga*), skipjack tuna (*Katsuwonus pelamis*), broadbill swordfish (*Xiphias gladius*), dolphin fish (or mahimahi, *Coryphaena hippurus*), wahoo (or ono, *Acanthocybium solandri*), and lustrous pomfret (or monchong, *Eumegistus illustrus*) (Baird et al. 2008a). Based on the differences in prey consumption between false killer whales and melon-headed whales, it is likely that false killer whales feed at a higher trophic level than melon-headed whales.

CYP1A1 expression in other species groups may also reveal trophic differences. For example, Blainville's beaked whale with a small sample size (n = 3) displayed the highest average expression, and feed primarily on bathypelagic cephalopods (Baird et al. 2006, McSweeney et al. 2007). Although these prey species are found in the remote deep-sea environment, recent studies indicate that the deep-ocean is a sink for hydrophobic organochlorines such as PCBs (de Brito et al. 2002). Considerable levels of Σ PCBs are found in deep-sea organisms such as cephalopods (de Brito et al. 2002, Ueno et al. 2003). Moreover, preliminary data indicate that Blainville's beaked whale feed at a higher trophic level than short-finned pilot whales (Baird et al. 2009a), and higher average CYP1A1 expression was found in Blainville's beaked whale in this study compared to short-finned pilot whales. Bottlenose dolphins also had relatively high CYP1A1 expression in this study. Although little is known about the diet of bottlenose dolphins in Hawai'i, individuals have been observed feeding on large (> 50cm) unidentified fish (Baird et al. 2009b).

Species groups with middle-range CYP1A1 expression included pantropical spotted dolphins, rough-toothed dolphins, and short-finned pilot whales. Pantropical

spotted dolphins are thought to forage in association with the deep-scattering layer (Baird et al. 2001), and they are known to eat mesopelagic fish such as myctophids and squid species (particularly, *Noploteuthis* sp. and *Abraliopsis* sp.) (Clarke and Young 1998). Rough-toothed dolphins are thought to feed primarily on near-surface species. They have been observed chasing needlefish and flying fish species, circling groups of small (5-15 cm in length) fish, and holding squid parts in their mouths (Baird et al. 2008b). Little is known on the diet of short-finned pilot whales, yet they have been observed carrying pieces of squid remains in their mouths (Baird, pers. comm. with Mahaffy 2012).

In this study, pygmy killer whales (n = 5) displayed relatively low CYP1A1 expression, and data is sparse on this species' diet. Because of lack of foraging observations in Hawai'i, it is hypothesized that pygmy killer whales feed at great depth, or during the night on prey that travel closer to the surface in association with the deepscattering layer (McSweeney et al. 2009). Their diet may be similar to that of melonheaded whales, since many of the prey of melon-headed whales (mentioned previously) travel closer to the surface at night. Similar diets between these two species would explain their similar levels of CYP1A1 expression. The two Cuvier's beaked whales and the sperm whale in this study (n = 1) also displayed low CYP1A1 expression (the sperm whale having the lowest expression overall). Both of these species feed primarily on squid (Baird et al. 2006, Clarke et al. 1993, Evans and Hindell 2004, McSweeney et al. 2007). Stomach contents of sperm whales (n = 2) that stranded in Hawai'i contained *Histioteuthis hoylei, Ommastrephes bartrami*, and *Architeuthis* sp. in highest percentages (Clarke and Young 1998).

3.4.2. CYP1A1 expression in sex and age groups

No significant differences were found among sex and age class across all species. Within male false killer whales, juveniles had significantly higher CYP1A1 expression compared to adults. Furthermore, within juveniles, males had significantly higher CYP1A1 expression than females. Underrepresentation of females (n = 3) is important to note for this analysis. When all age and gender groups were pooled, females had higher average CYP1A1 expression, although this result was not significant.

Although many studies have reported lack of significant CYP1A1 expression trends for sex (Godard-Codding et al. 2011, Jauniaux et al. 2011, Montie et al. 2008, Wilson 2003, Wilson et al. 2007, 2010) and age class (Wilson 2003, Wilson et al. 2007, 2010), a small amount of studies have reported CYP1A1 expression trends in cetaceans with respect to sex and age. Montie et al. (2008) found a significant difference in CYP1A1 expression by age class in the superficial blubber layer of bottlenose dolphins. Subadults (all genders combined) had higher CYP1A1 expression than adults within this blubber layer. This result was explained by the fact that with age, adults experience lipid loss (and subsequent contaminant mobilization) within the deep blubber layer, leading to predominant CYP1A1 expression within this layer. Because the biopsy samples of the present study contain mostly the superficial to middle blubber layers (only 7% contained the deep blubber layer), and the outermost blubber layer becomes less important metabolically with age (Koopman et al. 1996), higher CYP1A1 levels would be expected in juveniles compared to adults. This result may have been confined to male odontocetes because of the variability in metabolic phases of adult females that occurs with cycles of birth and lactation.

Similar to a previous analysis of CYP1A1 in a variety of Hawaiian cetacean species (Fertall 2010), no significant differences in expression for sex and age were found across pooled sex and age classes, across all species. The wide variety of species analyzed in Fertall (2010) and the present study could potentially reduce the ability to distinguish significant differences in CYP1A1 expression among sex and age. For a better assessment of these trends in CYP1A1 expression, future studies should assess expression within particular species groups with large enough sample size and extensive individual data, including reproductive history.

3.4.3. CYP1A1 as a biomarker of contaminant exposure

This study is the first to establish the use of CYP1A1 expression as a biomarker of contaminant exposure in free-ranging Hawaiian odontocetes. Observed trends are consistent with many studies from different regions around the world (Godard et al. 2004, Montie et al. 2008, White et al. 1994, Wilson et al. 2007). In the present study, CYP1A1 expression in false killer whale biopsies significantly correlated with Σ PCBs (ng/g wet weight) and Σ PCBs (ng/g lipid weight) with the exclusion of three individual outliers.

Although ∑PCBs significantly correlated with CYP1A1 expression, TEQ (ng/g wet weight) and TEQ (ng/g lipid weight) did not. Lack of a significant correlation between TEQ and CYP1A1 expression may be because TEQ was determined based only on the three mono-*ortho* congeners PCB 105, 118, 156, all of which have a relatively low TEF of 0.00003 (Safe 1998, Van den Berg et al. 2006). These three mono-*ortho* PCBs were the only known AHR agonists measured in this study. Furthermore, mono-*ortho* PCBs are not the strongest inducers of CYP1A1 compared to the non-*ortho* congeners (Zeiger et al. 2001) that show more similar patterns of biological responses to TCDD (Safe 1998). Similar findings were reported by Wilson et al. (2007), in which CYP1A1 expression in the lower dermis weakly correlated with total PCBs, yet not with mono*ortho* PCBs. The significant relationship between \sum PCBs and CYP1A1 expression, yet not TEQ and CYP1A1 expression, may indicate that individuals with higher contaminant burdens overall have a greater likelihood of being exposed to AHR agonists not measured in this study, such as non-*ortho* PCBs and PAHs.

3.4.4. Analysis of CYP1A1 expression among false killer whale social cluster

False killer whale social clusters reveal differential habitat use (Baird et al. 2012), so different levels of contaminant responses might be expected. No significant differences in CYP1A1 expression among social cluster were observed in this study. However, on average, cluster 3 animals had higher CYP1A1 expression and contaminant levels, followed by cluster 1 and cluster 2 animals respectively (refer back to Figure 3.7). Although Cluster 3 animals share a similar overall range with Cluster 1 animals, they have different patterns of habitat use (Baird et al. 2012). Cluster 3 animals primarily use the area north of Maui to northwest of Moloka'i, while Cluster 1 animals have high density in the north end of the island of Hawai'i (but appear to commonly use the north and northwest side of Moloka'i as well, and southwest side of Lana'i). Based on photo-identification data, Cluster 2 animals are sighted most often off the island of Hawai'i (Baird et al. 2012), but since they are seen there only rarely, it is not known where they spend most of their time (R.W. Baird, pers. comm.). Therefore, the CYP1A1 expression trends may be a result of different high density areas of habitat utilization and variable

diet among clusters. Prey organisms on the north and northwest side of Moloka'i (primarily used by Cluster 3 animals, and sometimes Cluster 1 animals) may represent higher average trophic level, since this region has been observed to contain the highest density of apex predators in comparison to a variety of locations in the main Hawaiian Islands (south shore of Lana'i, north shore of Maui and Molokini Crater, and the east and northeast shores of O'ahu) (Coles et al. 2008). The remote nature of the north and northwest side of Moloka'i may result in low fishing pressure that allows for greater numbers of species at higher trophic levels, although some fishing occurs in this region during calm periods (E. Brown, pers. comm. with Coles et al. 2008).

3.4.5. Conclusions

CYP1A1 was detected in all free-ranging odontocetes examined in this study. This confirms a biological response to contaminant exposure in all species of Hawaiian cetaceans examined. The results of this study indicate that trophic position influences CYP1A1 expression patterns, yet more information is needed in regard to habitat use and diet preferences for Hawaiian odontocete species. For false killer whales, a larger sample size and more information on habitat use may reveal patterns of CYP1A1 expression among social clusters. In this study, average levels of expression differed among social cluster, and the trends of expression and contaminant levels were consistent with each other.

The significant correlation between ∑PCBs and CYP1A1 expression, yet not with TEQ and CYP1A1 expression, suggests that CYP1A1 expression is caused by a broader suite of AHR agonists than was measured for this study. Future contaminant analysis,

including a larger suite of dioxin like HAH and PAHs, will be useful for determining whether or not CYP1A1 expression in blubber biopsies is an effective biomarker of AHR agonist exposure for Hawaiian odontocetes. Data on reproductive history in females will be critical for future analysis, because post-partum females should be excluded from contaminant and CYP1A1 linear regression analysis due to the influence of contaminant offloading during lactation.

Importantly, the insular false killer whale stock in Hawai'i is now classified as endangered under the Endangered Species Act (Department of Commerce and NOAA 2012). Fisheries interactions and high levels of POPs are critical anthropogenic stressors to this population (Baird 2009, Ylitalo et al. 2009). In the current study, false killer whales showed evidence of contaminant impacts with higher CYP1A1 expression levels compared to melon-headed whales, and higher average CYP1A1 expression relative to other species overall. Future analysis of CYP1A1 in blubber biopsies is encouraged to continue monitoring the health of Hawaiian odontocetes, particulary for the endangered insular false killer whale stock.

Works Cited

- Addison RF and Brodie P. 1987. Transfer of organochlorine residues from blubber through the circulatory system in milk in lactating grey seal, *Halichoerus grypus*. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 44:782-786.
- Aguilar A, Borrell A. 1994. Abnormally high polychlorinated biphenyl levels in striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) affected by the 1990-1992 Mediterranean epizootic. Sci Total Environ 154:237-247.
- Angell CM, Wilson JY, Moore MJ, Stegeman JJ. 2004. Cytochrome P450 1A1 expression in cetacean integument: implications for detecting contaminant exposure and effects. Mar Mammal Sci 20(3):554-56.
- Bachman M. In preparation. Persistent organic pollutant concentrations and investigation of CYP1A1 as a biomarker in cetaceans stranded in the Hawaiian Islands [M.Sc. Thesis]. [Kaneohe, (HI)]: Hawai'i Pacific University.
- Baird RW. 2009. A review of false killer whales in Hawaiian waters: biology, status, and risk factors. Report prepared for the U.S. Marine Mammal Commission under Order No. E40475499.
- Baird RW, Gorgone AM, McSweeney DJ, Ligon AD, Deakos MH, Webster DL, Schorr GS, Martien KK, Salden DR, Mahaffy SD. 2009b. Population structure of island-associated dolphins: evidence from photo-identification of common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in the main Hawaiian Islands. Mar Mammal Sci 25:251-274.
- Baird RW, Gorgone AM, McSweeney DJ, Webster DL, Salden DR, Deakos MH, Ligon AD, Schorr GS, Barlow J, Mahaffy SD. 2008a. False killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*) around the main Hawaiian Islands: long-term site fidelity, inter-island movements, and association patterns. Mar Mammal Sci 24:591–612.
- Baird RW, Hanson MB, Schorr GS, Webster DL, McSweeney DJ, Gorgone AM, Mahaffy SD, Holzer D, Oleson EM, Andrews RD. 2012. Range and primary habitats of the Hawaiian insular false killer whales: an assessment to inform determination of "critical habitat." Endang Species Res 18:47-61.
- Baird RW, Ligon AD, Hooker SK, and Gorgone AM. 2001. Subsurface and nighttime behaviour of pantropical spotted dolphins in Hawai'i. Can J Zool 79:988–996.
- Baird RW, McSweeney DJ, Schorr GS, Mahaffy SD, Webster DL, Barlow J, Hanson MB, Turner JP, Andrews RD. 2009a. Studies of beaked whales in Hawai'i: population size, movements, trophic ecology, social organization and behaviour. ECS Special Publication 51:23-25.
- Baird RW, Webster DL, Mahaffy SD, McSweeney DJ, Schorr GS, Ligon AD. 2008b. Site fidelity and association patterns in a deep-water dolphin: rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*) in the Hawaiian Archipelago. Mar Mammal Sci 24:535–553.
- Baird RW, Webster DL, McSweeney DJ, Ligon AD, Schorr GS, Barlow J. 2006. Diving behaviour of Cuvier's (*Ziphius cavirostris*) and Blainville's (*Mesoplodon densirostris*) beaked whales in Hawai'i. Can J Zoolog 84:1120–1128.
- Best PB, Shaughnessy PD. 1981. First record of the melon-headed whale, *Peponocephala electra*, from South Africa. Ann S Afr Mus 83(3):33-47.
- Borrell A, Bloch D, Desportes G. 1995. Age trends and reproductive transfer of organochlorine compounds in long-finned pilot whales from the Faroe Islands. Environ Pollut 88:283-292.
- Brouwer A, Morse DC, Lans MC, Schuur AG, Murk AJ, Klasson-Wehler E, Bergman A, Visser TJ. 1998. Interactions of persistent environmental organohalogens with the thyroid hormone system: mechanisms and possible consequences for animal and human health. Toxicol Ind Health 14:59-84.
- Brouwer A, Reijnders PJH, Koeman JH. 1989. Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)-contaminated fish induces vitamin A and thyroid hormone deficiency in the common seal (*Phoca vitulina*). Aquat Toxicol 15:99-106.
- Brasher AMD, Wolff RH. 2004. Relations between land use and organochlorine pesticides, PCBs, and semi-volatile organic compounds in streambed sediment and fish on the island of Oahu, Hawai'i. Arch Environ Con Tox 46:385-398.
- Chivers SJ, Baird RW, McSweeney DJ, Webster DL, Hedrick NM, Salinas JC. 2007. Genetic variation and evidence for population structure in eastern North Pacific false killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*). Can J Zoolog 85:783–794.
- Clarke MR, Martins HR, Pascoe P. 1993. The diet of sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus* Linnaeus 1758) off the Azores. Philos T Roy Soc B 339:67–82.
- Clarke M, Young R. 1998. Description and analysis of cephalopod beaks from stomachs of six species of odontocete cetaceans stranded on Hawaiian shores. J Mar Biol Assoc 78:623-641.
- Coles SL, Giuseffi L, Hutchinson M. 2008. Assessment of species composition, diversity and biomass in marine habitats and sub-habitats around offshore islets in the main Hawaiian Islands. Final Report prepared for the Hawai'i Coral Reef Initiative and the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation. Bishop Museum Technical Report 39:72 p.

- Conney AH. 1982. Induction of microsomal enzymes by foreign chemicals and carcinogenesis by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: G.H.A. Clowes Memorial Lecture. Cancer Res 42:4875–917.
- de Brito APX, Takahashi S, Ueno D, Iwata H, Tanabe S, Kubodera T. 2002. Organochlorine and butyltin residues in deep-sea organisms collected from the western North Pacific, off-Tohoku, Japan. Mar Pollut Bull 45:348-361.
- De Guise S, Martineau D, Beland P, Fournier M. 1998. Effects of in vitro exposure of beluga whale leukocytes to selected organochlorines. J Toxicol Environ Health Pt A 55:479-493.
- Denison MS, Pandini A, Nagy SR, Baldwin EP, Bonati L. 2002. Ligand binding and activation of the Ah receptor. Chem Biol Interact 141:3–24.
- Evans K, Hindell MA. 2004. The diet of sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) in southern Australian waters. ICES J Mar Sci 61:1313–1329.
- Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). 2012. Endangered and threatened wildlife and plants; endangered status for the main Hawaiian Islands insular false killer whale distinct population segment. Federal Register 229(77):70919-70939.
- Fertall S. 2010. The presence of persistent organic pollutants and expression of cytochrome P4501A1 in Hawaiian cetaceans [M. Sc. thesis]. [Kaneohe, (HI)]: Hawai'i Pacific University.
- Godard CAJ, Smolowitz RM, Wilson JY, Payne RS, Stegeman JJ. 2004. Induction of cetacean cytochrome P4501A1 by β-naphthoflavone exposure of skin biopsy slices. Toxicol Sci 80:268-275.
- Godard-Codding CA, Clark R, Fossi MC, Marsili L, Maltese S, West AG, Valenzuela L, Rowntree V, Polyak I, Cannon JC, Pinkerton K, Rubio-Cisneros N, Mesnick SL, Cox SB, Kerr I, Payne R, Stegeman JJ. 2011. Pacific Ocean–wide profile of CYP1A1 expression, stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios, and organic contaminant burden in sperm whale skin biopsies. Environ Health Perspect 119(3):337-343.
- Gu YZ, Hogenesch JB, Bradfield CA. 2000. The PAS superfamily: sensors of environmental and developmental signals. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 40:519-561.
- Harvey RG. 1991. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: chemistry and carcinogenicity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. p 1365–1373.
- Hunter CL, Stephenson MD, Tjeerdemas RS, Crosby DG, Ichikawa GS, Goetzl JD, Paulson KS, Crane DB, Martini M, Newmans JW. 1995. Contaminants in oysters, Kaneohe Bay, HI. Mar Pollut Bull 30(10):646-654.

- Jauniaux T, Farnir F, Fontaine M, Kiszka J, Sarlet M, Coignoul F. 2011. Cytochrome P450 1A1 expression in cetacean skin biopsies from the Indian Ocean. Mar Pollut Bull 62:1317-1319.
- Jepson PD, Bennett PM, Deaville R, Allchin CR, Baker JR, Law RJ. 2005. Relationships between polychlorinated biphenyls and health status in harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) stranded in the United Kingdom. Environ Toxicol Chem 24:238-248.
- Kaminsky LS, Kennedy MW, Adams SM, Guengerich FP. 1981. Metabolism of dichlorobiphenyls by highly purified isozymes of rat liver cytochrome P450. Biochemistry 20:7379-7384.
- Kannan K, Blankenship A, Jones P, Giesy J. 2000. Toxicity reference values for the toxic effects of polychlorinated biphenyls to aquatic mammals. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 6:181-201.
- Koopman HN, Iverson S, Gaskin D. 1996. Stratification and age-related differences in blubber fatty acids of the male harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*). J Comp Physiol B 135:628-639.
- Lahvis GP, Wells RS, Kuehl DW, Stewart JL, Rhinehart HL, Via CS. 1995. Decreased lymphocyte responses in free-ranging bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) are associated with increased concentrations of PCBs and DDT in peripheral blood. Environ Health Perspect 103:67-72.
- Lopez J, Boyd D, Ylitalo GM, Littnan C, Pearce R. 2012. Persistent organic pollutants in the endangered Hawaiian monk seal (*Monachus schauinslandi*) from the main Hawaiian Islands. Mar Pollut Bull 64(11):2588-2598.
- Mahaffy SD. 2012. Site fidelity, associations, and long-term bonds of short-finned pilot whales off the island of Hawai'i [M.Sc. Thesis]. [Portland, (OR)]: Portland State University.
- Martineau D, Beland P, Desjardins C, Lagace A. 1987. Levels of organochlorine chemicals in tissues of beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) from the St Lawrence Estuary, Quebec, Canada. Arch Environ Contamin Toxicol 16:137-147.
- McSweeney DJ, Baird RW, Mahaffy SD. 2007. Site fidelity, associations and movements of Cuvier's (*Ziphius cavirostris*) and Blainville's (*Mesoplodon densirostris*) beaked whales off the island of Hawai'i. Mar Mammal Sci 23:666–687.
- McSweeney DJ, Baird RW, Mahaffy SD, Webster DL, Schorr GS. 2009. Site fidelity and association patterns of a rare species: pygmy killer whales (*Feresa attenuata*) in the main Hawaiian Islands. Mar Mammal Sci 25:557-572.
- Miller EC, Miller JA. 1981. Mechanisms of chemical carcinogenesis. Cancer 47(Suppl. 5):1055–64.

- Mills RA, Millis CD, Dannan GA, Guengerich FP, Aust SD. 1985. Studies on the structureactivity relationships for the metabolism of polybrominated biphenyls by rat liver microsomes. Toxicol Appl Pharm 78:96-104.
- Montie EW, Fair PA, Bossart GD, Mitchum GB, Houde M, Muir DCG, Letcher RJ, McFee WE, Starczak VR, Stegeman JJ, Hahn ME. 2008. Cytochrome P4501A1 expression, polychlorinated biphenyls and hydroxylated metabolites, and adipocyte size of bottlenose dolphins from the southeast United States. Aquat Toxicol 86:397-412.
- Parkinson A. 1996. Biotransformation of xenobiotics. In: Klaassen CD, editor. Casarett and Doull's toxicology: the basic science of poisons. New York: McGraw-Hill Inc. p 113–186.
- Phillips DH. 1983. Fifty years of benzo(a)pyrene. Nature 303:468-72.
- Safe SH. 1998. Development validation and problems with the toxic equivalency factor approach for risk assessment of dioxins and related compounds. J Anim Sci 76:134-141.
- Schlezinger JJ and Stegeman JJ. 2001. Induction and suppression of cytochrome P450 1A by 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl and its relationship to oxidative stress in the marine fish scup (*Stenotomus chrysops*). Aquat Toxicol 52:101–115.
- Schmidt JV, Bradfield CA. 1996. Ah receptor signaling pathways. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 12: 55-89.
- Shimada T, Fujii-Kuriyama Y. 2004. Metabolic activation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons to carcinogens by cytochromes P450 1A1 and 1B1. Cancer Sci 95(1):1-6.
- Sloan CA, Brown DW, Pearce RW, Boyer RH, Bolton JL, Burrows DG, Herman DP, Krahn, MM. 2005. Determining aromatic hydrocarbons and chlorinated hydrocarbons in sediments and tissues using accelerated solvent extraction and gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. In: Ostrander GK, editor. Techniques in aquatic toxicology. Vol. 2, Chapter 35. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Ueno D, Inoue S, Ikeda K, Tanaka H, Yamada H, Tanabe S. 2003. Specific accumulation of polychlorinated biphenyls and organochlorine pesticides in Japanese common squid as a bioindicator. Environ Pollut 125:227-235.
- Van den Berg M, Birnbaum LS, Denison M, De Vito M, Farland W, Feeley M, Fiedler H, Hakansson H, Hanberg A, Haws L, et al. 2006. The 2005 World Health Organization reevaluation of human and mammalian toxic equivalency factors for dioxins and dioxinlike compounds. Toxicol Sci 93:223-241.
- Varanasi U. 1989. Metabolism of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the aquatic environment. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.

- Wania F, Mackay D. 1996. Tracking the distribution of persistent organic pollutants. Environ Sci Technol 30:390-396A.
- White RD, Hahn ME, Lockhart WL, Stegeman JJ. 1994. Catalytic and immunochemical characterization of hepatic microsomal cytochromes P450 in beluga whale. Toxicol Appl Pharm 126:45-57.
- White RD, Shea D, Schlezinger JJ, Hahn ME, Stegeman JJ. 2000. In vitro metabolism of polychlorinated biphenyl congeners by beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*) and pilot whale (*Globichephala melas*) and relationship to cytochrome P450 expression. Comp Biochem Physiol 126C:267-284.
- Whitlock JP Jr. 1999. Induction of cytochrome P4501A1. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 39:103–25.
- Wilson JY. 2003. Cytochrome P4501A1 and aromatase (CYP19) in cetaceans: Enzyme expression and relationship to contaminant exposure [Ph.D. thesis]. [Woods Hole, (MA)]: MIT/WHOI.
- Wilson JY, Cooke SR, Moore MJ, Martineau D, Mikaelian I, Metner DA, Lockhart WL, Stegeman JJ. 2005. Systemic effects of Arctic pollutants in beluga whales indicated by CYP1A1 expression. Environ Health Persp 113(11):1594-1599.
- Wilson JY, Moore MJ, Stegeman JJ. 2010. Catalytic and immunochemical detection of hepatic and extrahepatic microsomal cytochrome P450 1A1 (CYP1A1) in white-sided dolphin (*Lagenorhynchus acutus*). Aquat Toxicol 96:216–224.
- Wilson JY, Wells R, Aguilar A, Borrell A, Tornero V, Reijnders P, Moore M, Stegeman JJ. 2007. Correlates of cytochrome P450 1A1 (CYP1A1) expression in bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) integument biopsies. Toxicol Sci 97:111–119.
- Yang F, Wilcox B, Jin S, Aguirre AA, Rougee L, Xu Y, Lu Y. 2008. Detection and quantitative analysis of polychlorinated biphenyls in tilapia from Hawaiian waters. Chemosphere 73:133-137.
- Ylitalo GM, Baird RW, Yanagida GK, Webster DL, Shivers SJ, Bolton JL, Schorr GS, McSweeney DJ. 2009. High levels of persistent organic pollutants measured in blubber of island associated false killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*) around the main Hawaiian Islands. Mar Pollut Bull 58:1922-1952.
- Ylitalo GM, Myers M, Stewart BS, Yochem PK, Braun R, Kashinsky L, Boyd D, Antonelis GA, Atkinson S, Aguirre AA, Krahn MM. 2008. Organochlorine contaminants in endangered Hawaiian monk seals from four subpopulations in the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands. Mar Pollut Bull 56:231–244.

- Ylitalo GM, Yanagida GK, Hufnagle L, Jr., Krahn MM. 2005. Determination of lipid classes and lipid content in tissues of aquatic organisms using a thin layer chromatography/flame ionization detection (TLC/FID) microlipid method. In: Ostrander, GK, editor. Techniques in aquatic toxicology. Vol. 2, Chapter 12. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Zeiger M, Haag R, Hockel J, Schrenk D, Schmitz HJ. 2001. Inducing effects of dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyls on CYP1A in the human hepatoblastoma cell line HepG2, the rat hepatoma cell line H4IIE, and rat primary hepatocytes: comparison of relative potencies. Toxicol Sci 63:65–73.
- Zoeller RT, Dowling ALS, Herzig CTA, Iannacone EA, Gauger KJ, Bansal R. 2002. Thyroid hormone, brain development, and the environment. Environ Health Persp 110:355-361.

Chapter 4: Scientific Contribution of this Study and Future Research Suggestions

4.1. Contribution of this study

Prior to this work, there was no information on CYP1A1 expression in freeranging Hawaiian odontocetes. For stranded and free-ranging animals, full depth blubber and dart biopsy samples alike, CYP1A1 was present and significant differences existed among species. Furthermore, there were physiological trends in cellular distribution throughout the blubber of stranded animals, and it was further established that the blubber is multifunctional with distinct layering of adipocytes, endothelial cells, and CYP1A1.

This study primarily focused on two different analyses: cellular and CYP1A1 stratification in the blubber of stranded Hawaiian odontocetes (Chapter 2), and CYP1A1 presence in free-ranging Hawaiian odontocetes (Chapter 3). Assessment of cellular stratification and CYP1A1 stratification contributed to an understanding of how these processes are interrelated, with significant variability of adipocyte area in the deep blubber layer among condition groups indicating lipid mobilization, leading to stratification of CYP1A1 observed in the blubber. Patterns of cellular and CYP1A1 stratification in stranded Hawaiian odontocetes are most likely due to the fact that these animals experienced stress and lipid mobilization prior to stranding; however, a variety of other factors may explain stratification patterns such as reproduction/lactation in females, food availability, and potentially small-scale seasonal changes in water temperature observed in Hawai'i (Montie et al. 2008a, NOAA 2007).

It is unknown whether foraging at depth contributes to stratification of lipids and CYP1A1 expression in the blubber. However, this is an important consideration for future research because bottlenose dolphins from Charleston Harbor, SC, and Hawaiian odontocetes (that both display stratification of CYP1A1) potentially feed at greater depth

relative to dolphins from the shallow Indian River Lagoon (that did not show significant CYP1A1 stratification) (Indian River Lagoon National Estuary Program, Montie et al. 2008a, South Carolina Ports). In particular, many Hawaiian odontocetes are known to feed at mesopelagic and bathypelagic depths (Baird et al. 2006, Benoit-Bird and Au 2003, Clarke and Young 1998, McSweeney et al. 2007, Norris et al. 1994, Shomura and Hida 1965). Future stratification analyses should take into account diving behavior to see if time spent at depth affects cellular and CYP1A1 stratification.

Correlations of CYP1A1 expression among the blubber layers of stranded animals in Chapter 2 suggests that dart biopsy samples from free-ranging odontocetes are useful for analysis of CYP1A1. This is an important contribution toward the ability to monitor the health of free-ranging Hawaiian odontocetes, with special consideration for threatened populations such as the insular false killer whale (Baird 2009). Moreover, this study suggests procedures and considerations for future quantification of CYP1A1 expression in dart-biopsies. It is very important to take into account area of tissue when assessing CYP1A1 expression in dart biopsies, because depth of tissue retrieved varies depending on angle of biopsy entry (Todd et al. 1997), and CYP1A1 is found to be highest in the deep blubber layer (Chapter 2, Montie et al. 2008a). Only 7% of the dart biopsy samples in this study captured the deep blubber layer, yet, this percentage is high enough to influence CYP1A1 patterns observed among different species, gender, or age groups. Therefore, dividing CYP1A1 expression by area (mm²) reduces the influence of higher expression found in greater depth biopsy samples.

For the stranded animal analysis in Chapter 2, we assessed CYP1A1 expression per area, but also examined CYP1A1 expression per total number of endothelial cells.

Both scoring methods correlated significantly with one another. Blubber condition was quite variable among stranded animals, and smaller adipocytes were found in the deep blubber layer of thin animals relative to robust animals. Because more endothelial cells were also quantified in thin animals, we realized the importance of dividing CYP1A1 expression by total number of endothelial cells quantified to account for the potential greater ability to see CYP1A1 expression in thin animals. Less variability in blubber condition was visually distinguished within the free-ranging dart biopsy samples, yet the majority of these samples did not obtain the deep blubber layer in which adipocyte cell area fluctuates significantly based on animal condition. Therefore, we conclude that CYP1A1 expression/total number of endothelial cells is the most biologically sound method for quantifying CYP1A1 expression in stranded animal samples, and CYP1A1 expression/area is the most reasonable method for quantifying expression in free-ranging dart biopsy samples of variable depth.

This study also investigated some previously established trends in blubber dynamics seen within individual blubber layers. Montie et al. (2008b) predicted that the middle blubber layer shows ontogenetic changes with growth (decrease in adipocyte quantities) and changes with seasonal water temperature (adipocyte shrinkage), while the deep blubber layer varies primarily based on nutritive condition. In Chapter 2, we found significant differences in adipocyte area and quantity for age class only within the middle blubber layer, and significant differences in adipocyte area for animal condition solely within the deep blubber layer. Therefore, not only does the blubber show variability in cellular characteristics and CYP1A1 presence throughout depth, but there appear to be specific functions for each blubber layer. Many other studies have indicated that the deep

blubber layer is an active source of energy storage and supply (Koopman et al. 1996), yet few studies have described the changes that occur in the middle blubber layer with age or seasonal changes in water temperature. Decreases in surface-area-to-volume and increased demand for energy with growth (Dunkin et al. 2005, McLellan et al. 2002, Struntz et al. 2004) may explain changes in blubber composition with age in this study (larger adipocytes with increasing age).

4.2. Future assessments

The results of Chapter 2 of this thesis were beneficial for gaining a better understanding of blubber physiology: lipid and contaminant mobilization leading to CYP1A1 induction. Future research on cellular stratification should examine enzymes and receptors important for lipid storage and retrieval (e.g. hormone-sensitive lipase, adipose triglyceride lipase, and Type 2 deiodinase) (Watanabe et al. 2006, Zimmerman et al. 2004, reviewed in Montie et al. 2008b) to better establish physiological processes within the blubber of odontocetes and the different functions of the blubber layers.

Regarding the findings of Chapter 3 of this study, more information is needed on AHR agonists within the blubber of Hawaiian odontocetes. The significant correlations between \sum PCBs and CYP1A1 expression found in false killer whales, yet not TEQ and CYP1A1 expression, was most likely a result of only a few measured AHR agonists in the study (PCB 105, 118, and 156) with generally low TEFs. Non-*ortho* PCBs and PAHs, both AHR agonists, were not measured in this study. Therefore, a significant correlation between \sum PCBs and CYP1A1 expression may indicate that individuals (with higher contaminant burdens overall) are potentially exposed to greater concentrations of AHR

agonists that were not measured in this study. Although it appears CYP1A1 is a biomarker of contaminant exposure for Hawaiian odontocetes based on the significant relationship between ∑PCBs and CYP1A1 expression, a significant relationship with TEQ (including more AHR agonists measured) would provide further evidence supporting use of this biomarker. Future studies should assess a variety of non-*ortho* and mono-*ortho* PCBs, while examining differences in the strength of relationships between these contaminant classes and expression. It is important to keep in mind that CYP1A1 induction may also be a result of PAH exposure, which is most likely increasing on the Hawaiian islands because of increased anthropogenic activity (combustion of fossil fuels) and volcanic emissions into the atmosphere (Harvey 1991, Grimmer 1983, U.S. Census Bureau).

Although the analysis of CYP1A1 expression by false killer whale social cluster did not provide significant results in this study, future research should continue to assess differences. Cluster 3, on average, displayed higher CYP1A1 expression and contaminant levels (Chapter 3). Cluster 3 false killer whales also are found at high density in north and northwest Moloka'i (Baird et al. 2012), a region known to have a high percentage of apex predators (Coles et al. 2008) that would contribute to higher contaminant exposure because of biomagnification. We feel that analysis of contaminant levels and CYP1A1 expression by social cluster with greater sample size remains a vital priority for future research.

Also in Chapter 3 of this thesis, false killer whales had significantly higher CYP1A1 expression compared to melon-headed whales. False killer whales, known to eat large pelagic fish (Baird et al. 2008, Chivers et al. 2007), would be expected to have

high levels of expression relative to species such as melon-headed whales that are known to eat smaller deep-water fish and squid (K. West, pers. comm). Future studies on trophic ecology are vital for research on Hawaiian odontocetes, as relatively little is known except for observations of foraging in the field and stranded animal stomach contents.

Lastly, there appeared to be geographic and trophic patterns of CYP1A1 expression in this study. In Chapter 2, striped dolphins had significantly lower CYP1A1 expression compared to other species analyzed with n > 5. Striped dolphins are found primarily in deep, offshore waters of Hawai'i (R.W. Baird, pers. comm.) Therefore, striped dolphins may not be exposed to the same particular contaminants as species that are known to live in shallower, near-shore environments (e.g. bottlenose dolphins) (Martien et al. 2011). Godard-Codding et al. (2011) found that sperm whales from regions farthest from continents had lower CYP1A1 expression levels. Future studies should continue to monitor this trend to see if geographic distribution to continents or islands influences CYP1A1 expression levels. Studies on different populations of an individual species (for example, melon-headed whales that reside mostly northwest of Hawai'i vs. those that travel and reside throughout the main Hawaiian Islands, Aschettino et al. 2012) would be useful to examine this hypothesis.

The present study recognizes the challenges that exist with unequal group sizes and making inferences across a wide variety of different species. However, the individual data provided for this diverse assemblage of species in Hawai'i is very remarkable in respect to the fact that the animals included in this study have very large ranges across the main Hawaiian islands (and for some species, the central tropical Pacific), in which resightings is often a difficult task for free-ranging animals and opportunity to necropsy

can be variable based on access ability, decompositon, etc. The ongoing nature of these studies is truly like no other in the world, and future analysis of CYP1A1 will be valuable to monitor the long-term effects of contaminants to Hawaiian odontocetes. CYP1A1 will be important to continue to assess in the future, as contaminants are known to travel to distant regions of the world and bioaccumulate in tissues throughout time.

Although the current study brought forth many new questions for future research, the results are a great stepping stone for future analysis of contaminant threats to Hawaiian odontocetes. With the ongoing nature of research conducted by Cascadia Research Collective and the Hawai'i Pacific University Stranding Response Team, much more can be learned regarding CYP1A1 expression and its relation to health and disease in free-ranging and stranded animals.

Works Cited

- Aschettino JM, Baird RW, McSweeney DJ, Webster DL, Schorr GS, Huggins JL, Martien KK, Mahaffy SD, West KL. 2011. Population structure of melon-headed whales (*Peponocephala electra*) in the Hawaiian Archipelago: evidence of multiple populations based on photo-identification. Mar Mammal Sci 28(4):666-689.
- Baird RW. 2009. A review of false killer whales in Hawaiian waters: biology, status, and risk factors. Report prepared for the U.S. Marine Mammal Commission under Order No. E40475499.
- Baird RW, Gorgone AM, McSweeney DJ, Webster DL, Salden DR, Deakos MH, Ligon AD, Schorr GS, Barlow J, Mahaffy SD. 2008. False killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*) around the main Hawaiian Islands: long-term site fidelity, inter-island movements, and association patterns. Mar Mammal Sci 24:591–612.
- Baird RW, Hanson MB, Schorr GS, Webster DL, McSweeney DJ, Gorgone AM, Mahaffy SD, Holzer D, Oleson EM, Andrews RD. 2012. Range and primary habitats of the Hawaiian insular false killer whales: an assessment to inform determination of "critical habitat." Endang Species Res 18:47-61.
- Baird RW, Webster DL, McSweeney DJ, Ligon AD, Schorr GS, Barlow J. 2006. Diving behaviour of Cuvier's (*Ziphius cavirostris*) and Blainville's (*Mesoplodon densirostris*) beaked whales in Hawai'i. Can J Zoolog 84:1120–1128.
- Benoit-Bird KJ, Au WWL. 2003. Prey dynamics affect foraging by a pelagic predator (*Stenella longirostris*) over a range of spatial and temporal scales. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 53:364–373.
- Chivers SJ, Baird RW, McSweeney DJ, Webster DL, Hedrick NM, Salinas JC. 2007. Genetic variation and evidence for population structure in eastern North Pacific false killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*). Can J Zoolog 85:783–794.
- Clarke M, Young R. 1998. Description and analysis of cephalopod beaks from stomachs of six species of odontocete cetaceans stranded on Hawaiian shores. J Mar Biol Assoc 78:623-641.
- Coles SL, Giuseffi L, Hutchinson M. 2008. Assessment of species composition, diversity and biomass in marine habitats and subhabitats around offshore islets in the main Hawaiian Islands. Final Report prepared for the Hawai'i Coral Reef Initiative and the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation. Bishop Museum Technical Report 39:1-72.
- Dunkin RC. McLellan WA, Blum JE, Pabst D. 2005. The ontogenetic changes in the thermal properties of blubber from Atlantic bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Exp Biol 208:1469-1480.

- Godard-Codding CA, Clark R, Fossi MC, Marsili L, Maltese S, West AG, Valenzuela L, Rowntree V, Polyak I, Cannon JC, Pinkerton K, Rubio-Cisneros N, Mesnick SL, Cox SB, Kerr I, Payne R, Stegeman JJ. 2011. Pacific Ocean-wide profile of CYP1A1 expression, stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios, and organic contaminant burden in sperm whale skin biopsies. Environ Health Perspect 119(3):337-343.
- Grimmer G. 1983. Environmental carcinogens: polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press.
- Harvey RG. 1991. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: chemistry and carcinogenicity. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. p 1365–1373.
- Indian River Lagoon National Estuary Program. Indian River Lagoon: An Introduction to a Natural Treasure [Internet]. [cited 2012 Apr 4]. Available from: <u>http://www.sjrwmd.com/itsyourlagoon/pdfs/IRL_Natural_Treasure_book.pdf</u>
- Koopman HN, Iverson S, Gaskin D. 1996. Stratification and age-related differences in blubber fatty acids of the male harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*). J Comp Physiol B 135:628-639.
- Martien KK, Baird RW, Hedrick NM, Gorgone AM, Thieleking JL, McSweeney DJ, Robertson KM, Webster DL. 2011. Population structure of island-associated dolphins: evidence from mitochondrial and microsatellite markers for common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) around the main Hawaiian Islands. Mar Mammal Sci 28(3):E208-E232.
- McLellan WA, Koopman HN, Romme SA, Read AJ, Potter CW, Nicolas JR, Westgate AJ, Pabst DA. 2002. Ontogenetic allometry and body composition of harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*, L.) from the western N. Atlantic. J Zool 257:457-471.
- McSweeney DJ, Baird RW, Mahaffy SD. 2007. Site fidelity, associations and movements of Cuvier's (*Ziphius cavirostris*) and Blainville's (*Mesoplodon densirostris*) beaked whales off the island of Hawai'i . Mar Mammal Sci 23:666–687.
- Montie EW, Fair PA, Bossart GD, Mitchum GB, Houde M, Muir DCG, Letcher RJ, McFee WE, Starczak VR, Stegeman JJ, Hahn ME. 2008a. Cytochrome P4501A1 expression, polychlorinated biphenyls and hydroxylated metabolites, and adipocyte size of bottlenose dolphins from the southeast United States. Aquat Toxicol 86:397-412.
- Montie EW, Garvin SR, Fair PA, Bossart GD, Mitchum GB, McFee WE, Speakman T, Starczak VR and Hahn ME. 2008b. Blubber morphology in wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from the southeastern United States: influence of geographic location, age class, and reproductive state. J Morphol 269:496-511.
- NOAA. 2007. Honolulu, HI: National Weather Service Forecast [Internet]. [updated 2007 Jan 9; cited 2010 Dec 10]. Available from: <u>http://www.prh.noaa.gov/hnl/pages/climate_summary.php</u>

- Norris KS, Würsig BW, Wells RS, Würsig M, Brownlee SM, Johnson CM, Solow J. 1994. The Hawaiian spinner dolphin. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Shomura RS, Hida TS. 1965. Stomach contents of a dolphin caught in Hawaiian waters. J. Mammal 48:500–501.
- South Carolina Ports. Harbor Deepening [Internet]. [cited 4 Apr 2012]. Available from: http://www.port-of-charleston.com/Cargo/ReadytoGrow/harbordeepening.asp
- Struntz DJ, McLellan WA, Dillaman RM, Blum Je, Kucklick JR, Pabst DA. 2004. Blubber development in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Exp Biol 208:1469-1480.
- Todd S, Ostrom P, Lien J, and Abrajano J. 1997. Use of biopsy samples of humpback whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) skin for stable isotope (δ^{13} C) determination. J Northwest Atl Fish Sci 22:71–76.
- U.S. Census Bureau. Hawai'i Population [Internet]. [updated 2012 Jul 10; cited 2012 Jul 17]. Available from: <u>http://www.google.com/publicdata/explore?ds=kf7tgg1uo9ude_&met_y=population&i</u> <u>dim=state:15000&dl=en&hl=en&q=Hawai'i +population</u>.
- Watanabe M, Houten SM, Mataki C, Christoffolete MA, Kim BW, Sato H, Messaddeq N, Harney JW, Ezaki O, Tatsuhiko K, Schoonjans K, Bianco AC, Auwerx J. 2006. Bile acids induce energy expenditure by promoting intracellular thyroid hormone activation. Nature 439:484-489.
- Zimmermann R, Strauss JG, Haemmerle G, Schoiswohl G, Birner-Gruenberger R, Riederer M, Lass A, Neuberger G, Eisenhaber F, Hermetter A, Zechner R. 2004. Fat mobilization in adipose tissue is promoted by adipose triglyceride lipase. Science 306:1383–1386.